
 

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 
Order Instituting Rulemaking to Develop an 
Electricity Integrated Resource Planning 
Framework and to Coordinate and Refine Long-
Term Procurement Planning Requirements. 

 
Rulemaking 16-02-007  

(Filed February 11, 2016) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

COMMENTS OF MARIN CLEAN ENERGY, SONOMA CLEAN POWER AUTHORITY, 
AND CITY OF LANCASTER REGARDING PRELIMINARY SCOPING MEMO  

CONTAINED WITHIN THE ORDER INSTITUTING RULEMAKING 
 
 

 
 
March 21, 2016

 
Ty Tosdal 
Of Counsel 
BRAUN BLAISING MCLAUGHLIN & 
SMITH, P.C. 
915 L Street, Suite 1480 
Sacramento, California 95814 
Telephone: (858) 704-4711 
E-mail: ty@tosdallaw.com 
 
Counsel for the City of Lancaster 
 
 
Steven S. Shupe 
General Counsel 
Sonoma Clean Power Authority 
50 Santa Rosa Avenue, 5th Floor 
Santa Rosa, California 95404 
Telephone: (707) 890-8485  
E-mail: sshupe@SonomaCleanPower.org 
 

 
Jeremy Waen 
Senior Regulatory Analyst 
Marin Clean Energy 
1125 Tamalpais Avenue 
San Rafael, CA 94901 
Telephone: (415) 464-6027 
Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 
E-Mail: jwaen@mceCleanEnergy.org 
 



 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................................. 1 

II. BACKGROUND ..................................................................................................................... 2 

III. CCA PROGRAM PROCUREMENT AUTONOMY AND JURISDICTIONAL 
AUTHORITY MUST BE PRESERVED AS A MATTER OF LAW .......................... 3 

A. SB 350’S REQUIREMENTS FOR CCA PROGRAMS SHOULD NOT BE CONFUSED WITH 
REQUIREMENTS FOR ELECTRICAL CORPORATIONS ......................................................... 4 

B. CCA PROGRAM IRPS SHOULD BE CONSIDERED COMPREHENSIVELY FOR OTHER 
PURPOSES BEYOND INTEGRATED RESOURCE PLANNING ................................................. 5 

IV. OUTSTANDING MATTERS THAT SHOULD BE ADDRESSED .................................. 6 

A. IOU FORECASTS OF CCA LOAD DEPARTURES AFFECT STRANDED COST RECOVERY 
AND MUST BE EXAMINED .................................................................................................. 6 

B. CCA PROGRAMS SHOULD BE ALLOWED TO “SELF-PROVIDE” RESOURCES TO MEET 
RELIABILITY NEEDS ........................................................................................................... 7 

V. CATEGORIZATION ............................................................................................................ 7 

VI. NEED FOR HEARINGS ....................................................................................................... 7 

VII. CONCLUSION ................................................................................................................. 8 

 
 



1 
Comments of CCA Parties on the Preliminary Scope of the OIR 

 

 
BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
 

 
Order Instituting Rulemaking to Develop an 
Electricity Integrated Resource Planning 
Framework and to Coordinate and Refine Long-
Term Procurement Planning Requirements. 

 
Rulemaking 16-02-007  

(Filed February 11, 2016) 
 

 
 

COMMENTS OF MARIN CLEAN ENERGY, SONOMA CLEAN POWER AUTHORITY, 
AND CITY OF LANCASTER REGARDING PRELIMINARY SCOPING MEMO  

CONTAINED WITHIN THE ORDER INSTITUTING RULEMAKING 
 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Marin Clean Energy (“MCE”), the Sonoma Clean Power Authority (“SCP”) and the City 

of Lancaster (“Lancaster”) submit these joint comments regarding the Order Instituting 

Rulemaking to Develop an Electricity Integrated Resource Planning Framework and to 

Coordinate and Refine Long-Term Procurement Planning Requirements.1 As respondents to this 

proceeding, MCE, SCP and Lancaster, which operate Community Choice Aggregation (“CCA”) 

programs, take a strong interest in the implementation of Senate Bill (“SB”) 350, particularly as 

it relates to the autonomy of CCA programs to develop Integrated Resource Plans (“IRPs”) and 

procure resources under their own governance arrangements. In addition, MCE, SCP and 

Lancaster (collectively “CCA Parties”) request that the Public Utilities Commission 

(“Commission”) take up related issues that were unresolved in the predecessor to this 

proceeding. Those issues include forecasting CCA load departures and self-provision of 

resources to meet reliability requirements. 

                                                 
1 Rulemaking (“R.”) 16-02-007. 



2 
Comments of CCA Parties on the Preliminary Scope of the OIR 

 

II. BACKGROUND 

MCE is the first operational CCA program in California and began serving its customers 

in May 2010. MCE currently serves over 171,000 customers in Marin County, unincorporated 

Napa County, and the cities of Richmond, El Cerrito, San Pablo, and Benicia. MCE’s operations 

are overseen by a Joint Powers Authority with its Board of Directors comprised of publicly 

elected offices representing each of the communities participating in the program. As a Load-

Serving Entity (“LSE”), MCE is among the named respondents within the OIR. 

SCP is the second operational CCA program in California, and currently serves about 

198,000 accounts serving a population of approximately 450,000, which includes all of Sonoma 

County except for the City of Healdsburg, which has its own municipal utility. SCP operates 

under a Joint Powers Agreement and is governed by a nine-member Board of Director 

comprised of appointees from the participating cities and the County of Sonoma. Like MCE, 

SCP was named as a respondent in the OIR.  

Lancaster is a community of approximately 160,000 residents located in northern Los 

Angeles County, in the High Desert region of the western Mojave Desert, which is rich in solar 

resources. Lancaster is pursuing alternative energy solutions, principally solar energy, in hopes 

of bettering the current and future environmental and economic conditions of its community and 

region. As a means of advancing these goals, the Lancaster City Council has approved 

Lancaster’s CCA program, known as Lancaster Choice Energy (“LCE”), which launched in May 

2015 with partial rollout to municipal accounts and full rollout to residential and commercial 

accounts in October 2015. Lancaster now serves approximately 55,000 customers. Like MCE, 

Lancaster is an LSE and a named respondent in the OIR. 



3 
Comments of CCA Parties on the Preliminary Scope of the OIR 

 

III. CCA PROGRAM PROCUREMENT AUTONOMY AND JURISDICTIONAL 
AUTHORITY MUST BE PRESERVED AS A MATTER OF LAW 

The CCA Parties are deeply committed to expanding the use of renewable resources and 

support SB 350 to the extent that it advances that goal. The CCA Parties have had considerable 

success in this endeavor and firmly believe it is due in no small part to the autonomy and local 

control with which they operate. It will come as no surprise that the primary concern of the CCA 

Parties with the implementation of SB 350 is that the Commission does not overstep its limited 

jurisdictional authority over CCAs and undermine the authority of local elected officials to direct 

and oversee CCA programs. 

Pursuant to Public Utilities Code sections 331.1 and 366.2, CCA programs are operated 

first and foremost under the jurisdiction of their governing boards, which are made up of elected 

representatives from participating cities and counties. CCA programs have broad and exclusive 

authority to control procurement for their customers,2 subject to a few exceptions where the 

Legislature has granted the Commission limited jurisdiction over CCA programs, such as the 

renewables portfolio standard, resource adequacy requirements and energy storage mandates. 

While SB 350 requires the Commission to ensure that all LSEs meet renewable integration 

needs, the Commission should not misinterpret this new requirement in a way that erodes CCA 

procurement autonomy. Doing so would risk hampering the continued ability of CCA programs 

to procure more renewable and less greenhouse-gas intensive power portfolios.  

Rather, the Commission should view its role in this matter as defining what the 

renewable integration needs are, and how those needs apply to each LSE, without prescribing 

                                                 
2 “A community choice aggregator shall be solely responsible for all generation procurement 
activities on behalf of the community choice aggregator's customers, except where other 
generation procurement arrangements are expressly authorized by statute.” Pub. Util. Code, § 
366.2(a)(5)(Italics Added). All future references are to the Public Utilities Code. 



4 
Comments of CCA Parties on the Preliminary Scope of the OIR 

 

how each LSE will meet those needs. The question of how renewable integration needs are met 

must be determined by the CCA program governing boards, not the Commission. SB 350 

provides that the Commission must “[p]ermit community choice aggregators to submit proposals 

for satisfying their portion of the renewable integration need …” and approve the proposals, 

provided that basic conditions are met.3 In addition, SB 350 provides that the Commission must 

ensure that “community choice aggregators may self-provide renewable integration resources 

…”4 These legislative directives mark clear boundaries for Commission jurisdiction, and leave 

CCA programs to their own devices to meet integrated resource obligations, as long as basic 

requirements are met. Should self-provision for some reason be insufficient to satisfy the needs 

defined by the Commission, then and only then should the Commission impose resource 

obligations and the costs that follow onto CCA programs, and in that case, the costs should only 

reflect the portion of the need that hasn’t been satisfied through the CCA’s own procurement. 

A. SB 350’S REQUIREMENTS FOR CCA PROGRAMS SHOULD NOT BE CONFUSED 
WITH REQUIREMENTS FOR ELECTRICAL CORPORATIONS 

When reviewing SB 350, the Commission should closely pay attention to which sections 

apply to electrical corporations, a category that includes Investor Owned Utilities (“IOUs”) but 

does not include CCA programs, and which categories apply to CCA programs, either as part of 

a general requirement for all LSEs or a specific requirement for CCA programs. For example, all 

LSEs are required to file an integrated resource plan,5 but an electrical corporation must file a 

plan that includes an “assessment of the price risk associated with the electrical corporation's 

portfolio” and the “upfront standards and criteria by which the acceptability and eligibility for 

                                                 
3 § 454.51(d). 
4 § 454.52 (c).  
5 § 454.52 (a)(1). 



5 
Comments of CCA Parties on the Preliminary Scope of the OIR 

 

rate recovery of a proposed procurement transaction will be known …”6 to name just a few 

requirements. A CCA program, meanwhile, must meet less onerous requirements, and file a plan 

with “[e]conomic, reliability, environmental, security, and other benefits and performance 

characteristics” and a “diversified procurement portfolio consisting of both short-term and long-

term electricity and electricity-related and demand reduction products.”7 

Furthermore, the Commission’s authority over plans filed by electrical corporations is far 

greater than its authority over plans filed by CCA programs, where instead CCA governing 

boards have substantial authority. The Commission must “review and accept, modify, or reject” 

an electrical corporation’s plan.8 By contrast “[t]he plan of a community choice aggregator shall 

be submitted to its governing board for approval and provided to the commission for certification 

…”9 Close scrutiny of SB 350’s language is important to ensure that the Commission does not 

over extend its jurisdiction while implementing the statutory requirements. 

B. CCA PROGRAM IRPS SHOULD BE CONSIDERED COMPREHENSIVELY FOR 
OTHER PURPOSES BEYOND INTEGRATED RESOURCE PLANNING 

CCA programs should be able to employ IRPs to satisfy renewable integration needs, but 

they can and should also be used to inform other Commission decisions related to CCA 

programs. For example, IRPs should be used to inform the Commission when it is authorizing 

reliability needs and imposing related costs under the Cost Allocation Mechanism (“CAM”). 

IRPs should also be used to inform and order adjustments to IOUs’ Bundled Procurement Plans 

(“BPPs”) where appropriate. Expanded use of IRPs will improve the quality of information that 

decision-makers have before them and contribute to more efficient consideration of these issues. 

                                                 
6 § 454.5 (b). 
7 § 454.52(b)(3)(A),(B). 
8 § 454.52(b)(2); § 454.5(c). 
9 § 454.52(b)(3). 



6 
Comments of CCA Parties on the Preliminary Scope of the OIR 

 

IV. OUTSTANDING MATTERS THAT SHOULD BE ADDRESSED 

Presently, there remain outstanding matters from the predecessor to this proceeding, the 

Order Instituting Rulemaking to Integrate and Refine Procurement Policies and Consider Long-

Term Procurement Plans,10 that have not been resolved and ought to be considered within this 

proceeding. These matters include (i) forecasting CCA load departures as it relates to stranded 

cost recovery and (ii) self-provision of resources to meet local reliability needs.  

A. IOU FORECASTS OF CCA LOAD DEPARTURES AFFECT STRANDED COST 
RECOVERY AND MUST BE EXAMINED 

During the last round of BPPs, the Commission required both SCE and PG&E to forecast 

CCA load departures on a 10-year horizon,11 yet there was no procedural consideration given to 

how these forecasts will impact the stranded cost recovery assigned to actual CCA load 

departures on a forward basis. Furthermore, the implementation of the exact forecast 

methodology approved by this Decision remains pending before the Commission with PG&E’s 

Advice Letter 4750-E.12 These shortcomings may result in unjustified and unsubstantiated costs 

being laid at the feet of CCA programs. The lack of guidance has created uncertainty: What 

happens when less load than forecasted departs in a given year? What happens when more load 

than forecasted departs in a given year? The scope of this proceeding should be expanded to 

address actual CCA load departures and provide added certainty about CCA program costs. 

                                                 
10 R.13-12-010. 
11 D.15-10-031. 
12 See PG&E 2015 Advice Filing Index – Electric: https://www.pge.com/nots/rates/tariffs/2015-
e.shtml. 



7 
Comments of CCA Parties on the Preliminary Scope of the OIR 

 

B. CCA PROGRAMS SHOULD BE ALLOWED TO “SELF-PROVIDE” RESOURCES TO 
MEET RELIABILITY NEEDS 

Similar to the way in which SB 350 empowers CCA programs to “self-provide” 

resources to meet their share of renewable integration needs, CCAs should also be able to self-

provide to meet their share of Commission-determined reliability needs. This approach is 

consistent with legislation governing CCA programs, and would allow them to maximize the 

abilitytheir abilities to procure on their own behalf prior to being forced to share capacity and 

associated costs via CAM. 13  The scope of the proceeding should also be expanded to include 

this matter. 

V. CATEGORIZATION 

The CCA parties believe the proceeding is appropriately categorized as “ratesetting” 

since the determinations made here will ultimately impact all LSEs’ rates. 

VI. NEED FOR HEARINGS 

While the CCA Parties anticipate that hearings will be needed to determine the factual 

issues in this proceeding, workshops and other procedures may reduce the need for hearings. 

                                                 
13 § 380(a)(5) states that “[t]he“The commission, in consultation with the Independent System 
Operator, shall establish resource adequacy requirements for all load-serving entities [and] 
maximize the ability of community choice aggregators to determine the generation resources 
used to serve their customers” (ItalicsEmphasis Added.) 



8 
Comments of CCA Parties on the Preliminary Scope of the OIR 

 

VII. CONCLUSION 

The CCA Parties thank Commissioner Liane Randolph, Administrative Law Judge Julie 

Fitch, and Energy Division staff for their attention to the matters discussed above. 

    Respectfully submitted, 

 

 
 
March 21, 2016 

/s/ Ty Tosdal 
 
Ty Tosdal 
Of Counsel 
BRAUN BLAISING MCLAUGHLIN & 
SMITH, P.C. 
915 L Street, Suite 1480 
Sacramento, California 95814 
Telephone: (858) 704-4711 
E-mail: ty@tosdallaw.com 
 
Counsel for the City of Lancaster 

/s/ Jeremy Waen 
 
Jeremy Waen 
Senior Regulatory Analyst 
MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 
1125 Tamalpais Avenue 
San Rafael, CA 94901 
Telephone: (415) 464-6027 
Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 
E-Mail: jwaen@mceCleanEnergy.org 
 

/s/ Steve Shupe 
 
Steven S. Shupe 
General Counsel 
SONOMA CLEAN POWER AUTHORITY 
50 Santa Rosa Avenue, 5th Floor 
Santa Rosa, California 95404 
Telephone: (707) 890-8485 
E-mail: sshupe@SonomaCleanPower.org 



 

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 

In the Matter of the Application of Pacific Gas 
and Electric Company for Approval of its 
Electric Vehicle Infrastructure and Education 
Program 

U 39 E 

A.15-02-009 

(Filed Feb. 9, 2015) 

JOINT MOTION FOR ADOPTION OF SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 

BY PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY (39E), ALLIANCE OF 

AUTOMOBILE MANUFACTURERS, AMERICAN HONDA MOTOR 

CO., INC., CENTER FOR SUSTAINABLE ENERGY, COALITION OF 

CALIFORNIA UTILITY EMPLOYEES, GREENLOTS, THE 

GREENLINING INSTITUTE, MARIN CLEAN ENERGY, NATURAL 

RESOURCES DEFENSE COUNCIL, PLUG IN AMERICA, GENERAL 

MOTORS LLC, SIERRA CLUB, AND SONOMA CLEAN POWER 

AUTHORITY 

 

Christopher J. Warner 

Pacific Gas and Electric Company 

77 Beale Street, Room 3145 

San Francisco, CA  94105 

Telephone:  (415) 973-6695 

Facsimile:  (4150 973-0516 

E-Mail:  CJW5@pge.com 

 

Attorney for 

PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY 

 

Marc D. Joseph 

Jamie L. Mauldin 

Adams Broadwell Joseph & Cardozo 

601 Gateway Blvd., Ste. 1000 

So. San Francisco, CA  94080 

Telephone: (650) 589-1660 

E-Mail:  JMauldin@AdamsBroadwell.com 

 

Attorneys for the  

COALITION OF CALIFORNIA UTILITY 

EMPLOYEES 

 

Joel Espino 

The Greenlining Institute  

1918 University Avenue, 2
nd

 Floor 

Berkeley, CA  94704 

Telephone: (510) 898-2065 

E-Mail:  joele@greenlining.org 

 

Representative for  

THE GREENLINING INSTITUTE 

 

Max Baumhefner 

Natural Resources Defense Council 

111 Sutter St., 21st Floor 

San Francisco, CA  91404 

Telephone: (415) 875-6100 

Email:mbaumhefner@nrdc.org 

 

Attorney for 

NATURAL RESOURCES DEFENSE 

COUNCIL 

  

mailto:CJW5@pge.com
mailto:JMauldin@AdamsBroadwell.com
mailto:joele@greenlining.org


 

Alexander Keros 

James Hall 

General Motors LLC 

3050 Lomita Blvd. 

Torrance, CA  90505 

Telephone:  (310) 257-3756 

E-Mail:  alexander.keros@gm.com 

E-Mail:  Jamie.hall@gm.com 

 

Representative for 

GENERAL MOTORS LLC 

 

Joseph Halso 

Associate Attorney 

Sierra Club 

50 F. Street, N.W., 8
th

 Floor 

Washington, D.C. 20001 

Telephone:  (202) 650-6080 

E-Mail:  joe.halso@sierraclub.org 

 

Representative for  

SIERRA CLUB 

 

Ryan Harty 

Environmental Business Development Off. 

American Honda Motor Co., Inc. 

1919 Torrance Blvd. 

Torrance, CA  90501 

Telephone:  (310) 781-4865 

E-Mail:  ryan_harty@ahm.honda.com 

 

Representative for 

AMERICAN HONDA MOTOR CO., INC. 

 

 

Steven Douglas 

Senior Director, Environmental Affairs 

Alliance of Automobile Manufacturers 

1415 L Street, Suite 1190 

Sacramento, CA  95814 

Telephone:  (916) 538-1197 

E-Mail:  sdouglas@autoalliance.org 

 

Representative for 

ALLIANCE OF AUTOMOBILE 

MANUFACTURERS 

  

mailto:alexander.keros@gm.com
mailto:Jamie.hall@gm.com
mailto:joe.halso@sierraclub.org
mailto:ryan_harty@ahm.honda.com
mailto:sdouglas@autoalliance.org


 

 

Thomas Ashley 

Senior Director, Government Affairs  

& Public Policy 

Greenlots 

156 2nd Street, 5
th

 Floor 

San Francisco, CA 94105 

Telephone: (424) 372-2577 

E-mail: tom@greenlots.com 

 

Representative for 

GREENLOTS 

 

 

Sachu Constantine 

Director of Policy 

Center for Sustainable Energy 

426 17
th

 St., Suite 700 

Oakland, CA  94612 

Telephone:  (510) 725-4768 

E-Mail:  Sachu.Constantine@energycenter.org 

 

Representative for 

CENTER FOR SUSTAINABLE ENERGY 

 

Jay Friedland 

Plug In America 

2370 Market Street #419 

San Francisco, CA  94114 

Telephone: (415) 323-3329 

E-Mail:  jay@pluginamerica.org 

 

Representative for 

PLUG IN AMERICA 

 

 

Steve Shupe 

General Counsel 

Sonoma Clean Power Authority 

50 Santa Rosa Avenue, 5
th

 Floor 

Santa Rosa, CA, 95404 

Telephone: (707) 890-8485 

E-mail: sshupe@SonomaCleanPower.org 

 

Attorney for 

SONOMA CLEAN POWER AUTHORITY 

 

 

 

 

Jeremy Waen 

Senior Regulatory Analyst 

Marin Clean Energy 

1125 Tamalpais Avenue 

San Rafael, CA 94901 

Telephone: (415) 464-6027 

E-mail: jwaen@mcecleanenergy.org 

 

Representative of 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 

 

 

 

mailto:tom@greenlots.com
mailto:Sachu.Constantine@energycenter.org
mailto:jay@pluginamerica.org
mailto:sshupe@SonomaCleanPower.org
mailto:jwaen@mcecleanenergy.org


TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

Page 

 

 - i -  

I. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND ...................................................................... 1 

A. Summary of Settlement.......................................................................................... 1 

B. Procedural History and Positions of Settling Parties ............................................. 9 

II. SECTION-BY-SECTION SUMMARY OF SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT ............... 12 

III. COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT STATUTORY STANDARD OF 

REVIEW AND THE COMMISSION’S POLICY CRITERIA....................................... 18 

IV. THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT IS REASONABLE IN LIGHT OF THE 

WHOLE RECORD, CONSISTENT WITH LAW, AND IN THE PUBLIC 

INTEREST ....................................................................................................................... 24 

A. The Settlement is Reasonable In Light of the Whole Record .............................. 24 

B. The Settlement Agreement is Consistent with Law and in the Public 

Interest.................................................................................................................. 25 

V. REQUESTED FINDINGS AND RELIEF ...................................................................... 26 

VI. CONCLUSION ................................................................................................................ 26 



 

1 

 

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

In the Matter of the Application of Pacific Gas 
and Electric Company for Approval of its 
Electric Vehicle Infrastructure and Education 
Program 

U 39 E 

A.15-02-009 

(Filed Feb. 9, 2015) 

JOINT MOTION FOR ADOPTION OF SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 

BY PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY (39E), ALLIANCE OF 

AUTOMOBILE MANUFACTURERS, AMERICAN HONDA MOTOR 

CO., INC., CENTER FOR SUSTAINABLE ENERGY, COALITION OF 

CALIFORNIA UTILITY EMPLOYEES, GREENLOTS, THE 

GREENLINING INSTITUTE, MARIN CLEAN ENERGY, NATURAL 

RESOURCES DEFENSE COUNCIL, PLUG IN AMERICA, GENERAL 

MOTORS LLC, SIERRA CLUB, AND SONOMA CLEAN POWER 

AUTHORITY 

I. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

A. Summary of Settlement 

Pursuant to Article 12 and Rule 1.8 (d) of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and 

Procedure, Pacific Gas and Electric Company (“PG&E”), Alliance of Automobile 

Manufacturers, American Honda Motor Co., Inc., Center for Sustainable Energy, Coalition of 

California Utility Employees (“CCUE”), Greenlots, The Greenlining Institute (“Greenlining”), 

Marin Clean Energy, Natural Resources Defense Council (“NRDC”), Plug In America, General 

Motors LLC, Sierra Club, and Sonoma Clean Power Authority, (collectively, the “Settling 

Parties”) hereby move the Commission to adopt the “Charge Smart and Save” Settlement 

Agreement Regarding Pacific Gas and Electric Company’s Electric Vehicle Infrastructure and 

Education Program Application, A.15-02-009 (“Settlement Agreement”), which is appended to 

this Joint Motion as Attachment 1.  The Settling Parties also move to suspend the current 

procedural schedule pending Commission review and decision on the merits of the Settlement 

Agreement in accordance with Commission Rule 12.  PG&E has been authorized by the other 

Settling Parties to file and serve this Joint Motion on their behalf. 



 

2 

 

The Settlement Agreement, if approved by the Commission, would resolve issues raised 

in PG&E application (A.15-02-009) consistent with the standard of review established by Public 

Utilities Code 740.8 and the Commission’s guidance and compliance requirements in this 

proceeding and in Commission Decision Nos. (D.) 14-12-079 and 16-01-045.  In addition, the 

Settlement Agreement furthers the objectives of  (a) Public Utilities Code 701.1 which 

establishes that, “in addition to other ratepayer protection objectives,” a “principal goal” of 

electric utility “investment shall be…to improve the environment and to encourage the diversity 

of energy resources through improvements in energy efficiency, development of renewable 

energy resources, and widespread transportation electrification,” (b) the Charge Ahead California 

Initiative (Senate Bill 1275, De León), and (c) Governor Brown’s Executive Order B-16-2012 

and ZEV Action Plan.
1/

 

The Settlement Agreement significantly modifies PG&E’s “Electric Vehicle 

Infrastructure and Education Program” proposal, submitted for Commission consideration in 

Application A.15-02-009 and supporting testimony dated February 9, 2015 (the “Application”), 

Supplemental Testimony dated October 12, 2015 (“Supplemental Testimony”), and Rebuttal 

Testimony dated December 21, 2015 (“Rebuttal Testimony”), to create the “Charge Smart and 

Save” program. 

The Settling Parties agree that the cost of the Charge Smart and Save program should be 

reduced by 28 percent from PG&E’s $222 million “Enhanced Proposal,” to a cost cap of no 

more than $160 million with a target of 7,500 Level 2 charging ports and a target of 100 DC Fast 

Chargers.  PG&E will seek to achieve these cost-effective deployment goals by offering site-

appropriate additional technologies, such as dual-port Level 2 charging stations, and seeking cost 

reductions through the procurement, site selection, and implementation process.  Any cost 

savings on site-specific deployment costs will be used for additional deployment not to exceed 

the cost cap.  Based on PG&E’s current electric revenue requirements, the Settling Parties agree 

                                                 
1/ https://www.opr.ca.gov/docs/Governor's_Office_ZEV_Action_Plan_(02-13).pdf. 

https://www.opr.ca.gov/docs/Governor's_Office_ZEV_Action_Plan_(02-13).pdf


 

3 

 

that the maximum estimated cost of the program to the typical residential ratepayer of PG&E 

using 500 kilowatt hours per month in PG&E’s service territory would be approximately $2.64 

annually, four percent less than the $2.75 per year typical residential customer cost with full 

rollout of the program approved as reasonable by the Commission in for SDG&E in Decision 

No. (D.) 16-01-045.  Those cost estimates do not account for the downward pressure on rates 

that would result from widespread EV charging that takes advantage of spare capacity in the 

generation, transmission, and distribution system. 

PG&E would own the charging stations on the same terms and conditions as the 

Commission approved for San Diego Gas & Electric (SDG&E) in D.16-01-045.  The duration of 

Charge Smart and Save will be three years from the beginning of construction.  The Settling 

Parties appreciate the policy guidance and criteria provided by the Commission and the settling 

parties in the SDG&E and Southern California Edison (SCE) electric vehicle proceedings.  

Consistent with the Commission’s findings in D. 16-01-045, the Charge Smart and Save program 

proposed by the Settling Parties is in the interest of ratepayers, as defined by Public Utilities 

Code Section 740.8 because it will provide, under §740.8(a):
2/

 

1. Safer electrical service because “all of the construction and installation of the EV 

charging infrastructure will be performed safely, and to code, by licensed electrical 

contractors with EV infrastructure training certification;”
 3/

 

2. More reliable electrical service by using time-of-use price signals and other load 

management strategies that shift EV load to hours of the day when there is spare 

capacity in the grid; 

3. More reliable electrical service by leveraging PG&E’s Distributed Resource Plan 

Integration Capacity Analysis to improve site selection; 

                                                 
2/ Note: while Charge Smart and Save is designed to provide all of these enumerated benefits, 

§740.8(a) only requires a showing of one of these benefits. 

3/ D.16-01-045, p. 114. 



 

4 

 

4. Less costly electrical service due to improved integration of renewable generation 

that will result from using time-of-use rates as a foundation for load management 

upon which more sophisticated forms of load will be evaluated to identify an 

“Advanced EV Grid Support” program to be deployed in Phase 2; 

5. Less costly electrical service due to the improved use of the electric system that will 

result from time-of-use price signals and other load management strategies that shift 

EV load to hours of the day when there is spare capacity in the grid; and 

6. Less costly electrical service due to the improved use of the electric system that will 

result from leveraging PG&E’s Distributed Resource Plan Integration Capacity 

Analysis to improve site selection.  

Likewise, consistent with D.16-01-045, Charge Smart and Save will, under 740.8(b):
4/

 

1. Promote the accelerated adoption of EVs which will promote the efficiency of travel;  

2. Reduce the health and environmental impacts from air pollution because vehicle 

electrification results in “over 85 percent fewer ozone-forming air pollutants 

emitted;”
5/

  

3. For every mile driven on electricity in a typical EV, reduce emissions of greenhouse 

gases by a factor of four relative to the average new conventional vehicle in PG&E 

service territory;
6/

  

4. Deploy EV charging stations that will increase the use of an alternative fuel; and  

5. Create high-quality jobs or other economic benefits, including in disadvantaged 

communities, by using union labor and deploying in disadvantaged communities. 

The Settling Parties also agree that the Charge Smart and Save Program addresses the key 

reasonableness criteria adopted for SDG&E’s Vehicle Grid Integration (VGI) program approved 

                                                 
4/ Note: while Charge Smart and Save is designed to provide all of these enumerated benefits, 

§740.8(b) only requires a showing of any one of these benefits. 

5/ PU Code § 740.12(a)(1)(I). 

6/https://www.fueleconomy.gov/feg/Find.do?zipCode=94102&year=2016&vehicleId=37066&action=bt3 

https://www.fueleconomy.gov/feg/Find.do?zipCode=94102&year=2016&vehicleId=37066&action=bt3


 

5 

 

in D. 16-01-045.  In particular, the Commission applied four criteria in D.16-01-045 to evaluate 

the reasonableness of SDG&E’s settlement under the balancing test of D.14-12-079,
7/

 which the 

Settling Parties have addressed in this Settlement Agreement: 

1. Site host ability to choose among pre-qualified EV equipment and services; 

2. Pricing flexibility and the ability of site hosts to choose a “rate-to-host” option; 

3. Requiring participation payments by site hosts; and 

4. An average bill impact on non-participating customers not to exceed $2.75 annually. 

In addition to incorporating these common programmatic elements, the Settling Parties 

agree that Charge Smart and Save includes substantial improvements and will test certain 

alternatives to the SDG&E approved VGI program and the SCE approved Charge Ready pilot, in 

order to provide additional benefits and useful information consistent with the Commission’s EV 

policies and standards as adopted in D.16-01-045 and D.14-12-079. For example, relative to 

SDG&E’s VGI Pilot and SCE’s Charge Ready pilot, PG&E’s Charge Smart and Save will: 

 Test the use of time-of-use price signals seen by EV drivers as an alternative to hourly 

dynamic pricing as a simpler means of providing foundational load management, upon 

which more sophisticated forms of load management will be evaluated during Phase 1 to 

identify an “Advanced EV Grid Support” program potentially to be deployed in Phase 2. 

 Deploy DC Fast Charging stations, which are needed to accelerate the market, especially 

for pure battery electric vehicles, and test the use of DC Fast Charging as a means to 

increase access to the use of electricity as a transportation fuel. 

 Increase the targeted share for charging station deployment in Disadvantaged 

Communities by 50 percent relative to the SDG&E and SCE programs, with a stretch 

goal of doubling the target in disadvantaged and low-income communities relative to the 

SDG&E or SCE programs. 

                                                 
7/ D.16-01-045, pp. 103- 111. 



 

6 

 

 Set aside an additional $5 million to fund complementary and innovative programs to 

further the goals of the Charge Ahead California Initiative (SB 1275) and increase access 

to clean transportation in Disadvantaged Communities. 

 Explore how collaboration with Community Choice Aggregators (CCAs) will further 

enhance both the deployment rate of EV equipment and services, and the usage rate of 

electricity as a transportation fuel. 

Table 1, below, summarizes and compares the major provisions of Charge Smart and Save with 

PG&E’s prior proposals in this proceeding. 

TABLE 1 –  
COMPARISON BETWEEN CHARGE SMART AND SAVE AND PRIOR PG&E 

PROPOSALS 

 PG&E Original 

Proposal,  

February 9, 2015 

PG&E Supplemental 

Testimony, 

Enhanced Proposal, 

October 12, 2015 

Charge Smart and 

Save Settlement 

Agreement,  

March 21, 2016 

Guiding Principles 

 

General General  13 Guiding Principles 

added from D. 16-01-

045  

Size 25,000 L2, 100 DCFC 7,430 L2, 100 DCFC 7,500 L2 ports, 100 

DCFC 

Cost 

 

$654 million $222 million $160 million (4% 

lower average annual 

rate impact than 

approved in D. 16-01-

045) 

Duration 7 years 3 years after initial 

construction 

3 years after initial 

construction 

Segment Targets None None 20% minimum at 

MUDs; 50% MUD 

stretch goal 

Renewables 

Integration, Load 

Management, and 

Integration with 

Distributed Energy 

Resources 

TOU rates TOU rates TOU rates; site host 

load management 

plans; site selection 

informed by 

Distributed Resource 

Plan Integration 

Capacity Analysis; 



 

7 

 

and commitment to 

evaluate more 

sophisticated forms of 

load management 

during Phase 1, such 

the Electric Power 

Research Institute’s 

“Open Vehicle Grid 

Integration Platform” 

and the PG&E/BMW 

“iChargeForward” 

pilot, to identify an 

“Advanced EV Grid 

Support” program to 

be deployed in Phase 

2. 

Site Host Flexibility 

in Rate Plans  

 

 

 

 

No No Yes, site host 

flexibility to choose 

“Rate to Host” or 

“Rate to Driver” 

options, consistent 

with D.16-01-045 

 

Site Host 

Participation 

Payments 

 

No 

 

No 

 

Yes, 10% of EVSE 

cost for MUDs; 20% 

of EVSE cost for 

private entities; 

waived for 

disadvantaged 

communities, school 

districts, public 

agencies, non-profit 

agencies 

Site Host Choice of 

Charging 

Technology 

No No Yes, consistent with 

D.16-01-045 

Improving Cost 

Effectiveness and 

Efficiency through 

Dual Port EVSE and 

Site Specific DCFC 

Deployment  

No No Yes, use of dual port 

L2 EVSE where 

appropriate and 

varying the number of 

DCFC per site to 

account for likely use 

cases 

Disadvantaged 

Communities 

10%, plus $5 million 

for additional 

10%, budget for 

additional programs in 

15% minimum in 

disadvantaged 



 

8 

 

Deployment and 

Support 

programs in 

disadvantaged 

communities  

disadvantaged 

communities reduced  

to $3.7 million  

communities, plus 

additional 5% stretch 

goal in disadvantaged 

and CARE 

communities, plus $5 

million for additional 

programs in 

disadvantaged 

communities, plus 

vendor and contractor 

diversity provisions, 

plus coordination with 

federal, state and local 

EV programs in 

disadvantaged 

communities 

Customer Education 

and Outreach 

Yes Yes Yes 

Express Competitive 

Procurement 

Criteria 

No No Yes, same as 

SDG&E/D.16-01-045 

Program Advisory 

Council 

No Yes Yes, including 

specific duties and 

responsibilities 

approved in D.16-01-

045 

Coordination and  

Collaboration with 

CCAs 

No No Yes 

Independent Review 

of EVSE 

Procurement 

No No Yes, similar to 

“Procurement Review 

Groups” for utility 

energy procurement, 

non-market 

participants in PAC 

will review EVSE 

procurement  

Data Collection, 

Monitoring and 

Reporting 

Yes Yes Yes, modified to be 

comparable to D.16-

01-045 

Supplier Diversity Not specific Not specific Specific, consistent 

with D.16-01-045 

Safety 

Considerations 

Not specific Not specific Specific, consistent 

with D.16-01-045 



 

9 

 

Phasing None Yes Yes 

These improvements and others made by the Settlement as compared to PG&E’s prior proposals 

further enhance the program for PG&E customers, deliver greater benefits to disadvantaged 

communities, enable coordination and collaboration with CCA service providers, improve safety 

and will promote the innovation and expertise of existing and future EV Service Providers.   

The Settling Parties also agree that Charge Smart and Save incorporates the views of 

stakeholders and supports Governor Brown’s 2020,2025, and 2050 electric vehicle adoption and 

infrastructure goals, as well as California’s broader clean air, equity, and climate change 

objectives.  

The Settling Parties agree that the Settlement Agreement is reasonable in light of the 

whole record, consistent with law, and in the public interest.  The Settling Parties request that the 

Settlement Agreement be approved by the Commission without change. 

B. Procedural History and Positions of Settling Parties 

On February 9, 2015, Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E) filed Application (A.) 

15-02-009, seeking approval of its proposed Electric Vehicle Infrastructure and Education 

Program (EV Program). Parties filed responses and protests on March 11, 12, and 13, 2015. 

On May 5, 2015, the assigned Commissioner held an all-party meeting in this and two 

related proceedings. Motions filed across the proceedings and the merits of consolidating the 

proceedings were discussed at the all-party meeting. On June 12, 2015, the Administrative Law 

Judge (ALJ) held a prehearing conference (PHC) to determine the parties, issues, schedule, and 

other procedural matters.  At the PHC, parties were asked to consider more formally phasing 

PG&E’s proposed EV Program.  By ruling dated June 16, 2015, the ALJ requested comments on 

more formally phasing PG&E’s proposed EV Program. Parties filed comments on July 2 and 3, 

2015 and reply comments on July 10, 2015. 

On September 4, 2015, the Assigned Commissioner and Assigned Administrative Law 

Judges issued a Scoping Memo and Ruling requiring  PG&E to file and serve a supplement to its 

application no later than October 12, 2015 that included: 1) an initial phase of electric charging 

i i i i i 



 

10 

 

station deployment, limited to a maximum of 2,510 charging stations, to be deployed over no 

more than 24 months; 2) a transition plan that provides at least 18 months of data for evaluation 

by the Commission, and that identifies steps to minimize market uncertainty and discontinuity 

during the regulatory review period; and 3) responses to specific questions described in the 

Scoping Memo and Ruling. 

On October 12, 2015, PG&E filed its supplemental testimony and responses to the 

questions in the Scoping Memo and Ruling.  PG&E’s supplemental testimony stated that a Phase 

1 deployment of only 2,510 charging stations over 24 months does not meet the stated program 

objectives or provide sufficient data or learnings to adequately inform a potential Phase 2 

deployment.  PG&E’s supplemental testimony provided a more phased deployment approach to 

its originally proposed program, including both a requested “compliant” proposal and enhanced 

proposal.  PG&E’s compliant proposal would limit Phase 1 to 2,510 charging stations (10 

percent of original proposal), deployed over 24 months from the date of first construction, 

including 18 months of data collection and a comprehensive proposal for transitioning from 

Phase 1 to Phase 2.  PG&E’s compliant proposal would total $70 million in capital costs and $17 

million in expense amounts, with deployment over a 24-month timeframe. PG&E’s enhanced 

proposal would deploy a maximum of 7,530 EV charging stations over no more than 36 months 

from the date of first construction, in order to collect and report 30 full months of information 

from deployed EV stations to better inform PG&E’s Phase 2 EV Program proposal.  The 

enhanced proposal would total $187 million in capital costs and $35 million in expense amounts, 

with deployment over a 36-month timeframe.  

As required by the Scoping Memo Ruling, both PG&E’s compliant and enhanced 

proposals included a “bridge funding” transition mechanism to minimize market uncertainty and 

discontinuity during the Phase 2 Commission review period. In addition, both the compliant and 

enhanced proposals provided for collection of specific data and information during Phase 1 

similar to data collection proposals agreed to by parties in the Southern California Edison 

Company (SCE) and San Diego Gas & Electric Company (SDG&E) settlements, as well as 



 

11 

 

creation of a formal Advisory Committee of stakeholders to advise PG&E on its Phase 1 and 

Phase 2 programs. 

On November 30, 2015, 14 parties filed intervenor testimony in response to PG&E’s 

supplemental testimony, including the following members of the Settling Parties:  American 

Honda Motor Co.; the Coalition of California Utility Employees; General Motors LLC; The 

Greenlining Institute; Marin Clean Energy; Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC); and 

Plug In America.  Of the 14 parties filing intervenor testimony, none expressed support for 

PG&E’s “enhanced” program proposed in its supplemental testimony without change.  NRDC, 

The Greenlining Institute, the Coalition of California Utility Employees, and Plug In America, 

only expressed support for PG&E’s effort to provide the Commission with two options, noting 

that even the “enhanced” proposal would fall short of the infrastructure required to meet 

Governor Brown’s infrastructure deployment goals.
8/

 

On December 21, 2015, PG&E filed rebuttal testimony. 

On January 25 and 28, 2016, the Commission issued decisions approving with 

modifications alternative electric vehicle programs proposed by SCE and SDG&E, respectively 

(D.16-01-023 and D.16-01-045).  Following issuance of both these decisions, the Settling Parties 

and other parties engaged in intensive settlement discussions, seeking to take into account the 

guidance provided by the Commission in the SDG&E and SCE decisions in order to settle the 

issues in dispute in this proceeding.  Following the settlement discussions, PG&E convened a 

formal settlement conference on March 11, 2016 in accordance with the Commission’s 

settlement rules.  Effective March 21, 2016, the Settling Parties executed the Settlement 

Agreement that is the subject of this Joint Motion.  

                                                 
8/ Testimony of Max Baumhefner on Behalf of the Natural Resources Defense Council, Coalition of 

California Utility Employees, The Greenlining Institute, and Plug In America, November 30, 

2015, p. 20: “By offering both the “Compliant” and “Enhanced” options in its supplemental 

testimony, PG&E has given the Commission the opportunity to consider how it might better 

facilitate progress toward state goals. Unfortunately … even PG&E’s ‘Enhanced Option’ will 

only provide 7,530 charging stations by 2020, far short of a proportional share of what is required 

to meet Executive Order B-16-2012, given the size of PG&E’s service territory.” 



 

12 

 

II. SECTION-BY-SECTION SUMMARY OF SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 

Section 1 – Introduction and Background – Section 1 of the Settlement Agreement 

provides a summary of the background and rationale for the settlement, and the modifications 

and compromises among the parties that are included in the settlement. 

Section 2 – Guiding Principles for Charge Smart and Save – Section 1 of the Settlement 

Agreement adopts the same Guiding Principles to guide implementation of the Charge Smart and 

Save program as provided in the SDG&E settlement in A.14-04-014 and approved by the 

Commission in D.16-01-045. 

Section 3 – Definitions – Section 3 of the Settlement Agreement provides definitions of 

the technical terms and acronyms used in the Settlement Agreement, comparable to those 

applicable to the SDG&E settlement and approved in D.16-01-045. 

Section 4 – Budget and Structure – Section 4 of the Settlement Agreement adopts a 

program cost cap of $160,324,000 ($132,191,000 capital and $28,132,000 expense) for a three 

year program beginning after initial construction with the same ownership structure as adopted in 

D.16-01-045.  PG&E’s proposed revenue requirements for 2017- 2019 will be as described in 

Tables 1 and 2 in Appendix E, including the revenue requirement equivalent of $5 million to 

provide a Disadvantaged Communities vehicle-equity set-aside equivalent to PG&E’s original 

proposed amount of $5 million.  The costs of the Charge Smart and Save Program will be 

recovered in accordance with the cost recovery and rate design proposal in Chapter 7 of PG&E’s 

February 9, 2015, prepared testimony.  The Program will extend for a three year period 

following initial construction of charging stations, and unexpended funds remaining at the end of 

the three year period may continue to be expended to install and operate additional charging 

stations for customers and/or site hosts enrolled as of the end of the three year period. 

Section 5 – Number of Level 2 and DC Fast Charging Stations – Section 5 provides that 

the Charge Smart and Save Program will aim to achieve a non-binding goal of installing 7,500 

Level 2 EV charging ports and 100 DC Fast Chargers (DCFC).  PG&E will commit to 20 percent 

of deployment sites serving MUDs, with a non-binding target of 50 percent for MUDs. 



 

13 

 

Section 6 – Fuel Savings, Load Management and Renewables Integration – Section 6 

intends that the Charge Smart and Save program will allow EV drivers to realize the potential 

fuel cost savings of electric vehicles, and that Charge Smart and Save will support load 

management and renewables integration objectives.  It provides for a “TOU Rate-to-Driver” 

option, under which EV drivers will pay CPUC-approved TOU rates that encourage charging 

when there is spare capacity in the grid and provide the opportunity to realize fuel savings 

relative to gasoline.  Consistent with D.16-01-045, Charge Smart and Save also provides for a 

“TOU-Rate-to-Host” option coupled with site host load management plans consistent with the 

Guiding Principles.  Charge Smart and Save also specifies that PG&E will aim to leverage 

existing or planned load management pilots and programs, such as the Electric Power Research 

Institute’s “Open Vehicle Grid Integration Platform” and the PG&E/BMW “iChargeForward” 

pilot to facilitate the integration of variable renewables and supporting the electric distribution 

system.  PG&E agrees to create or have identified and adopted an “Advanced EV Grid Support” 

program, at the end of Phase 1, to be deployed in Phase 2.  

Section 7 – Site Selection Criteria to Support Distributed Energy Resources – Section 7 

provides that, consistent with the guidelines in D.16-01-045, PG&E in its site selection criteria 

will coordinate with and leverage the utility’s Distribution Resources Plan (DRP) and related 

programs, including PG&E’s DRP Integration Capacity Analysis, for integrating distributed 

energy resources onto PG&E’s grid at optimal locations.  Further, PG&E will leverage the 

results of its EPIC 1.22 DC Fast Charging Siting Research, conducted in partnership with 

researchers from UC Davis, to inform site selection of DCFCs.  PG&E also will seek to align 

program planning to the extent possible with state and regional transportation planning efforts 

through engagement with parties such as Caltrans, the Metropolitan Transportation Commission, 

and regional Councils of Governments and Air Districts. 

Section 8 – Site Host Participation Payment – Section 8 requires PG&E to assess 

participation payments on EV Facility Site Hosts that elect to participate in Charge Smart and 

Save.  Based on percentage of the cost of the EV Charger, the participation payment will be 10 



 

14 

 

percent for MUDs and 20 percent for private, for-profit entities.  The participation payment will 

be waived for EV Facilities at sites located in Disadvantaged Communities as identified in 

Appendix D and at sites owned or leased by school districts, government agencies or non-profit 

entities.  

Section 9 – Selection and Choice of Level 2 Equipment and Service Providers – Section 

9 provides that Site Hosts may choose Level 2 (L2) EVSE and services from a list of pre-

qualified options that meet the goals of the Charge Smart and Save Program, including providing 

for base charging functionality and load management capability, a positive driver experience, 

and prudent expenditure of ratepayer funds. 

Section 10 – Changes in Site Host – Section 10 provides that, in the event that ownership 

or control of a Site Host changes, the new Site Host shall have the option to select a billing and 

rate plan, consistent with current utility tariff and billing practices. 

Section 11 – Competitive Pre-qualification of Equipment and Service Providers – Section 

11 provides that PG&E will establish an annual qualification process in order to foster 

innovation and competition in EV products and services.  PG&E will contract with third parties 

to provide operating systems and related hardware to control EVSE networks to implement the 

PG&E program.  It is PG&E’s aim to specify “what” is required to be achieved per the 

objectives of the Program, and not “how” these requirements are met.  This is intended to 

leverage the EVSP market expertise and foster innovation.  EV charging equipment and service 

providers pre-qualified by PG&E for the Charge Smart and Save Program may offer and contract 

with the EV Site Host or PG&E to provide any additional or complementary services, as long as 

these services do not interfere with the objectives of the Program.  As noted in Appendix C, 

PG&E will encourage discussions during the qualification process that allow equipment and 

service providers to explore with PG&E the funding of innovative opportunities that may exceed 

the minimum implementation requirements of the Charge Smart and Save Program, and have the 

potential to enhance and improve the grid integration and clean energy benefits of the Program 

overall. PG&E’s procurement of EV charging equipment and services will be subject to advisory 



 

15 

 

review by non-market participant members of the Program Advisory Council. 

Section 12 – Cooperation and Coordination Among PG&E, CCAs and Third Party 

Service Providers – Section 12 provides that third party EV charging equipment and service 

providers pre-qualified by PG&E for the Program, in coordination with PG&E customer contact 

personnel and CCAs (where applicable), will have the opportunity to market and sign up 

potential EV Site Hosts to participate in the Charge Smart and Save Program in the targeted 

customer segments, and in any other customer sub-segments identified in the Settlement 

Agreement (e.g., Disadvantaged Communities and housing or sites that support car-sharing 

entities or EV fleets).  This section also provides additional detail regarding how PG&E will 

coordinate and collaborate with CCAs to enhance the program deployment. 

Section 13 – Vendor and Contractor Safety – Section 13 provides that  construction, 

installation and maintenance contractors will have Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Training 

Program (EVITP) certification, and PG&E will require that all construction, installation and 

maintenance of EV Facilities that is not performed by employees of PG&E shall be performed 

by contractors signatory to the IBEW who hold a valid C-10 contractor’s license, as defined in 

the governing labor agreement between PG&E and the IBEW.  

Section 14 – Vendor and Contractor Diversity – Section 14 provides that the Charge 

Smart and Save program will be included within PG&E’s WMDVBE goal.  As such, the Charge 

Smart and Save program and contracts will request a subcontracting plan that meets PG&E’s 

goal of reflecting the diversity of the communities it serves. 

Section 15 – Disadvantaged Communities and Coordination with SB 1275 Goals and 

Programs – Section 15 provides that at least 15 percent of EV Facilities will be installed in 

Disadvantaged Communities and PG&E will pursue an additional 5 percent stretch goal that can 

be met with a combination of the same areas that qualify for the 15 percent minimum 

requirement and areas identified in the settlement that have a high concentration of customers 

eligible for PG&E’s CARE program.  Further, $5 million of the Charge Smart and Save budget 

will be set aside for additional equity programs aimed at increasing access to clean transportation 



 

16 

 

in Disadvantaged Communities.  These strategies will complement and coordinate with federal, 

state and locally funded Programs, such as those being developed by the Air Resources Board 

pursuant to SB 1275, that are expected to grow the demand for EVs in Disadvantaged 

Communities (e.g., EFMP Plus Up, Low and Moderate Income Clean Vehicle Rebate Project 

rebates, Financing Assistance, EV car-sharing services, etc.). 

Section 16 – Hiring from Disadvantaged Communities – Section 16 provides that all 

Charge Smart and Save contractors shall use their best efforts to reflect the communities PG&E 

serves in their hiring practices, including utilizing best practices to ensure maximum outreach 

and opportunities to Disadvantaged Communities to increase the pool of eligible candidates for 

employment for EV projects, including considering first-source hiring for projects in 

Disadvantaged Communities.  The Program Advisory Council will also monitor and provide 

recommendations to contractors or subcontractors associated with the increase of hiring from 

Disadvantaged Communities, including best practices for hiring in Disadvantaged Communities. 

Section 17 –Program Advisory Council; Improving Cost Effectiveness and Increasing 

Access to EV Charging – Section 17 requires PG&E to solicit the participation of a broad and 

diverse stakeholder advisory group (the “Program Advisory Council” or “PAC”) in planning and 

implementing the Charge Smart and Save Program following its approval by the Commission, 

including reviewing progress reports by PG&E on actual costs and deployment under Charge 

Smart and Save and opportunities to improve the cost effectiveness of the program and increase 

access to EV charging.  

Section 18 – Program Changes by Advice Filing – Section 18 provides that, with 

guidance from the PAC, PG&E will make programmatic changes by advice filing as needed 

during the course of the Charge Smart and Save Program in line with the Guiding Principles.  

The Settling Parties recognize that certain changes may require advice filings with the 

Commission for approval.  

Section 19 –Schedule for Phase 1 Program; Bridge Funding – Section 19 provides for 

contingency funding to prevent economic harm to contractors and disruption to program 



 

17 

 

implementation in the event the Commission has not issued a decision regarding Phase 2 of the 

Charge Smart and Save program in a timely manner. 

Section 20 – Quarterly and Interim Progress Reports – Section 20 provides that, in order 

to provide an assessment of the Charge Smart and Save Program consistent with the Guiding 

Principles, after the Program begins installation of EV infrastructure, PG&E will file quarterly 

progress reports with the Commission, the PAC, and serve the reports on all parties to A.14-04-

014 and R.13-11-007, as described in PG&E’s supplemental testimony. PG&E also will file and 

serve an Interim Progress Report at the end of the second year following the beginning of 

construction.  

Section 21 – Additional Terms and Conditions – Section 21 provides standard settlement 

terms and conditions, including required support by Settling Parties and an express finding that 

the Settlement Agreement is non-precedential under Commission Rule 12. 

Appendix A – Roles and Responsibilities of PG&E Program Advisory Council – 

Appendix A provides for the specific roles and responsibilities of the Charge Smart and Save 

Program Advisory Council, consistent with the roles and responsibilities of the Program 

Advisory Council approved by the Commission for SDG&E’s EV program under D.16-01-045. 

Appendix B – Data Collection and Metrics – Appendix B provides for the collection and 

reporting of data and metrics regarding the Charge Smart and Save program, comparable to 

similar data and metrics required by the Commission for the SDG&E and SCE programs. 

Appendix C – RFP Process Clarification – Appendix C provides details on the Request 

for Proposal (RFP) process to be followed by PG&E in procurement of EVSE equipment and 

services.  The RFP process described in Appendix C is consistent with the RFP Process approved 

for SDG&E’s EV program in D.16-01-04. 

Appendix D – Disadvantaged Communities and CARE Customer Locations – Appendix 

D provides a map that identifies the boundaries of the Disadvantaged Communities and CARE 

customer locations which govern PG&E’s obligation to site charging stations within the 

boundaries of such locations pursuant to Section 15 of the Settlement Agreement. 



 

18 

 

Appendix E – Settlement Costs and Revenue Requirements Tables – Appendix E 

provides the cost and forecast revenue requirements tables for the Charge Smart and Save 

Program, comparable to Tables 6 and B-4 provided for PG&E’s earlier proposals in its 

Supplemental Testimony.
9/

 

III. COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT STATUTORY STANDARD OF 

REVIEW AND THE COMMISSION’S POLICY CRITERIA 

The Commission’s D.16-01-045, approving SDG&E’s EV Program as modified, lists 

four principal considerations in analyzing a utility EV program:
10/

 

Applicable Public Utilities Code Sections and other Relevant State Policies Goals for 

Transportation Electrification.  California’s clean energy and transportation electrification 

policies are included in various laws that address the deployment of EVs, EV charging 

infrastructure, GHG reductions, and the amount of energy that is to come from renewable 

sources of energy.  In addition, Governor Brown’s Executive Order and ZEV Action Plan 

provide further guidance concerning these various code sections, and what action needs to be 

taken.  However, SB 350 (De León, 2015), which added or amended four sections of the Public 

Utilities Code related to transportation electrification is the most recent, most specific, and most 

comprehensive legislative directive for how the Commission should encourage and review utility 

transportation electrification programs.  SB 350 amended Pub. Util. Code § 701.1 to change the 

mission of the utility industry, placing widespread transportation electrification on par with 

energy efficiency and renewable energy: 

The Legislature finds and declares that, in addition to other ratepayer protection 

objectives, a principal goal of electric and natural gas utilities’ resource planning 

and investment shall be … to improve the environment and to encourage the 

diversity of energy sources through improvements in energy efficiency, 

development of renewable energy resources, …and widespread transportation 

electrification. 

                                                 
9/ PG&E Supplemental Testimony, Table 6, p. 15; Table B-4, pp. B-7 to B-9 

10/ D.16-01-045, pp. 88-89. 



 

19 

 

The law also defined transportation electrification in Pub. Util. Code § 737.5 as follows: 

“Transportation electrification” means the use of electricity from external 

sources of electrical power, including the electrical grid, for all or part of 

vehicles, vessels, trains, boats, or other equipment that are mobile sources of air 

pollution and greenhouse gases and the related programs and charging and 

propulsion infrastructure investments to enable and encourage this use of 

electricity 

Senate Bill 350 also added Pub. Util. Code § 740.12, which directs the Commission and the 

utilities under its jurisdiction: 

…to accelerate widespread transportation electrification to reduce dependence 

on petroleum, meet air quality standards, achieve the goals set forth in the 

Charge Ahead California Initiative, and reduce emissions of greenhouse gases to 

40 percent below 1990 levels by 2030 and to 80 percent below 1990 levels by 

2050. 

Meeting fast approaching 2023 Federal Clean Air air quality standards, deploying one million 

electric vehicles by 2023, increasing access to clean vehicles in disadvantaged communities as 

required by the Charge Ahead California Initiative, and meeting those very aggressive 2030 and 

2050 greenhouse gas emissions reduction targets will require a level of EV charging 

infrastructure deployment that goes well beyond Phase 1 of Charge Smart and Save. However, 

Pub. Util. Code § 740.12 is not applicable to Phase 1 of Charge Smart and Save, because it does 

not meet either of the two conditions specified in Pub. Util. Code § 740.12(d). 

Nevertheless, SB350 also amended Pub. Util. Code § 740.8 to clarify the standard of 

review for utility transportation electrification proposals, including Phase 1 of Charge Smart and 

Save: 

740.8. As used in Section 740.3 or 740.12, “interests” of ratepayers, short- or 

long-term, mean direct benefits that are specific to ratepayers, consistent with 

both of the following: 

(a) Safer, more reliable, or less costly gas or electrical service, consistent with 

Section 451, including electrical service that is safer, more reliable, or less costly 

due to either improved use of the electric system or improved integration of 

renewable energy generation; 

(b) Any one of the following: 

(1) Improvement in energy efficiency of travel. 

(2) Reduction of health and environmental impacts from air pollution. 



 

20 

 

(3) Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions related to electricity and natural gas 

production and use. 

(4) Increased use of alternative fuels. 

(5) Creating high-quality jobs or other economic benefits, including in 

disadvantaged communities identified pursuant to Section 39711 of the Health 

and Safety Code. 

Consistent with D.16-01-045, the Charge Smart and Save program proposed by the Settling 

Parties is in the interest of ratepayers, as defined by Public Utilities Code Section 740.8 because 

it will provide, under §740.8(a):
11/

 

1. Safer electrical service because “all of the construction and installation of the EV 

charging infrastructure will be performed safely, and to code, by licensed electrical 

contractors with EV infrastructure training certification;”
 12/

 

2. More reliable electrical service by using time-of-use price signals and other load 

management strategies that shift EV load to hours of the day when there is spare 

capacity in the grid; 

3. More reliable electrical service by leveraging PG&E’s Distributed Resource Plan 

Integration Capacity Analysis to improve site selection; 

4. Less costly electrical service due to improved integration of renewable generation 

that will result from using time-of-use rates as a foundation for load management 

upon which more sophisticated forms of load will be evaluated to identify an 

“Advanced EV Grid Support” program potentially to be deployed in Phase 2; 

5. Less costly electrical service due to the improved use of the electric system that will 

result from time-of-use price signals and other load management strategies that shift 

EV load to hours of the day when there is spare capacity in the grid; and 

                                                 
11/ Note: while Charge Smart and Save is designed to provide all of these enumerated benefits, 

§740.8(a) only requires a showing of one of these or other benefits. 

12/ D.16-01-045, p. 114. 



 

21 

 

6. Less costly electrical service due to the improved use of the electric system that will 

result from leveraging PG&E’s Distributed Resource Plan Integration Capacity 

Analysis to improve site selection.  

Likewise, consistent with D.16-01-045, Charge Smart and Save will, under 740.8(b):
13/

 

1. Promote the accelerated adoption of EVs which will promote the efficiency of travel;  

2. Reduce the health and environmental impacts from air pollution because vehicle 

electrification results in “over 85 percent fewer ozone-forming air pollutants 

emitted;”
14/

 

3. For every mile driven on electricity in a typical EV, reduce emissions of greenhouse 

gases by a factor of four relative to the average new conventional vehicle in PG&E 

service territory;
15/

 

4. Deploy EV charging stations that will increase the use of an alternative fuel; and 

5. Create high-quality jobs or other economic benefits, including in disadvantaged 

communities, by using union labor and deploying in disadvantaged communities. 

Furthermore, the Settlement Agreement, including the Guiding Principles set forth in the 

Settlement, make clear that the overarching objective of the Charge Smart and Save is to help 

implement other relevant goals set by Governor Brown and the State of California including:  

 Deploy EV charging infrastructure to support one million ZEVs by 2020,  

 Deploy 1 million ZEVs by 2023 and increase access to clean vehicles in 

disadvantaged and low and moderate income communities pursuant to the Charge 

Ahead California Initiative (SB 1275, De León),   

 To have 1.5 million ZEVs on California roads by 2025, and 

                                                 
13/ Note: while Charge Smart and Save is designed to provide all of these enumerated benefits, 

§740.8(b) only requires a showing of any one of these benefits. 

14/ PU Code § 740.12(a)(1)(I). 

15/https://www.fueleconomy.gov/feg/Find.do?zipCode=94102&year=2016&vehicleId=37066&action=bt

3 

https://www.fueleconomy.gov/feg/Find.do?zipCode=94102&year=2016&vehicleId=37066&action=bt3
https://www.fueleconomy.gov/feg/Find.do?zipCode=94102&year=2016&vehicleId=37066&action=bt3


 

22 

 

 To ensure that all new vehicles sold by 2050 be ZEVs.
16/

 

Through deployment of EV charging infrastructure, and promoting the adoption of EVs 

in California, the Charge Smart and Save program will help to achieve California’s goal of 

reducing greenhouse gas emissions by reducing the number of vehicles that use fossil fuels and 

increasing the use of renewable sources of energy – just as the Commission found for SDG&E’s 

similar EV program in D.16-01-045. 

Reasonableness of Program Costs.  Public Utilities Code Section 451 requires that the 

charges to ratepayers to pay for the program must be just and reasonable. (D.16-01-045, p. 88.)  

The cost of PG&E’s Charge Smart and Save Program is capped at approximately $160 million, 

compared to PG&E’s original proposal of $654 million and its revised “enhanced proposal” of 

$222 million.  More importantly, the estimated cost of the Program to the typical residential 

ratepayer using 500 kilowatt hours per month in PG&E’s service territory would be 

approximately $2.64 annually, 4 percent less than the $2.75 per year typical residential customer 

cost approved as “just and reasonable” by the Commission in the SDG&E decision. (D.16-01-

045, p.129.)   

Directive Set Forth in D.14-12-079.  In D.14-12-079, the Commission endorsed an 

expanded role for the electric utilities to develop and support EV charging infrastructure, and 

eliminated the blanket prohibition in D.11-07-029 against electric utility ownership of EVSE, 

citing the fact that “parties’ comments represent near unanimity that the utilities should have an 

expanded role in EV infrastructure support and development in order to realize the potential 

benefits of widespread EV adoption.”
17/

  To evaluate whether a utility should be permitted to 

own EVSE, the Commission in D.14-12-079 determined that this should be decided on a case-

specific approach, and that a balancing test weighing the benefits of electric utility ownership of 

EVSE against the potential competitive limitation that may result from that ownership, should be 

                                                 
16/ Office of Governor Edmund Brown - https://www.gov.ca.gov/news.php?id=19235. 

17/ D.14-12-079,  p. 5. 

https://www.gov.ca.gov/news.php?id=19235


 

23 

 

used.  Applying that balancing test in the SDG&E proceeding, the Commission concluded as a 

matter of law, “the EVSE ownership by SDG&E should be permitted in a scenario as proposed 

by SDG&E in the Proposed Settlement, or in a scaled down VGI pilot program patterned after 

the Proposed Settlement, and that such ownership would be in the ratepayers’ interests and 

outweigh the disadvantages that could result from a lack of competition.”
18/

 

The Charge Smart and Save program incorporates every element upon which the 

Commission relied in declaring that both the $103 million settlement proposed in the SDG&E 

proceeding and the scaled down version of the SDG&E program adopted by the Commission 

passed the balancing test established by D.14-12-079: 

 Under Charge Smart and Save, “site hosts or their designees, can choose the [TOU] Rate-

to-Host option, which allows site hosts to offer a similar [TOU] rate or other pricing 

option to EV charging customers” (Language pulled from D.16-01-045 with “VGI” 

replaced with “TOU”).
19/

 

 Likewise, as in D.16-01-045, Charge Smart and Save, “allows the site host or its designee 

to select the EVSE and related EV charging services from preapproved vendors, which 

allows third party providers to offer competing EVSE and EV charging services.”
20/

 

 Likewise, as in D.16-01-045, under Charge Smart and Save, “the site host would have to 

pay a participation fee which will help offset a portion of EV charging infrastructure 

costs.” (Also consistent with D.16-01-045, revenue from the Charge Smart and Save 

participation payment will be used to defray operation and maintenance expenses.) 

It should also be noted that Charge Smart and Save incorporates significantly higher 

commitments to deploy charging stations in disadvantaged communities, a demonstrably 

underserved market, than either the SCE or SDG&E approved programs. 

                                                 
18/ D.16-01-045, p. 177. 

19/ D.16-01-045, p. 109. 

20/ Ibid. 



 

24 

 

As explained in D.16-01-045:  “As part of the balancing test adopted in D.14-12-079, the 

weighing of the benefits of utility ownership is to rely heavily on the guidance set forth in Public 

Utilities Code Section 740.8.”
21/

  As noted above in this Joint Motion, Charge Smart and Save far 

exceeds the requirements of Public Utilities Code Section 740.8, upon which the Commission 

should rely heavily. 

Reasonableness of Settlement.  Under the Commission’s precedents and Rule 12.1(c), the 

Settlement Agreement must be reasonable in light of the whole record, consistent with the law, 

and in the public interest.  This consideration is addressed in the next section. 

IV. THE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT IS REASONABLE IN LIGHT OF THE 

WHOLE RECORD, CONSISTENT WITH LAW, AND IN THE PUBLIC 

INTEREST 

Commission Rule 12.1(d) states that the Commission will not approve a settlement 

“unless the settlement is reasonable in light of the whole record, consistent with law, and in the 

public interest.”  Factors that the Commission has considered in reviewing settlements include:  

(1) whether the settlement negotiations were at arms-length; (2) whether major issues were 

addressed; and (3) whether the parties were adequately represented.  As discussed below, the 

Settlement Agreement meets these criteria.  The Settling Parties are represented by experienced 

CPUC practitioners, or are otherwise well-resourced and sophisticated entities.  They negotiated 

in good faith, bargained aggressively, and, ultimately compromised.  The result is a 

comprehensive settlement of the major issues raised by the Settling Parties and other parties.  

The Settlement Agreement reduces the risk that litigation will waste time and resources of the 

parties and the Commission. 

A. The Settlement is Reasonable In Light of the Whole Record 

The Settlement Agreement is a product of substantial negotiation efforts and compromise 

on behalf of the Settling Parties.  The Settlement Agreement is based on the prepared testimony 

of the Settling Parties as well as the Commission’s decision and findings regarding the similar 

                                                 
21/ D.16-01-045, p. 105. 



 

25 

 

EV program proposed by SDG&E and approved as modified in D.16-01-045.  The Settling 

Parties have relied extensively on the guidance and findings of the Commission in D.16-01-045 

as well as their own prepared testimony and positions, including positions that have resulted in 

significant improvements to the “model” for a utility EV program adopted by the Commission in 

D.16-01-045. 

In addition, the Settling Parties have included in the Settlement Agreement specific 

modifications and compromise changes to PG&E’s proposed EV program in order to take into 

account the positions of parties who are not Settling Parties but who supported the resolution of 

certain disputed issues in the SDG&E EV settlement and D.16-01-045 that are identical to the 

issues in dispute in this proceeding. 

In light of the testimony by the Settling Parties and other parties in this proceeding, along 

with the record of the Commission’s resolution of identical or comparable disputed issues in the 

SDG&E proceeding and D.16-01-045, the Settlement Agreement in this proceeding is reasonable 

in light of the whole record. 

B. The Settlement Agreement is Consistent with Law and in the Public Interest. 

As discussed in detail in Section III, above, the Settlement Agreement is in the public 

interest because it fully supports California’s transportation electrification, electric vehicle, and 

greenhouse gas reduction goals, and will make a significant contribution to achieving Governor 

Brown’s Executive Order and ZEV Action Plan goals as well as goals adopted by the California 

Legislature, such as those enacted in the Charge Ahead California Initiative of deploying one 

million ZEVs by 2023 and increasing access to clean transportation in disadvantaged and low 

and moderate income communities.  

In addition, the Settlement Agreement meets and exceeds the Commission’s statutory and 

decisional criteria for approval of utility EV deployment programs under the Public Utilities 

Code.  



 

26 

 

For these reasons, the Settling Parties find that PG&E’s Charge Smart and Save program, 

including the significant modifications to PG&E’s original proposals, is consistent with law and 

in the public interest.  

V. REQUESTED FINDINGS AND RELIEF 

For the reasons stated above and based on the record in this proceeding and the 

Commission’s findings and guidance in D.14-12-079, D.16-01-045 and D.16-01-023, the 

Settling Parties request the following findings and relief: 

1. The Settlement Agreement is reasonable in light of the whole record, consistent 

with law, and in the public interest. 

2. The Settling Parties’ Joint Motion to Adopt the Settlement is granted. 

3. The Settlement Agreement is adopted in its entirety with no modifications, and 

the Charge Smart and Save Program is approved.  

VI. CONCLUSION 

The Settling Parties appreciate the compromises and good faith negotiation that have led 

to the Settlement Agreement. The Settling Parties respectfully request that the Commission 

expeditiously grant this Joint Motion and approve the Settlement Agreement and Charge Smart 

and Save Program without modification. 

Dated: March 21, 2016 

Respectfully Submitted, 

CHRISTOPHER J. WARNER 

By:         /s/ Christopher J. Warner 

CHRISTOPHER J. WARNER 

Pacific Gas and Electric Company 

77 Beale Street 

San Francisco, CA  94105 

Telephone:  (415) 973-6695 

Facsimile:   (415) 973-0516 

E-Mail:   CJW5@pge.com 

Attorney for 

PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY 
 



 

 

1 

 

 

CHARGE SMART AND SAVE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT REGARDING 

 PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY’S  

ELECTRIC VEHICLE INFRASTRUCTURE AND EDUCATION PROGRAM 

APPLICATION, A.15-02-009 

 

Pursuant to California Public Utilities Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure, Article 12, 

Rule 12.1, Pacific Gas and Electric Company (“PG&E”), Alliance of Automobile Manufacturers, 

American Honda Motor Co., Inc., Center for Sustainable Energy, Coalition of California Utility 

Employees, General Motors, LLC , Greenlots, The Greenlining Institute, Marin Clean Energy, 

Natural Resources Defense Council, Plug In America, Sierra Club, and Sonoma Clean Power 

Authority (collectively, together with PG&E, the “Settling Parties”) enter into this settlement 

agreement (“Settlement Agreement”) modifying PG&E’s Electric Vehicle Infrastructure and 

Education Program proposal, submitted for Commission consideration in Application A.15-02-

009 and supporting testimony dated February 9, 2015 (the “Application”), Supplemental 

Testimony dated October 12, 2015 (“Supplemental Testimony”), and Rebuttal Testimony dated 

December 21, 2015 (“Rebuttal Testimony”) as the “Charge Smart and Save” program. 

 

Except as otherwise identified, citation references in this Settlement Agreement are to the 

materials filed with or issued by the Commission in connection with the Application and 

Supplemental Testimony. 

 

The Settling Parties believe that the Settlement Agreement is reasonable in light of the whole 

record, consistent with law, and in the public interest. 

 

SECTION 1.  Introduction and Background 

 

The Settling Parties appreciate the policy guidance and criteria provided by the Commission and 

the settling parties in the San Diego Gas & Electric (SDG&E) and Southern California Edison 

(SCE) electric vehicle proceedings.  The Settling Parties agree that PG&E’s “Electric Vehicle 

Infrastructure and Education Program” should be substantially modified to create the “Charge 

Smart and Save” program to take into account the ratepayer interest and key reasonableness 

criteria adopted for SDG&E’s Vehicle Grid Integration (VGI) program approved in Decision No. 

(D.) 16-01-045 issued on January 28, 2016.  

 

Consistent with D. 16-01-045, the Charge Smart and Save program proposed by the Settling 

Parties is in the interest of ratepayers, as defined by Public Utilities Code Section 740.8 as 

modified by Senate Bill 350 (De León, 2015) because it will provide, under §740.8(a):
1/

 

 

1. Safer electrical service because “all of the construction and installation of the EV 

charging infrastructure will be performed safely, and to code, by licensed electrical 

contractors with EV infrastructure training certification;”
 2/

 

                                                 
1/ Note: while Charge Smart and Save is designed to provide all of these enumerated benefits, 

§740.8(a) only requires a showing of one of these or other benefits. 

2/ D.16-01-045, p. 114. 



 

 

2 

 

2. More reliable electrical service by using time-of-use price signals and other load 

management strategies that shift EV load to hours of the day when there is spare 

capacity in the grid; 

3. More reliable electrical service by leveraging PG&E’s Distributed Resource Plan 

Integration Capacity Analysis to improve site selection; 

4. Less costly electrical service due to improved integration of renewable generation 

that will result from using time-of-use rates as a foundation for load management 

upon which more sophisticated forms of load will be evaluated to identify an 

“Advanced EV Grid Support” program to be deployed in Phase Two; 

5. Less costly electrical service due to the improved use of the electric system that will 

result from time-of-use price signals and other load management strategies that shift 

EV load to hours of the day when there is spare capacity in the grid; and 

6. Less costly electrical service due to the improved use of the electric system that will 

result from leveraging PG&E’s Distributed Resource Plan Integration Capacity 

Analysis to improve site selection.  

 

Likewise, consistent with D.16-01-045, Charge Smart and Save will, under 740.8(b):
 3/

 

 

1. Promote the accelerated adoption of EVs which will promote the efficiency of travel;  

2. Reduce the health and environmental impacts from air pollution because vehicle 

electrification results in “over 85 percent fewer ozone-forming air pollutants 

emitted;” 

3. For every mile driven on electricity in a typical EV, reduce emissions of greenhouse 

gases by a factor of four relative to the average new conventional vehicle in PG&E 

service territory;
4/

 

4. Deploy EV charging stations that will increase the use of an alternative fuel; and  

5. Create high-quality jobs or other economic benefits, including in disadvantaged 

communities, by using union labor and deploying in disadvantaged communities. 

 

The Commission applied criteria in D.16-01-045 to evaluate the reasonableness of SDG&E’s 

settlement under the balancing test of D.14-12-079,
5/

 which the Settling Parties have addressed in 

this Settlement Agreement: 

 

 1. Site host ability to choose among pre-qualified EV equipment and services; 

 2. Pricing flexibility and the ability of site hosts to choose a “rate-to-host” option; 

 3. Requiring participation payments by site hosts; and 

 4. An average bill impact on non-participating customers not to exceed $2.75 annually. 

                                                 
3/ Note: while Charge Smart and Save is designed to provide all of these enumerated benefits, 

§740.8(b) only requires a showing of any one of these benefits. 

4/https://www.fueleconomy.gov/feg/Find.do?zipCode=94102&year=2016&vehicleId=37066&action=bt3 

5/ D.16-01-045, pp. 103- 111. 



 

 

3 

 

In addition to incorporating these common programmatic elements, the Settling Parties agree that 

Charge Smart and Save includes substantial improvements and will test certain alternatives to the 

SDG&E approved VGI program and the SCE approved Charge Ready pilot, in order to provide 

additional benefits and useful information consistent with the Commission’s EV policies and 

standards as adopted in D.16-01-045 and D.14-12-079.  For example, relative to SDG&E’s VGI 

Pilot and SCE’s Charge Ready pilot, PG&E’s Charge Smart and Save will: 

 

 Test the use of time-of-use price signals seen by EV drivers as an alternative to hourly 

dynamic pricing as a simpler means of providing foundational load management, upon 

which more sophisticated forms of load management will be evaluated. 

 

 Deploy DC Fast Charging stations, which are needed to accelerate the market, especially 

for pure battery electric vehicles, and test the use of DC Fast Charging as a means to 

increase access to the use of electricity as a transportation fuel. 

 

 Increase the targeted share for charging station deployment in Disadvantaged 

Communities to 15% of sites, a 50% improvement relative to the SDG&E and SCE 

programs, with a stretch goal of 20% for disadvantaged and low-income communities. 

 

 Set aside an additional $5 million to fund complementary and innovative programs to 

further the goals of the Charge Ahead California Initiative (SB 1275) and increase access 

to clean transportation in disadvantaged communities. 

 

 Explore how collaboration with Community Choice Aggregators (CCAs) will further 

enhance both the deployment rate of EV equipment and services, and the usage rate of 

electricity as a transportation fuel. 

 

These improvements and others made by the Settlement further enhance the program for PG&E 

customers, deliver greater benefits to disadvantaged communities, and will promote the 

innovation and expertise of existing and future Electric Vehicle Service Providers (EVSPs).   

 

The Settling Parties also agree that the Charge Smart and Save program is desirable to 

incorporate the views of stakeholders and to support the Governor’s 2020, 2025, and 2050 

electric vehicle adoption and infrastructure goals, as well as California’s broader clean air, 

equity, and climate change objectives. 

 

The 18 modifications and improvements to PG&E’s Program made by the Settlement are 

summarized below and addressed in detail in the terms and conditions of the Settlement.  For 

convenient comparison to the Commission’s decision on the SDG&E settlement, the 

modifications and improvements follow the same major topical headings as D.16-01-045. 

 

 Rationale for Charge Smart and Save– The Settling Parties agree that the Charge 

Smart and Save program will focus on increasing access to reliable and affordable 

electric vehicle charging to help implement the goals set by Governor Brown and the 

California Legislature to deploy EV charging infrastructure in support of one million 

ZEVs by 2020, to deploy 1 million ZEVs by 2023 and to increase access to clean 



 

 

4 

 

vehicles in disadvantaged communities pursuant to the Charge Ahead California 

Initiative (SB 1275, De León), to have 1.5 million ZEVs on California’s roads by 2025, 

and to ensure that 100 percent of all new vehicles sold in 2050 are ZEVs.  In addition, the 

Settling Parties agree that the Program will seek to ensure EV drivers realize the benefits 

of potential fuel cost savings from EVs and that EV benefits are coordinated with 

additional benefits relating to integration of renewables and load management programs 

that also provide savings from clean energy.  

 

 Cost, Size, Structure and Duration of Charge Smart and Save – The Settling Parties 

agree that the cost of Charge Smart and Save should be substantially reduced from 

PG&E’s $222 million “Enhanced Proposal,” to a cost cap of no more than $160 million 

as described in Appendix E, with a target of 7,500 Level 2 charging ports and a target of 

100 DC Fast Chargers. PG&E will seek to achieve these cost-effective deployment goals 

by offering site-appropriate additional technologies, such as dual-port Level 2 charging 

stations, and seeking cost reductions through the procurement, site selection, and 

implementation process.  Any cost savings on site-specific deployment costs will be used 

for additional deployment not to exceed the cost cap. Based on PG&E’s current electric 

revenue requirements, the Settling Parties agree that the maximum estimated cost of the 

program to the typical residential ratepayer of PG&E using 500 kilowatt hours per month 

in PG&E’s service territory would be approximately $2.64 annually, less than the $2.75 

per year typical residential customer cost with full rollout of the program approved as 

reasonable by the Commission in the SDG&E decision. Those cost estimates do not 

account for the downward pressure on rates that will result from properly managed 

widespread transportation electrification. PG&E would own the charging stations on the 

same terms and conditions as the Commission approved for SDG&E in the SDG&E 

decision, D.16-01-045. The duration of Charge Smart and Save will be three years from 

the beginning of construction. 

 

 Guiding Principles – PG&E will follow the same guiding principles adopted by the 

Commission in the SDG&E decision, D.16-01-045. 

 

 Targeting of Multi-Unit Dwellings (MUDs) and Workplaces – To ensure adequate 

deployment at MUDs, without hindering program implementation that will remain 

demand driven, PG&E will aim for 50 percent of sites to be MUDs, and commits to 

deploy at least 20 percent of EV Sites at MUDs.  Deployment will be limited to the 

market segments identified in PG&E’s testimony, which include MUDs, workplaces, 

fleet locations, and public facilities such as government buildings and community 

destinations. 

 

 Choice of Charging Technology – PG&E will contract with third parties to provide 

Electric Vehicle Supply Equipment (EVSE) operating systems, network services and 

related hardware to implement the PG&E program. It is PG&E’s aim to specify “what” is 

required to be achieved per the objectives of Charge Smart and Save, and not “how” 

these requirements are met.  This approach is intended to leverage the EVSP market 

expertise and foster innovation.  Site hosts may choose L2 EVSE and services from a list 

of pre-qualified providers that meet the goals of this program, including providing for 



 

 

5 

 

base charging functionality and load management capability, a positive driver experience, 

and prudent expenditure of ratepayer funds.  PG&E will establish an annual qualification 

process in order to foster innovation and competition for EV charging products and 

services.  PG&E’s procurement of EV charging equipment and services shall be subject 

to advisory review by Non-Market Participant members of the Program Advisory 

Council. 

 

 DC Fast Chargers – In deploying a target of 100 DCFC, PG&E will select DCFC site 

equipment and network providers through a competitive solicitation process. DCFC site 

hosts will not be subject to participation payments. EV drivers will be charged applicable 

CPUC-approved rates for DCFC charging.  To improve site selection and to ensure 

Charge Smart and Save is complementary to other efforts, PG&E will coordinate with the 

California Energy Commission and others administering or implementing DCFC 

programs in PG&E’s service territory. PG&E will also leverage the results of its EPIC 

1.22 DC Fast Charging Siting Research, conducted in partnership with researchers from 

UC Davis, to inform site selection of DCFCs.  PG&E will also evaluate potential DCFC 

load management strategies.  The number of DCFC ports per site will be varied to suit 

the attributes of individual sites and likely driver use cases. 

 

 Disadvantaged Communities and Furthering Goals of the Charge Ahead California 

Initiative (SB 1275, De León) – PG&E increases its commitment to require a minimum 

of 15 percent of the charging station deployment to be located in the top quartile of 

Disadvantaged Communities identified by CalEnviroScreen 2.0 on a PG&E service 

territory basis (see Appendix D).  PG&E will seek to meet an additional 5 percent stretch 

goal in a combination of the same areas that qualify for the 15 percent commitment and 

areas identified that have a high concentration of low-income PG&E customers eligible 

for PG&E’s California Alternate Rates for Energy (CARE) program.  To improve the 

effectiveness of the program, PG&E will work with the Program Advisory Council to 

identify priority areas of focus for EV infrastructure deployment, education and outreach 

(e.g., EV ride and drive events, etc.) and related activities.  DCFC charging stations 

located outside of Disadvantaged Communities may count towards the 15 percent 

minimum deployment if they demonstrate co-benefits to the disadvantaged communities. 

Further, $5 million of the Charge Smart and Save budget will be set aside for additional 

equity programs increasing access to clean vehicles in Disadvantaged Communities.  The 

Disadvantaged Communities elements in Charge Smart and Save should be implemented 

in a manner that complements statewide low-income programs being implemented under 

SB 1275 (2014, De León). 

 

 Supplier Diversity – Charge Smart and Save will be included within PG&E’s 

WMDVBE goal. As such, the program and supplier contracts will request a 

subcontracting plan that meets PG&E’s goal of reflecting the diversity of the 

communities it serves. 

 

 Data Collection, Monitoring, and Reporting – PG&E shall collect, monitor, and report 

data under similar requirements as required for SDG&E in D.16-01-045.  In addition to 

data reporting elements required in D.16-01-045 (adapted to the specific rates and 



 

 

6 

 

services provided under Charge Smart and Save), PG&E will collect, monitor, and report 

on additional elements proposed in the Supplemental Testimony and proposed herein.  

Additionally, data collected within communities served by CCAs will be made available 

to those communities’ CCA service providers.  

 

 Metering and Billing - “TOU Rate-to-Driver” and “TOU Rate-to-Host” Billing 

Options – PG&E will offer Site Hosts an option of “Time-of-Use (TOU) Rate-to-Driver” 

or “TOU Rate-to-Host” billing.  Under the default TOU Rate-to-Driver option, PG&E 

will serve electricity to service providers who will then pass the TOU price signals 

directly to EV drivers to ensure that drivers who charge in a manner that supports the grid 

have the opportunity to realize the fuel cost savings.  Under the “TOU Rate-to-Host” 

option, Site Hosts will receive the TOU price signals, and will be able to propose 

alternative pricing and load management tactics consistent with Program Guiding 

Principles.  

 

 Program Advisory Council – PG&E will solicit, form and support a Program Advisory 

Council (PAC) under the same terms, conditions and responsibilities as adopted by the 

Commission for the SDG&E PAC in D.16-01-045, Attachment 2, Appendix A.  As 

specified in the SDG&E decision, after consulting with the PAC, PG&E will use Tier 2 

advice letters for mid-course program modifications that require Commission 

authorization. 

 

 Participation Payment – Site hosts will be required to make a participation payment. 

Based on the percentage cost of the EV Charger, the participation payment shall be 10 

percent for MUDs and 20 percent for private, for-profit entities.  The participation 

payment will be waived at sites located in Disadvantaged Communities as identified in 

Appendix D; at sites owned or leased by government agencies or non-profit entities; and 

at DCFC sites. After consultation with the Program Advisory Council, PG&E may file 

for modification of the participation payment by way of a Tier 2 advice letter, subject to 

protest by any party.  The revenue collected from participation payments shall be credited 

against program operation and maintenance costs. 

 

 Safety Considerations – Construction, installation and maintenance contractors will 

have Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Training Program (EVITP) certification, and PG&E 

will require that all construction, installation and maintenance of EV Facilities that is not 

performed by employees of PG&E shall be performed by contractors signatory to the 

IBEW who hold a valid C-10 contractor’s license, as defined in the governing labor 

agreement between PG&E and the IBEW.  Consistent with D.16-01-045, requiring that, 

“all of the construction and installation of the EV charging infrastructure will be 

performed safely, and to code, by licensed electrical contractors with EV infrastructure 

training certification” meets the interest of ratepayers as defined by Public Utilities Code 

740.8. 

 

 Balancing Account, Phasing and Future Expanded EV Programs under Public 

Utilities Code Section 740.12 – The rate design, cost recovery and balancing account 

provisions in PG&E’s Supplemental Testimony will apply to the ratemaking for Charge 



 

 

7 

 

Smart and Save. In addition, in order to balance oversight of Charge Smart and Save with 

the need to avoid disruptive gaps in EV infrastructure deployment in the event that the 

Commission has failed to issue a decision on a PG&E Phase 2 Charge Smart and Save 

proposal before the termination of Phase 1, PG&E by advice filing may extend Charge 

Smart and Save by one year at the average monthly cost of the program for the previous 

12 months, subject to balancing account treatment. Any funding remaining unexpended 

from the Phase 1 budget will be credited against the “bridge funding” request. Any 

PG&E Phase 2 proposal to expand Charge Smart and Save will be consistent with 

guidance or rulings provided by the Commission under the statutory criteria adopted for 

programs and investments to accelerate widespread transportation electrification under 

Public Utilities Code Section 740.12.  

 

SECTION 2. Guiding Principles. The Settling Parties have developed the following Guiding 

Principles, which have informed the proposed modifications and should guide Charge Smart and 

Save implementation: 

 

1.  Must support the Governor’s and California state goals to: 

a. Achieve installation of EV infrastructure to support 1 million zero emission 

vehicles by 2020; 

b. Accelerate the adoption of 1.5 million zero emission vehicles by 2025; 

c. Support clean air and climate change objectives. 

2.  Must be structured to provide net benefits to all ratepayers. 

3.  Must protect ratepayers by ensuring that assets continue to be used and useful. 

4.  Must provide EV drivers the opportunity to maximize fuel cost savings relative to 

conventional transportation fuels. 

5.  Must provide equitable deployment of services to all ratepayers, including statutory 

requirements and directives to serve disadvantaged communities and increase access to 

clean transportation 

6.  Must provide customer choice. CCAs will provide generation services for EV 

Facilities in CCA jurisdictions, subject to ability of Site Host to opt-out consistent with 

CCA rules and regulations. 

7.  Must support broad-based investment in electric vehicle charging equipment and 

services by public, private and utility entities and avoid anticompetitive impacts on the 

markets for EV charging equipment and related services. 

8.  Must manage program costs 

9.  Must incorporate learning-by-doing and make adjustments to Charge Smart and Save, 

as needed. 

10.  Must provide data to help inform State policy. 

11.  Must utilize rate design and load management practices to facilitate the integration of 

renewable energy resources, as well as deliver other grid benefits. 



 

 

8 

 

12.  The Charge Smart and Save Program will be included within PG&E’s WMDVBE 

goal.  As such, the Charge Smart and Save Program and supplier contracts will request a 

subcontracting plan that meets PG&E’s goal of reflecting the diversity of the 

communities it serves. 

13.  Must complement other utility clean energy programs and other non-utility 

programs, such as those being implemented pursuant to the Charge Ahead California 

Initiative (Stats. 2014, Ch. 530), which will build consumer demand for clean energy and 

zero emission vehicles. 

SECTION 3. Definitions 

 

“Air Resources Board” means the California Air Resources Board of the California 

Environmental Protection Agency. 

“Application” means PG&E’s Application A.15-02-009 filed with the Commission February 9, 

2015. 

“Commission” means the California Public Utilities Commission. 

“DBE” means a diverse business enterprise certified by The Supplier Clearinghouse pursuant to 

Commission General Order 156. 

“DC Fast Charging” means a method of quickly charging certain electric vehicles with a high 

power direct current (DC) charging source. 

“Disadvantaged Communities” means disadvantaged communities as identified by the 

California Environmental Protection Agency’s EnviroScreen 2.0 tool developed pursuant to SB 

535 (De León, 2012), on a PG&E service territory basis. 

“Energy Division” means the Energy Division of the California Public Utilities Commission. 

“EV Driver” means a person using EV Facilities to charge an EV. 

“EV” means an electric vehicle that is capable of being charged using EVSE. 

“EVSE” means electric vehicle supply equipment used for charging EVs  

“Guiding Principles” means those guiding principles agreed by the Settling Parties to guide 

Charge Smart and Save implementation, as set forth in Section III below. 

“MUD” means multi-unit dwelling. 

“Non-Market Participant” means an entity that is not engaged in the sale and ownership of EV 

charging equipment and services. 

“PAC” means Charge Smart and Save Program Advisory Council formed pursuant to this 

Settlement Agreement. 

“PG&E” means Pacific Gas and Electric Company, a California regulated public utility. 

“Settlement Agreement” means this Settlement Agreement dated as of March 21, 2016 by and 

among the Settling Parties. 

“Settling Parties” means the parties’ signatory to this Settlement Agreement. 



 

 

9 

 

“EV Facility” means a group of EVSE or charging stations installed with a separate electric 

service per Charge Smart and Save. 

 “Provider” means a third-party EV services or equipment provider. 

 “Charge Smart and Save” means PG&E’s Electric Vehicle Infrastructure and Education 

Program set forth in the Application, as modified by this Settlement Agreement. 

“EV Site Host” or “Site Host” means the owner of the site at which the EV Facility is located. 

“TOU Rate” means the time-of-use rates described in PG&E’s direct testimony. 

“TOU Rate-to-Driver” means the billing option where the TOU Rate is billed to the Provider and 

the Provider passes TOU price signals directly to the driver. 

“TOU Rate-to-Host” means the billing option where the TOU Rate is billed to the EV Facility 

site host as outlined in this Settlement Agreement. 

 

SECTION 4. Budget and Structure.  The Settling Parties find reasonable, as modified, 

PG&E’s proposal for the implementation of Charge Smart and Save, ownership of EV Facilities 

and EVSE, and cost recovery as described in PG&E’s Application and Supplemental Testimony, 

subject to the modifications identified in this Settlement Agreement including a reduction in the 

approved cost of the Program to $160,324,000 ($132,191,000 capital and $28,132,000 expense).  

PG&E’s proposed revenue requirements for 2017- 2019 will be as described in Tables 1 and 2 in 

Appendix E, including the revenue requirement equivalent of $5 million to provide the 

Disadvantaged Communities vehicle-equity set-aside equivalent to PG&E’s original proposed 

amount of $5 million.  The costs of Charge Smart and Save will be recovered in accordance with 

the cost recovery and rate design proposal in Chapter 7 of PG&E’s February 9, 2015, prepared 

testimony.  PG&E’s Program will extend for a three year period following initial construction of 

charging stations, and unexpended funds remaining at the end of the three year period may 

continue to be expended to install and operate additional charging stations for customers and/or 

site hosts enrolled as of the end of the three year period. 

 

SECTION 5. Number of Level 2 and DCFC Charging Stations.  PG&E’s Program shall aim 

to achieve a non-binding goal of installing 7,500 Level 2 EV charging ports and 100 DC Fast 

Chargers (DCFC).  PG&E’s Program shall commit to 20 percent of deployment sites serving 

MUDs, with a non-binding target of 50 percent for MUDs.  Deployment will be limited to the 

market segments identified in PG&E’s testimony, which include MUDs, workplaces, fleet 

locations, and public facilities such as government buildings and community destinations. 

 

SECTION 6. Fuel Savings, Load Management, & Renewables Integration.  It is the 

intention of the Settling Parties that Charge Smart and Save will allow EV drivers to realize the 

potential fuel cost savings of electric vehicles, and that Charge Smart and Save will support load 

management and renewables integration objectives.  

 

Under the “TOU Rate-to-Driver” option, EV drivers will pay CPUC-approved TOU rates that 

encourage charging when there is spare capacity in the grid and provide the opportunity to 

realize fuel savings relative to gasoline.  The EVSP will be served at an applicable, commercial, 

time-of-use rate, such as Schedule A-6 (if less than 75 kilowatt), Schedule A-10 or Schedule E-



 

 

10 

 

19 (voluntary service), as PG&E’s customer of record. The Provider will then deliver energy to 

drivers at the price per kWh reflected in the selected rate at that time.  

 

Consistent with D.16-01-045, where the Program site host opts to receive the TOU Rate (i.e., the 

Rate-to-Host pricing plan), the site host, or its selected vendor, will be required to submit to 

PG&E the load management tactics it will implement at its EV Facility, including the prices or 

fees that it intends to levy on EV drivers, and any communication methods to be used to 

implement the load management tactics.  Site hosts that do not submit load management plans 

consistent with the Guiding Principles will be asked by PG&E to revise accordingly and will be 

ineligible to participate in the Program until PG&E determines that the load management plan is 

consistent with the Guiding Principles.  Load Management tactics may include, but are not 

limited to, charging curtailment during peak system usage, communications with drivers to 

voluntarily avoid or limit charging during peak system usage, or integration with other demand-

management technologies (such as stationary energy storage).  PG&E expects this will foster 

innovative approaches by site hosts and service providers to develop and propose load 

management under the Rate-to-Host option. Participation in the Rate-to-Host option will not be 

unreasonably withheld. As with Site Hosts that opt for the TOU Rate-to-Driver pricing plan, site 

usage patterns will be monitored, and in addition, site host determined prices or fees (to use the 

EV Facility) will be tracked for those site hosts that opt for the TOU Rate-to-Host pricing plan.  

These data will be used to inform Commission policy.  

 

PG&E will aim to leverage existing or planned load management pilots and programs, such as 

the Electric Power Research Institute’s “Open Vehicle Grid Integration Platform” and the 

PG&E/BMW “iChargeForward” pilot. Program network and equipment solicitation 

requirements will include system load management capability. EV load management will focus 

on facilitating the integration of variable renewables and supporting the electric distribution 

system.  PG&E agrees to create or have identified and adopted an “Advanced EV Grid Support” 

program, at the end of Phase 1 subject to any necessary regulatory approvals including cost 

recovery.  The Advanced EV Grid Support program, once available, will be implemented as 

necessary to further the clean air, climate change and load management objectives identified in 

Guiding Principles 1 and 6, and the load management and renewable energy benefits described 

in testimony (PG&E Opening Testimony, p. 1-12, l. 6-10; PG&E Supplemental Testimony page 

3, l. 25-30).  

 

SECTION 7. Site Selection Criteria. Consistent with the guidelines in D.16-01-045, PG&E in 

its site selection criteria will coordinate with and leverage the utility’s Distribution Resources 

Plan (DRP) and related programs, including PG&E’s DRP Integration Capacity Analysis, for 

integrating distributed energy resources onto PG&E’s grid at optimal locations.  Further, PG&E 

will leverage the results of its EPIC 1.22 DC Fast Charging Siting Research, conducted in 

partnership with researchers from UC Davis, to inform site selection of DCFCs.  PG&E will also 

seek to align program planning to the extent possible with state and regional transportation 

planning efforts through engagement with parties such as Cal Trans, the Metropolitan 

Transportation Commission, and regional Councils of Governments and Air Districts.  

 

SECTION 8. Site Host Participation Payment. PG&E will assess participation payments on 

EV Facility Site Hosts that elect to participate in Charge Smart and Save.  Based on percentage 



 

 

11 

 

of the cost of the EV Charger, the participation payment shall be 10 percent for MUDs and 20 

percent for private, for-profit entities.  The participation payment will be waived for EV 

Facilities at sites located in Disadvantaged Communities as identified in Appendix D and at sites 

owned or leased by school districts, government agencies or non-profit entities.  After 

consultation with the Program Advisory Council, PG&E may file for modification of the 

participation payment by way of a Tier 2 advice letter, subject to protest by any party.  

Consistent with D.16-01-045, the revenue collected from participation payments shall be 

credited against Operations and Maintenance (O&M) costs incurred for EV charging stations 

under Charge Smart and Save. 

 

SECTION 9. Selection and Choice of Level 2 Equipment and Service Providers. Site Hosts 

may choose Level 2 (L2) EVSE and services from a list of pre-qualified options that meet the 

goals of Charge Smart and Save, including providing for base charging functionality and load 

management capability, a positive driver experience, and prudent expenditure of ratepayer funds.  

 

SECTION 10. Changes in Site Host. In the event that ownership or control of a Site Host 

changes, the new Site Host shall have the option to select a billing and rate plan, consistent with 

current utility tariff and billing practices. 

 

SECTION 11. Competitive Pre-qualification of Equipment and Service Providers. PG&E 

will establish an annual qualification process in order to foster innovation and competition in EV 

products and services.  PG&E will contract with third parties to provide operating systems and 

related hardware to control EVSE networks to implement the PG&E program.  It is PG&E’s aim 

to specify “what” is required to be achieved per the objectives of the Program, and not “how” 

these requirements are met.  This is intended to leverage the EVSP market expertise and foster 

innovation. EV charging equipment and service providers pre-qualified by PG&E for the Charge 

Smart and Save may offer and contract with the EV Site Host or PG&E to provide any additional 

or complementary services, as long as these services do not interfere with the objectives of the 

Program.  The costs of these additional services will not be borne by the Program, unless they 

are complementary services necessary to support Charge Smart and Save objectives.  As such, as 

noted in Appendix C, PG&E will encourage discussions during the qualification process that 

allow equipment and service providers to explore with PG&E and the resident CCA (where 

applicable) the funding of innovative opportunities that may exceed the minimum 

implementation requirements of Charge Smart and Save, and have the potential to enhance and 

improve the grid integration and clean energy benefits of the Program overall. PG&E’s 

procurement of EV charging equipment and services shall be subject to advisory review by Non-

Market Participant members of the Program Advisory Council. 

 

SECTION 12. Cooperation and Coordination among PG&E, CCAs and Third Party 

Service Providers. Third party EV charging equipment and service providers pre-qualified by 

PG&E for the Program, in coordination with PG&E customer contact personnel and CCAs 

(where applicable), will market and sign up potential EV Site Hosts to participate in Charge 

Smart and Save in the targeted customer segments, and in any other customer sub-segments 

identified in the Settlement Agreement (e.g., Disadvantaged Communities and housing or sites 

that support car-sharing entities or EV fleets).  Responses to the RFP should reflect this 

requirement.  Competitively neutral descriptions of Charge Smart and Save will be prepared by 



 

 

12 

 

PG&E and shall be used by third parties; third parties shall be permitted to develop and utilize 

their own marketing materials at their own expense, consistent with and subject to PG&E’s Co-

branding Policy and approval process.  Marketing conducted for the Charge Smart and Save 

program, whether by PG&E or any third party, will not discriminate against or adversely impact 

CCA programs or their customers pursuant to CCA rules and regulations. In order to create and 

maintain a positive customer experience with the EV Program, the third parties will be required 

to describe how they will share the initial and ongoing customer relationships with PG&E, the 

resident CCA (where applicable) and the EV Facility site host, operator and EV driver.  Vendors 

will be permitted to contract directly with site hosts for services as long as these services do not 

interfere with the objectives of Charge Smart and Save (as stated above).  For EV charging 

equipment and service deployment efforts within communities participating in CCA programs, 

PG&E staff will collaborate and coordinate with the corresponding CCA to further enhance these 

deployment efforts within these communities.  Furthermore, any marketing efforts to promote 

Charge Smart and Save within such communities will be presented in a manner that highlights 

the collaborative efforts of PG&E and the resident CCA. 

 

SECTION 13. Vendor and Contractor Safety.  Construction, installation and maintenance 

contractors will have Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Training Program (EVITP) certification, and 

PG&E will require that all construction, installation and maintenance of EV Facilities that is not 

performed by employees of PG&E shall be performed by contractors signatory to the IBEW who 

hold a valid C-10 contractor’s license, as defined in the governing labor agreement between 

PG&E and the IBEW.  Consistent with D.16-01-045, requiring that, “all of the construction and 

installation of the EV charging infrastructure will be performed safely, and to code, by licensed 

electrical contractors with EV infrastructure training certification” meets the interest of 

ratepayers as defined by Public Utilities Code 740.8. 

 

SECTION 14. Vendor and Contractor Diversity.  The Charge Smart and Save program will 

be included within PG&E’s WMDVBE goal.  As such, the Charge Smart and Save program and 

contracts will request a subcontracting plan that meets PG&E’s goal of reflecting the diversity of 

the communities it serves. 

 

SECTION 15. Disadvantaged Communities and Coordination with SB 1275 Goals and 

Programs.  At least 15 percent of EV Facilities by the number of sites shall be installed in the 

top quartile of Disadvantaged Communities identified by CalEnviroScreen 2.0 on a PG&E 

service territory basis (See blue areas identified in Appendix D); and PG&E shall pursue an 

additional 5 percent stretch goal that can be met with a combination of the same areas that 

qualify for the 15 percent minimum requirement (see blue areas identified in Appendix D) and 

areas identified in the settlement that have a high concentration of customers eligible for PG&E’s 

CARE program (see aqua areas identified in Appendix D). Further, $5 million of the Charge 

Smart and Save budget will be set aside for additional equity programs supporting 

Disadvantaged Communities.  DCFC stations outside of Disadvantaged Communities will count 

towards the 15 percent deployment minimum if they can demonstrate co-benefits. PG&E will 

consult with the Program Advisory Council to identify priority areas of focus for EV 

infrastructure development, education and outreach (e.g., EV ride and drive events) and related 

activities, as well as pre-qualifying and signing-up site hosts for participation in Charge Smart 

and Save.  In addition, PG&E will work with the Program Advisory Council, including 



 

 

13 

 

representatives from automobile manufacturers, to advance strategies to increase access to EVs 

in low and moderate income communities.  These strategies will complement and coordinate 

with federal, state and locally funded Programs, such as those being developed by the Air 

Resources Board pursuant to SB 1275, that are expected to grow the demand for EVs in 

Disadvantaged Communities (e.g., EFMP Plus Up, Low and Moderate Income Clean Vehicle 

Rebate Project rebates, Financing Assistance, EV car-sharing services, etc.). 

 

SECTION 16. Hiring for Disadvantaged Communities.  All Charge Smart and Save 

contractors shall use their best efforts to reflect the communities PG&E serves in their hiring 

practices, including utilizing best practices to ensure maximum outreach and opportunities to 

disadvantaged communities to increase the pool of eligible candidates for employment for EV 

projects, including considering first-source hiring for projects in Disadvantaged Communities.  

The Program Advisory Council will also monitor and provide recommendations to contractors or 

subcontractors associated with the increase of hiring from Disadvantaged Communities, 

including best practices for hiring in Disadvantaged Communities. 

 

SECTION 17. Program Advisory Council; Improving Cost Effectiveness and Increasing 

Access to Charging.  PG&E will solicit the participation of a broad and diverse stakeholder 

advisory group (the “Program Advisory Council” or “PAC”) in planning and implementing 

Charge Smart and Save following its approval by the Commission, including reviewing progress 

reports by PG&E on actual costs and deployment under Charge Smart and Save and 

opportunities to improve the cost effectiveness of the program and increase access to EV 

charging.  The Charge Smart and Save PAC will include representatives from local and state 

government (including representation from the Energy Division and Community Choice 

Aggregation programs), industry, labor and other stakeholder participants, ratepayer and 

environmental advocates, and representatives of Disadvantaged Communities.  PG&E shall 

consult on a confidential basis with Non-Market Participant members of the PAC on the 

specifications, bid criteria and results of procurement of EV charging stations and related 

equipment from third-party EVSE suppliers. Ongoing cost details that are market-sensitive shall 

be reviewed only by Non-Market Participant members.  Details regarding the roles, 

responsibilities and frequency of meetings are described in Appendix A to this Settlement 

Agreement.  

 

SECTION 18. Program Changes by Advice Filing.  With guidance from the PAC, PG&E will 

make programmatic changes as needed during the course of Charge Smart and Save in line with 

the Guiding Principles noted above.  The Settling Parties recognize that certain changes may 

require advice filings with the Commission for approval. Programmatic changes will be made by 

advice filing on an on-going basis, running concurrent with Charge Smart and Save, so as not to 

impact its overall progress.  Data collection and Program assessment criteria used to determine 

the need for any programmatic change are identified in PG&E’s prepared supplemental 

testimony, as further described in Appendix B. Information will be provided to the PAC in a 

manner similar to PG&E’s Procurement Review Group.  

 

SECTION 19. Schedule for Phase 1 Program; Bridge Funding.  PG&E will continue to 

enroll customers in the program for three years from the beginning of construction. If sufficient 



 

 

14 

 

funds remain at the end of the three year sign-up period, PG&E will extend the sign-up period to 

increase the number of site installations and charging stations with the remaining budget.  

 

As detailed in PG&E’s supplemental testimony, if PG&E has not received a decision from the 

Commission regarding Phase 2 of Charge Smart and Save, PG&E will file a Tier 2 Advice Letter 

to authorize bridge funding to extend the program for up to 1 year or until a decision is reached. 

PG&E will credit any remaining Phase 1 funds not spent during the three-year period against its 

request for bridge funding. PG&E’s bridge funding mechanism is modified to restrict the bridge 

funding to the average monthly cost and deployment rate of the Program for the previous 12 

months of Charge Smart and Save, less any unspent funds from the budget at the end of the third 

year.  

 

SECTION 20. Quarterly and Interim Progress Reports.  In order to provide an assessment of 

Charge Smart and Save consistent with the Guiding Principles, after Charge Smart and Save 

begins installation of EV Facilities, PG&E will file quarterly progress reports with the 

Commission, the PAC, and serve the reports on all parties to A.14-04-014 and R.13-11-007, as 

described in PG&E’s supplemental testimony.  PG&E also will file and serve an Interim 

Progress Report at the end of the second year following the beginning of construction.  The 

progress reports will include data as described in PG&E’s supplemental testimony and Appendix 

B and a description of any Programmatic changes implemented by PG&E prior to the date of the 

report.  Parties will be permitted to file informal comments and reply comments on the progress 

reports.  

 

SECTION 21. Additional Terms and Conditions.  

 

Performance.  The Settling Parties agree to support this Settlement Agreement before the 

Commission, and shall perform diligently, and in good faith, all actions reasonably required of 

each Settling Party, including the execution of any other documents required to effectuate the 

terms of this Settlement Agreement, and the preparation of exhibits for, and presentation of 

witnesses at, any required hearings to obtain the approval and adoption of this Settlement 

Agreement by the Commission.  No Settling Party will contest in this proceeding, or in any other 

forum with jurisdiction to review the Settlement Agreement, or in any manner before this 

Commission, the recommendations contained in this Settlement Agreement.  The Settling Parties 

will use best efforts before the Commission to ensure that this Settlement Agreement is approved 

by the Commission as soon as possible.  In this regard, Settling Parties agree that they will not 

seek or support through written or oral public statements or pleadings before this Commission, or 

in any other forum with jurisdiction to review the Settlement Agreement, any measure that 

would delay immediate Commission consideration and disposition of the motion filed submitting 

this Settlement Agreement for the Commission’s approval. 

 

Non-Precedential Effect.  This Settlement Agreement is not intended by the Settling Parties to be 

precedent for any other proceeding, whether pending or instituted in the future.  The Settling 

Parties have assented to the terms of this Settlement Agreement only for the purpose of arriving 

at the settlement embodied in this Settlement Agreement.  Each Settling Party expressly reserves 

its right to advocate, in other current and future proceedings, or in the event that the Settlement 

Agreement is rejected by the Commission, positions, principles, assumptions, arguments and 



 

 

15 

 

methodologies which may be different than those underlying this Settlement Agreement, and the 

Settling Parties expressly declare that, as provided in Rule 12.5 of the Commission’s Rules of 

Practice and Procedure, this Settlement Agreement should not be considered as a precedent for 

or against them. 

 

Remedy.  The Settling Parties' sole and exclusive remedy for breach of this Agreement shall be 

an action for specific performance or injunction.  In no event shall any party be entitled to 

monetary damages for breach of this Settlement Agreement.  In addition, no legal action for 

specific performance or injunction shall be brought or maintained until (a) the non-breaching 

party provides written notice to the breaching party which explains with particularity the nature 

of the claimed breach, and (b) within thirty (30) days after receipt of said notice, breaching party 

fails to cure the claimed breach or, in the case of a claimed breach which cannot reasonably 

be remedied within a thirty (30) day period, breaching party fails to commence and thereafter 

diligently complete the activities reasonably necessary to remedy the claimed breach. 

 

Indivisibility, General Provisions.  This Settlement Agreement embodies compromises of the 

Settling Parties’ positions in this proceeding.  No individual term of this Settlement Agreement is 

assented to by any Settling Party, except in consideration of the other Settling Parties’ assents to 

all other terms.  Thus, the Settlement Agreement is indivisible and each part interdependent on 

each and all other parts.  Any party may withdraw from this Settlement Agreement if the 

Commission modifies, deletes from, or adds to the disposition of the matters settled herein.  The 

Settling Parties agree, however, to negotiate in good faith with regard to any Commission-

ordered changes in order to restore the balance of benefits and burdens, and to exercise the right 

to withdraw only if such negotiations are unsuccessful. 

 

The Settling Parties acknowledge that the positions expressed in the Settlement Agreement were 

reached after consideration of all positions advanced in all the testimony sponsored in the 

proceeding by all parties and declare and mutually agree that the terms and conditions herein are 

reasonable, consistent with the law, and in the public interest.  This document sets forth the 

entire agreement of Settling Parties on all of the subject matters addressed herein and may only 

be modified in writing subscribed by all Settling Parties. 

 

No Settling Party has relied, or presently relies, upon any statement, promise, or representation 

by any other Settling Party, whether oral or written, except as specifically set forth in this 

Agreement. 

 

This Settlement Agreement may be executed in counterparts by the Settling Parties with the 

same effect as if all Settling Parties had signed one and the same document.  All such 

counterparts shall be deemed to be an original and shall together constitute one and the same 

Settlement Agreement. 

 

 

  



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Settling Parties have duly executed this Settlement Agreement by 
their authorized representatives as of this 21 st day of March, 2016. 

PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY 

By.~~~ 
Name: ~a Corey 
Title: Director, Electrification & Alternative Fuels 

COALITION OF CALIFORNIA UTILITY EMPLOYEES 

By: ----------------
Name: Marc D. Joseph/Jamie L. Mauldin 
Title: Attorney 

THE GREENLINING INSTITUTE 

By: ----------------
Name: Joel Espino 
Title: Environmental Equity Director 

GREENLOTS 

By: ____________ _ 
Name: Thomas Ashley 
Title: Senior Director, Government Affairs & Public Policy 

PLUG IN AMERICA 

By:-------- - - -----
Name: Jay Friedland 
Title: Legislative Director 

16 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Settling Parties have duly executed this Settlement Agreement by 
their authorized representatives as of this 21 st day of March, 20.16. 

PACJFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC C01"1PANY 

By.----------------
Name: Jana Corey 
Title: Director, Electrification & Alternative Fuels 

COALITION OF CALIFORNIA UTILITY EMPLOYEES 

By: ~ ) __ +-------

Name: Marc D . .ToscplyJ<1mie . 
Title: Attorney 

THE GREENLINlNG 11\STITlJTE 

By:---------------
Name: Joel Espino 
Title: Environmental Equity Director 

GREENLOTS 

By:----------- ---- -
Name: Thomas Ashley 
Ti tie: Senior Director, Government Affairs & Public Policy 

PLUG IN AME.RICA 

By: --- ------------
Name: Jay Friedland 
Title: Legislative Director 

16 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Settling Parties have duly executed this Settlement Agreement by 
their authorized representatives as of this 2l5t day of March, 2016. 

PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY 

By.---------------
Name: Jana Corey 
Title: Director, Electrification & Alternative Fuels 

COALITION OF CALIFORNIA UTILITY El\.1PLOYEES 

By: ____________ _ 
Name: Marc D. Joseph/Jamie L. Mauldin 
Title: Attorney 

THE GREENLINING INSTITUTE 

(\ 

By:~...,__/_ \ _ __,,, __ --_-_ -_ -___ _ 
Name: Orson Aguilar 
Title: President 

GREEl\TLOTS 

By: ____________ _ 
Name: Thomas Ashley 
Title: Senior Director, Government Affairs & Public Policy 

PLUG IN AMERICA 

By: ______ _ _______ _ 

Name: Jay Friedland 
Title: Legislative Director 

16 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Settling Parties have duly executed this Settlement Agreement by 
their authorized representatives as of this 21st day of March, 2016. 

PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY 

By.----- ----------
Name: Jana Corey 
Title: Director, Electrification & Alternative Fuels 

COALITION OF CALIFORNIA UTILITY EMPLOYEES 

By: ______________ _ 
Name: Marc D. Joseph/Jamie L. Mauldin 
Title: Attorney 

THE GREENLINING INSTITUTE 

By: - --------------
Name: Joel Espino 
Title: Environmental Equity Director 

:~~~ 
NaIJl.!~user 
Title: Chief Executive Officer 

PLUG IN AMERICA 

By:---------------
Name: Jay Friedland 
Title: Legislative Director 

16 



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Settling Parties have duly executed this Settlement Agreement by 
their authorized representatives as of this 21st day of March, 2016. 

PACIFIC GAS AND ELECTRIC COMPANY 

By. ---------- ------
Name: Jana Corey 
Title: Director, Electrification & Alternative Fuels 

COALITION OF CALIFORNIA UTILITY EMPLOYEES 

By:---- --------
Name: Marc D. Joseph/Jamie L. Mauldin 
Title: Attorney 

THE GREENLINING INSTITUTE 

By:----- - ---------
Name: Joel Espino 
Title: Environmental Equity Director 

GREENLOTS 

By:-------------- -
Name: Thomas Ashley 
Title: Senior Director, Government Affairs & Public Policy 

PLUG IN Alv1ERICA 

By ~ 
Name: Jay li{.e ~ · 
Title: Legislative Director 

16 



ALLIANCE OF AUTOMOBILE MANUFACTURERS 

GENERAL MOTORS, LLC 

By: _____ _ ______ _ 
. Name: Alexander Keros/James Hall 
Title: Advanced Vehicle and Infrastructure Policy, Public Policy 

AMERICAN HONDA MOTOR CO., INC. 

By: ------- - - - ----
Name: Ryan Harty 
Title: Manager of Environmental Business Development 

CENTER FOR SUSTAINABLE ENERGY 

By: ____________ _ 
Name: Sachu Constantine/Paul Hernandez 
Title: Director of Policy 

17 



ALLIANCE OF AUTOMOBILE MANUFACTURERS 

By:------- -------
Name: Steven Douglas 
Title: Senior Director, Environmental Affairs 

GENERAL MOTORS, LLC 

~~e:~~g~ 
Title: Advanced Vehicle and Infrastructure Policy, Public Policy 

AMERICAN HONDA MOTOR CO., INC. 

By: _____ ~------
Name: Ryan Harty 
Title: Manager of Environmental Business Development 

CENTER FOR SUSTAINABLE ENERGY 

By: _____ _________ _ 

Name: Saclm Constantine/Paul Hernandez 
Title: Director of Policy 

17 



ALLIANCE OF AUTOMOBILE MANUFACTURERS 

By: ------~ - -------Name: Steven Douglas 
Title: Senior Director, Environmental Affairs 

GENERAL MOTORS, LLC 

By: - -------------
Name: Alexander Keros/James Hall 
Title: Advanced Vehicle and Infrastructure Policy, Public Policy 

AMERICAN HONDA MOTOR CO., INC. 

By QM 
Name: Ryan Harty 
Title: Manager of Environmental Business Development 

CENTER FOR SUSTAINABLE ENERGY 

By: -----~-~~------Name: Sachu Constantine/Paul Hernandez 
Title: Director of Policy 

17 



ALLIANCE OF AUTOMOBILE MANUFACTURERS 

By:-~---------~-~-
Name: Steven Douglas 
Title: Senior Director, Environmental Affairs 

GENERAL MOTORS, LLC 

By: ------------ ---
Name: Alexander Keros/James Hall 
Title: Advanced Vehicle and Infrastructure Policy, Public Policy 

AMERICAN HONDA MOTOR CO., INC. 

By: ---- - =~----- - - --Name: Ryan Harty 
Title: Manager of Environmental Business Development 

CENTER FOR SUSTAINABLE ENERGY 

By: ----,,_;:.-...-----µ;;....._,..,..~~-- - 3 /i i j, b 
Nam . achu Constantine/Paul Hernandez 
Title: Director of Policy 

17 



NATURAL RESOURCES DEFENSE COUNCIL 

_,..., 

_/;~:/ c:,( -_____ _ 

By: ______________ _ 
Name: Max Baumhefner 
Title: Attorney 

SIERRA CLUB 

By: ___________ _ _ 
Name: Joseph Halso 
Title: Legal Fellow 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 

By: - - --------- -----
Name: Jeremy Waen 
Title: Senior Regulatory Analyst 

SONOMA CLEAN POWER AUTHORITY 

By: - --------------
Name: 
Title: 

18 



NATURAL RESOURCES DEFENSE COUNCIL 

By: _ _ ______ _ _____ _ 
Name: Max Baumhefner 
Title: Attorney 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 

By: --- --- ---------
Name: Jeremy Waen 
Title: Senior Regulatory Analyst 

SONOMA CLEAN POWER AUTHORITY 

By: _ _ ____________ _ 
Name: 
Title: 

18 



NATURAL RESOURCES DEFENSE COUNCIL 

By: ______________ _ 
Name: Max Baumhefner 
Title: Attorney 

SIERRA CLUB 

By: - -------------
Name: Joseph Halso 
Title: Legal Fellow 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 

By: ~ 
Name/j~ 
Title: Senior Regulatory Analyst 

SONOMA CLEAN POWER AUTHORITY 

By: - --- - - ---------
Name: 
Title: 

18 



NATURAL RESOURCES DEFENSE COUNCIL 

By: - ---------- - - --
Name: Max Baumhefner 
Title: Attorney 

SIERRA CLUB 

By: --------------
Name: Joseph Halso 
Title: Legal Fellow 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 

By: ____________ _ 
Name: Jeremy Waen 
Title: Senior Regulatory Analyst 

SONOMA CLEAN POWER AUTHORITY 

By C_c;,;:2?b:;,2=::, 
Name: Gcof Sypi1e1:i7 
Title: CEO 

13 



 

 

19 

 

 

Appendix A  

Roles, Responsibilities of the PG&E Program Advisory Council 

 

PG&E will solicit the participation of a broad and diverse stakeholder PG&E Program Advisory 

Group (“PG&E Program Advisory Council” or “PAC”) in the planning and implementation of 

Charge Smart and Save, once it has been approved by the Commission.  This independent 

advisory council will include representatives from local and state government (including 

representation from the Energy Division and Community Choice Aggregation programs), 

industry and other stakeholders, ratepayer and environmental advocates, and representation from 

Disadvantaged Communities.  Participation in the PAC will not be funded by Charge Smart and 

Save.  The PAC does not have formal decision-making authority.  The PAC will meet twice a 

year and make recommendations and/or provide key information and materials to the PG&E 

Program Managers at PG&E, who will organize and chair PAC meetings.  Information will be 

provided to the PAC in a manner similar to PG&E’s Procurement Review Group. 

 

Overall, the key role and purpose of the PAC will be to provide input to PG&E for Programmatic 

changes as needed during the course of the PG&E Program (e.g., PG&E Rate - as originally 

proposed, or with PG&E host site prioritization for an equitable deployment of PG&E Facilities), 

to improve the performance of Charge Smart and Save, in line with the Guiding Principles and 

consistent with any applicable Commission orders, tariff rules, regulations, etc. PG&E will give 

careful consideration to all Programmatic modifications recommended by the PAC at their 

meetings and implement such changes deemed feasible and necessary.  Programmatic changes 

will be made on an on-going basis, running concurrent with Charge Smart and Save, so as not to 

impact its overall progress. 

 

To fulfill this role, the PG&E PAC and its members will have the following responsibilities: 

 

1.  Attend all PG&E Program Advisory Council meetings, planned to take place at least twice 

per year over the three-year PG&E Program period).  Members’ individual representatives will 

be authorized by the sponsoring member organization to accurately represent the member’s 

position or perspectives.  There will be only one representative per member organization. 

Participation in the PAC will not affect a member’s right to speak individually. 

2.  Examine Charge Smart and Save data and findings presented by PG&E and PAC members in 

order to make informed recommendations. 

3.  Timely vet recommendations for PG&E Program modifications. 

4.  Actively participate in PAC meetings, and related assignments; contribute resources (e.g., 

data, expertise, and related) to the PAC where applicable. 

5.  PG&E PAC meeting locations will be at a location in San Francisco, as determined by the 

PG&E PAC. 

 

  



 

 

20 

 

Appendix B  

 

Data Collection and Metrics 

 

On a quarterly basis, Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E) will issue a report to the 

Commission and the Program Advisory Council on the data collection and monitoring for 

Charge Smart and Save.  Data collection identified in this settlement specifically relate to 

measuring Charge Smart and Save’s status, activities and performance to determine the Program 

is consistent with the Guiding Principles in the Settlement and to identify the need for any 

programmatic changes going forward.  The Quarterly Reports will form the basis of the Interim 

Progress Report that PG&E will submit to the Commission after 2 years of the Program.  

 

The proposed metrics list includes components significant for evaluation of Charge Smart and 

Save deployment of charging infrastructure as well as operational components that can inform 

future Program development to encourage EV adoption by increasing access to charging, 

optimize charging deployment, and implement load management.  The data collection plan 

includes all elements approved in SDG&E’s settlement, to the extent they are applicable to 

PG&E’s Program, as well as additional metrics determined relevant and reasonably attainable. 

Data metrics will include but will not be limited to: 

 

 

 

Charge Smart and Save 

Data Collection, Monitoring, and Reporting 

D
ep

lo
y

m
en

t 
M

et
ri

cs
 

 

Where applicable, report metrics by market segment including disadvantaged communities 

 

 Site host enrollment (# of applications and # of sites installed) 

 EVSEs installed (including make and model) 

 Deployment time 

 Installation and charger costs (total, avg, by charger type)  

 Operating costs  

 Deployment within or adjacent to Disadvantaged Communities 

 Supplier diversity and workforce objective achievement 

 



 

 

21 

 

O
p

er
a

ti
o

n
a

l 
M

et
ri

cs
 

 

Where applicable, report metrics by market segment including Disadvantaged Communities 

 

 EV Driver Enrollment (total and by site)  

 Utilization rate by site, by type of charger 

 Charger Uptime (avg) 

 Pricing and load management approaches for TOU Rate-to-Host sites 

 kWh usage by price 

 Other usage data: plugged in time, charging duration, charging power level 

 Charging load profiles (aggregate and by charger) 

 Load impacts 

 Customer Experience and Satisfaction (convenience, ease of use) (by survey of site hosts an EV 

drivers)  

o Charging station preferred features 

 EV rate adoption  

 EV Adoption in Service Territory  

D
es

cr
ip

ti
v

e 

E
le

m
en

ts
 

 

 Sales/outreach efforts  

 Key barriers to deployment of EV charging infrastructure and the Program’s approaches to overcome 

these barriers 

 Identification of grid benefits and other impacts 

 Insights on effect of the program on the EVSE and EV market 

 

 

 

PG&E will partner with the PAC to refine the data collection and reporting plan and to ensure 

that the plan maintains confidentiality.  The PAC will have the flexibility to determine if 

additional data collection and reporting objectives are of interest and will help to inform 

Commission policy.  The PAC will then articulate the purpose behind these objectives, specify 

these additional data collection requirements, and determine how they will be funded and 

resourced. 

 

  



 

 

22 

 

Appendix C  

RFP Process Clarification 

 

With respect to the selection process and selection criteria for pre-qualifying vendors who will be 

authorized to provide Program operating systems and EVSE hardware, PG&E intends to carry 

out a competitive solicitation that encourages innovation and competition.  PG&E will identify 

general functional requirements that will achieve the objectives of its Program and will not 

specify precisely “how” these requirements must be met.  This is intended to foster innovation, 

while enhancing the driver’s experience and ensuring site-host choice of vendor, equipment and 

services.  Beyond the qualified EV charging hardware and services, providers will be permitted 

to contract directly with site hosts for additional services, as desired by the customer, as long as 

these services do not interfere with the objectives of the Program.  PG&E will use a multi-

faceted approach to evaluating proposals in the qualification process.  All responses will be 

evaluated based on, but not limited to, the following criteria (not listed in order of importance): 

 

• Ability to meet safety, reliability, operational and Program requirements 

• Total cost of ownership over the lifecycle of the EVSE and its operating system, including all 

indirect and direct costs 
• Responsiveness to the RFP (including response to PG&E’s Terms and Conditions included in 

the RFP) 

• Overall product and service offering including cost, quality, warranty and capability 

• Demonstrated ability to provide innovative functionality to enhance the Program experience 

for the customer while meeting Program objectives 

• Minimum requirements met for EVSE and operating systems 

• Program value-added features 

• Performance history 

• Proposed schedule/time required to complete the required deliverables 

• Prior experience in providing EVSE services as described in the RFP 

• Financial strength of the service provider 

• Sustainability (“green”) 

• DBE proposals and plans to achieve stated targets 

 

The RFP and qualification process will occur annually to allow for and encourage participation 

from new providers over time.  PG&E in collaboration with the resident CCAs (where 

applicable) will seek out discussions with providers throughout the Program and RFP process in 

order to explore new opportunities that may, at that time, exceed the general functional 

requirements of the  Program but have the potential to enhance and improve the grid-integration 

outcomes of the Program overall. 

 

PG&E reserves the right to investigate the references and past performance of any 

bidders/vendors with respect to, among other factors, compliance with specifications, safety, 

completion or delivery on schedule, and lawful payment of suppliers, sub-suppliers, and workers 

prior to any contract award.  

 



 

 

23 

 

With respect to the installation and maintenance of the Program Facilities, PG&E plans to seek 

the most effective form of Program Facility development, installation and maintenance, 

consistent with utility standards and practices.  Construction, installation and maintenance 

contractors will have Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Training Program (EVITP) certification, and 

PG&E will require that all construction, installation and maintenance of Program Facilities that 

is not performed by employees of PG&E shall be performed by contractors signatory to the 

IBEW who hold a valid C-10 contractor’s license, as defined in the governing labor agreement 

between PG&E and the IBEW. 

  



  

2
4
 

 

A
p

p
en

d
ix

 D
 –

 D
is

a
d

v
a
n

ta
g
ed

 C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s 
a
n

d
 C

A
R

E
 C

u
st

o
m

e
r 

L
o
ca

ti
o
n

s 

 

 
 

PGL CAAC_An~.si.J. 

'°::a.cCer;ccT~Tbrr 

D 

CES2~0--PG-&E 25th Percentil~ ; nd CARE 25t h Percentile 

;cc T>c 1S 2S',\ ?t&C ~f\·i:c Ttrr:cr, 

Ct~ T:.:> :5% PCM 
- .... , ...... i:.-..\:: 

• 
::'~~C".>IIIF(1 •' ,., __ 

OQU C.:.•..I CJf:WX....C~ ~• C:i"I:.: Tl':.c: •T'op .,. .. 
• 



Appendix E - Settlement Costs and Revenue Requirements Tables 

PAOFIC GAS ANO El£CTIUC COMPANY 
ELECTRIC VEHICLE 1NFRMTAu'CTlJRE.AND"EDUiiTION'PiOGiAM Af'puCATJoN (A.15-ouM)'l) 

PROGRAM DETAILED COST SUMMARY 

~9_~~-~-~~-~p-~_f.?_~ -~~-9'.~A~:,-ER 2 

llEctRIC VEHICLE INFRA.~TRUc;l\JP:E AND EDUCATION PROGRAM'DETAiLEb:¢osr SU.MMARV. 
· · . · (Nomln~$--lndudil'll~iitl~~nCVai_Shown) ' · · · : 

USl!e Servfce Connection 
U Site EV Supply Infrastructure 

µEv _~ ar_s~~ & N! tW:oric 9per_~ti~~s 

g _~!~~-~f:-~l-~«;__C~~'l~-~-0!!.c.~p.i, '~!. R~ J.11!.~.e n:i~~~ ·-· 
J2 ~I':.EY.S_L.JflPlW_l_,:if_rast!uctur, ql?f~I ~, 9._l_a~m~_,:i_t 
l2 Cap Ital Contln1encv 
Ca ita/Subtota( 

U EV Charger &,Network O&~ 
U Slte Service Connection M.1ln1enance 

l2S!te EV Supply lnfr.as1ructure Malntenanc.e 

llfxoen~e Contin.11e ncv 
Ell'Dt:nst Subt0(0J 

DCFCSlte Service Connection 

DCFCSlte EV SupplV Infrastructure 
·~c·Fc EV Cha·ra~<&: Nttwo"rk ope1a~lOf!S 

' 

DCFCSlte Servi~ Connection Caplt.11 R<!pl;i,oen,ent 

.~.~~~-~!.~~I~-~.~1?.~I.Y.!.~_f!..~.~.t.~_c:;1:1.!.~. 91?.!~.~l-~_e ?.!~~!!.~~ ~! 
DCFCCaolt.al Contlni.!encv 

Co ftoJSubtotol 

-~ ~c~c~.~S:f:.r &"!~.~ or~9~~ . 
.. DCfC ~.t:.!Y!ce .~on~'!~l~I: ~ aint.11:~~.nf~ _ ·
DCFC EV Supptylnrrultucture Mainte nance 

OCFC Exoense Co n tin encv 

EK ~nsr Subtotal 

WltnuS: 2016 2017 ·llUB 2019. 202D ,.,, 
Jll!ffreyP.Eo,ders 

JeffreyP.8orders 

Jaf1i1 R, ~~re~ 

J~rrrev p: B~rders 

.:l2·1nfra5tructure-Costs 
$ : $ 2,5'1,984 $ 

3,71.2,GU : 
4,162,405 

5,699,408 S 
8,259,100 

~/-~ ,Z,~ 
11,380 ... .... ·•·· ... ~!,~!~ ... . 

Jeff ~ v/1, Borders .. JanaR. Cottv . 11 807,869 24169,lll 

J~n~.~. q>[~.Y. ... ~ ,.~ • 2.~.~~6 
JeffreyP. Bord er.. 10,734 28,6U 

JerfreyP. Borden: 10,734 28,613 

Jeffrev P. Border.. 201 494 504 328 
Jt ffrt:v P. Bordtfl? Jono R. Con: 1.20/J,967 : 3.025.969 

" O(F( 1.nfr.istructure CQsts" . \: 

1,1n,4"14: S 
11,270,399 i 

.12f~ •. ~1~.· 

. ... ?~,.~~-' .. 
.... n.~~ . 
4,040,852 

.lS,805,153 

~-.~~~ 1 
47,803 

47,803 j 

779,531 i 

4677185 : 

Jeffrey P. Borders 
Jeffrey P. Borders 

J;an~ it Co.r_~y 
JeffreyP. Borders 

82,JM i 1,402,698 2,194,741 

... ~~.f!~~Y..!: .. ~.~~~.n:. 
JeffrevP. Borders+Jana R. Core OJ 

JeffrrvP. BonJ~rs 1-Jana R. Co~v 

1_§3,~ .: . 2.621.119 .. ... ... ~i!.~.~.--~.t . 
.......... ~.P..t~ -1- "-··· 2~·:fa~-iw; : ... . . } 1~.~ ... ~~~ 

350 . £,329 ts,873 

350 . . _6,~ 15,873 
90 029 1,568 320 2,411 7U 

4S0.146 7. 841.tiDl 12 058. 562 I 

.Ja~~ R ... ~or~v... 10,S76 184,769 3~,571 [ 
1p~6 : )~f~!~.Y..r.--~ .~-~.~- __ . 330 . S,130 

JeffreyP.BOJders 330 S,730 

JeffrevP.8ofders+JanaR.Corev ; 4022 70791 

J,:ffn P. Bord,:rs+Jano R. co~ 1 15,259 ! 267,021 

U,336 

155.886 : 
564,129 · 

2.601,719 
3,771,640 

4!198,7~ 

11,~61 11,9~1 

.µ.~~ .. . ... ~!,.~2J 
1,347 069 4,769 

11,.943,344 

.9~,9~~ 
10,535 

10,535 

202,000 
1.212002 

679,38.S 

.~•.?.~~~!!. 
.. ..1,9.27,:4!£ 

2,890 

~~.90 
745 537 

3 727.686 

~,.~ 
2,634 
2,6l4 

32.078 

121,689 

?:4517.~ ,; 
4,835 

4,835 

51088 i 

306526 

2,98:> : 

2,980 . ·L400-
7.4s1 i 

~.!.~~. 
1,.203 
1,209 

22,651 

73,814 

ioU. 'I TOTA( . 

. 

$ 18,641,545 

27,013,750 

34J,.l.!~.~l~l 
12,~ 1.57,~ 

. 12,;iss. 157,049 

4,915 9,700,091 

29,491 B.5,783,586 

~47~ ~~?,_~? .. 
4,927 107,44S 

4,927 107,446 

52.067 I 790 508 

312.399 10 743 048 

'580 

.~ .. 679 
~232 
1.232 

23,085 

75,228 

4,3S9,132 
8,14S,S90 
6,706,~89· 

31,495 

~!i!~-5_ 
4,818 625 

24093,125 

!~ •. ~ 
,i,cn 
22.471 

308 513 
1JJ7,140 

"·' ·' . · · · · . :'Infrastructure .CoitSubtotalli>CFCH21 .. s'.i .. · · . . 
Co-olta! S1Jbtotol 
f xo,:nse Subtotal 

EV Cost ofOwnei;shl_p ~ool Set 
SIie Host Onllne Appl iCiiltlon Portal 

E&C !nformallon l e chnol02V caorta l Contlnaencv 
Ca Dito/ Subt otal 

Energv Solutloris & Services Support 

.E~ ~rov~m call Ce~;e.f SlJP.P.Ort 
EV Program Web Content 
EV Progrilm Web Content O&M 

EV Program External Outreach 

Dl~dvant~i&ed (_om~1:1n.l.t!.~s 

·, ,,. ' : ... 

Educ.atlon, Outreadl & SuooortEx ense Conlin encv 

Information T,uhnofonv 

-~ ¥~~.s.t.o.f.9.~~.~.~ ~.IP.!~?I ~f!.~ .. !P.tc?.,e.~--~e~.~~~--~~~J . ..... . .. 
~I.I~ Ho~t Online Ap~licati~ PC?rtal (Proje~ Ex1:1f!n.~ Cost) 

E&O lnformatl<ln TechnoloBY Project Expense Contingency 

EV Cost of ownership Tool Set - O&M 

~l~c; Host Q.nl!".f:. Ap.P!.l~ tl()fl f'(lrta.! ~ .. Q~p,.1 
E&O Information TechnolorN O&M Contln~encv 

Exot:rue51Jbtotal .. ,.. ·, ·. 

Program Management Organl1ation labor 

. ~2S1~. E;i~emenu (fees and services) 
l2 Site Easements (fees and services) Cc ntlngency 

DCFC Slte hsements (fees and services) 

QCfqlte .E..t~~m.ent~ .(f~.~s iJ!nE. s_ervl(!sl_ Contlng~.r,q, 
Bil!(ng and ~eporting Integration 

Billln11 and Reoortln lnte ration Ccntln.rencv 

Cao Ital Subtotal 

Jt:ffttvP. Bordt:rs+Jo-naR.Co,v,v . • 1 12258,0lS: 34010,718 47,863,715 . 15,671,030 
Jt:ffrtvP. Borden +Jana R. Com! 1 J,224,226 ; 3.292.990 5 241314 1 1333,691 

.'Siie,AcQulslllon•supportancl Market.Educailon:and Outre.ach . ·· 

~~Yid.~·. Al~e.l~~ 
David B. Almeida 

David B. Almeida 

..... :i:..~~,.4~~-------------~ 
1,048,534 . 

David B. A!m,:ido 

David B. Alme!~a 

' o:avld. B: ~l~t,lda ~ 
Oa'Jld B. Almeida 
Da11id B. Almeida 

Da11ld e. Almeida 

~avi.~ B: ~!.f'!'l~I-~~. 
Da11id 6 . Almeida 

. -~~~·f·~--~:.~'~.~!.~! .... 
. C?.~v.1~ ~- ~ 1.i:t:.~~~a. 
David 8. Almelda 

David 8. A Imelda 

David e. Almeida 

David B. Alm,:lda 

Oo11kl 8. Almeida 

Jana~: Corey . 

Jana R: C?r~y 
JanaR.Cortv 

Jana SL Corey 

Jal!.a .flfoJ.e)'. 
Ja,na R. ~r.ey 
Jana A.Corev 

Jana R. Cottv 

Lll5.0ll : 
3,405033 , 

7~7.97!. ! 
151,~,: . 
232,096 . 

~.J92,9~ 
.},F2,~79 

578 715 : 

.!~,~~-; 

.256!?-?~ i 
277,lDS 

1..~lr!J!L .. ~A92. 
188,~2 134,076 

53,995 . S.S1~ , 
1;01s;oos··-- 1.013

1
1~ 

1,~1~·659 S~0,?~4 i 
343 332 231 332 : 

98,681 1S],,S91 155,611 

~.168 ~g.4!}6 P.~,!2,lj _ 
76.924 · -l.32.544, llS,167 = 

! 7,428,553 4,174,281 2,950,152 

P.r0iriiff1Managf!m•nt0tganltatlori. .· ·. , : . =: 

561,~9 f .~1~5,.~. l. -~~9.37,(!93 .~i~J~.4~~. 

.~ rJ.~ \ 
16,863. 

2,594 

~ -

.~~~,~ .:. 
698 302 

561,439 . 5,454,175 : 

340,670 · 

18:!i~~ .~ ..... - · I~.t~~-· 
37,S14 S1,191 

44,212 69,177 

5,217,440 5,&13,042 I 

3~l..~ 
S1,489 

43,489 

39,627 

~.~ .. ~!~.·--· 
l4420 

581,641 . 
~.9~3.896 

85,6'6 

17,131 

21,,U~ 

2,061,450 

36,""2 ' 
3WJ.340 i 

37. lll I 109,876,711 

387. 628 I ll,a&0,188 ... 

-~~-~ 
],048,534 
1,us,011 

3,405,0D 

~.!~ .. ~-~-~. 
s~,~ 
232,096 

109,0S9 

3,38~i,166 
5,00ll,861 

L196,868 

¥ .. •- ··~,.?.S.~ 

~-~~ 
277,305 

446,5-09 

~.~.691 .. 
379,0SS 

15,134,'30 

1S,~!~ 
613,495 

12'1,699 

117,198 

- •~'~9 
1,396,604 

£98.302 

18,!X8,747 

B!lll.n_1.an~ _Rep'?r.tlnJ lntegrat~on IProje~ E~pense C?s.tl Cont li:ig _Jana R .. c~ .V ... ..... _ ~.~~.~T: .. 340,fi~ . 

1~.~35 
417,610 

208,805 

Bllling;i,nd Reponinglntegration • O&M 

Blllinr .ind Reoonin Jnte r;i,tton O&M Contln~encv 

Expt:Me Subtoto-1 
... 

EXJi£NSETOT'A.l 

PROGRAM:TOTAl·, ; 

Q.f.fTALTOTA.teicu.iOIN~-CQNTl!\j•·jifNcY 
C'AJ1\T1'~cqNnNGENcv 
00.iTALCONTING~-~ A.S.PEfiCENTAGE OF CAPrTAl.;JOTA( 

~p~si~r~:~~LJ~~~ CONTl~~EN~: j : 

EXPENSE cON11N~iNCY. . 
EXPENSE cbNnNG~cv Jt5 P.EACfN'!'~GE or ~£r:'SE TOTAL 

i'ROGRAM:10TAlEXci.UDING 'CONTINGENCY. 
TOTAL coNllNGf.Ncv · · · 
CONTiNGENCV·ASptftCENfAGtOF-tOTAL 

fan.a R. Corey 
Jan.i R. CC>f1!V 

Jotio R. Corey 

Mrdl.iret'l),l>e'.lla ,enna 

Michael 1>. Cella , enna 

. .•.. [ 

· . 

73,937 : 
36,969 ! 

621,911 ! 

150,768 

7S,384 

216.152 

1.53,752 
76,876 

230.628 . 

39,153 

l9,m 
58,730 l,JJ7,,t2(l 

. : _ s 74·65 ... · · · 7 '93;42.S . 8,'(22,093 . _i .. 474 062 : . '380,"340 · "38U28.J. 18,13Z138· 

$ 561,439 $: 18,544,~ ~~4S9 
f ' S 2,573:lAI ' $ . ~522,698 

111;024i~l, $ LS,641,875 .. $· i9,803; :S 
.:,si;s,;s .$ 2,002;r.o& . $ • ,;,m :S· 

r':J'Tl.o :$ i1£..?J?>764 
6;45l $ n,653,7?7 

ti,i 

$ 
s:: 

B,136,2.~· ·&~Z.~l '$ : ·7,l~, \78 $ 1;66t075 $ 3~601 $ :Jll,476· $ 24,.lN,98a: 
U~46l 1..oso;994' ··$.· 1.301,915 :S 3!,i·gs.q $ , 13,139. $- ~ 1 152 :$ · l,9SZ~SO; 

r ·· S£t,u9 nuao.soi •~"7.890 
~ $ ""~''° s.in,493 

26 

·16'< 

$(1"4,371 $< 17;303,949 ·· $ 336,40C .. $· . 34\1.96" $' i40;717/1'Sl 
. 7,75',4BO · $ ·2,~.SM $ 19.,998 $ li;.603 $ 19,605;,977-

.14" 



 

 

26 

 

2017- 2022 CHARGE SMART AND SAVE REVENUE REQUIREMENT 
(THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS) 

 
Line No. 2017  2018  2019  2020  2021  2022 

 

     1  6,822  17,092  24,983  25,341  22,450  19,853 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

Order Instituting Rulemaking Concerning 

Energy Efficiency Rolling Portfolios, Policies, 

Programs, Evaluation, and Related Issues.  
 

Rulemaking 13-11-005 

(Filed November 14, 2013) 

 

 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY’S REPLY TO RESPONSES TO PETITION FOR 

MODIFICATION OF DECISION 14-10-046 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Michael Callahan-Dudley  

Regulatory Counsel  

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY  

1125 Tamalpais Ave.  

San Rafael, CA 94901  

Telephone: (415) 464-6045  

Facsimile: (415) 459-8095  

E-Mail: mcallahan-dudley@mceCleanEnergy.org 

 

March 7, 2016  



 

 

 

Table of Contents 

I. MCE’s Formula for Determining the EE Budget Increase Is Reasonable ...............2 

II. MCE’s Current EE Budget is Insufficient to Cover Program Costs ........................3 

III. MCE’s Unspent Funds in 2015 Do Not Have Any Bearing On Its 

Requested Increase to its EE Budget .......................................................................4 

IV. PG&E Incorrectly Asserts that MCE Must Prove that its New Customers 

are Not Adequately Served by Other Program Administrators ...............................6 

V. Conclusion ...............................................................................................................6 

 



 

1 
 

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

Order Instituting Rulemaking Concerning 

Energy Efficiency Rolling Portfolios, Policies, 

Programs, Evaluation, and Related Issues.  
 

Rulemaking 13-11-005 

(Filed November 14, 2013) 

 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY’S REPLY TO RESPONSES TO PETITION FOR 

MODIFICATION OF DECISION 14-10-046 

 

Pursuant to Rule 16.4 of the Rules of Practice and Procedure of the California Public 

Utilities Commission (“Commission”), Marin Clean Energy (“MCE”) respectfully submits this 

reply
1
 to the responses of the Office of Ratepayer Advocates (“ORA”), Pacific Gas and Electric 

Company (“PG&E”), and Southern California Edison Company (“SCE”) to MCE’s Petition for 

Modification (“Petition”) of Decision (“D.”) 14-10-046.
2

 

MCE’s Petition asks that the Commission modify D.14-10-046 to increase MCE’s annual 

Energy Efficiency (“EE”) Program budget by $374,046. This would be an approximately 30% 

increase in EE budget, which will fairly and appropriately account for (i) the approximately 30% 

expansion of MCE’s service territory since the Commission issued D.14-10-046 in October 2014 

and (ii) MCE’s increased program uptake. MCE’s Petition demonstrated that its requested EE 

budget increase is based on a reasonable calculation of the incremental EE expense associated 

with its new residential and commercial customers and will allow MCE to deliver its EE 

programs across all of the communities it serves.  

                                                 

1
 On February 25, 2016, Administrative Law Judge Fitch granted via email MCE’s request to file 

a reply to party responses to MCE’s Petition for Modification of D.14-10-046. 

2
 Decision Establishing Energy Efficiency Savings Goals and Approving 2015 Energy Efficiency 

Programs and Budgets (the “Decision”). 



 

2 
 

ORA, SCE and PG&E (collectively, the “Intervenors”) all filed responses to the MCE 

Petition, which generally argue that MCE has failed to justify its EE budget increase. MCE 

disagrees; the MCE Petition sets forth information sufficient for the Commission to approve the 

EE budget increase. However, to provide the intervening parties and the Commission with 

further context regarding its requested EE budget increase, MCE explains below that:  

(1) it is reasonable to use a per-customer formula to estimate the EE budget increase;  

(2) MCE’s current EE budget is insufficient to cover program costs;  

(3) MCE’s 2015 electric budget surplus does not obviate the need for the EE budget 

increase; and  

 

(4) MCE is not required to make a showing that its new customers are not adequately 

served by existing EE programs with other Program Administrators. 

 

I. MCE’S FORMULA FOR DETERMINING THE EE BUDGET INCREASE IS 

REASONABLE 

MCE’s Petition explained that its EE budget increase was estimated using a per-customer 

formula, which results in an incremental increase to the EE budget for each new MCE customer 

(the formula does distinguish between new residential and commercial customers). MCE 

believes that its per-customer formula is a reasonable way to approximate the additional budget it 

needs to serve its larger service territory. While the Intervenors argue that MCE’s per-customer 

formula is too simple,
3
 they do not criticize the accuracy of the proposed EE budget increase or 

offer any formula for calculating an alternative EE budget increase.  

MCE does not intend to change the focus or design of the EE programs that the 

Commission authorized for MCE’s portfolio. It will simply roll out its existing EE programs to 

support its new communities. Because MCE intends to use these funds to deliver programs 

                                                 
3
 ORA Response, at 2; PG&E Response, at p. 1–2; SCE Response, at 2. 



 

3 
 

consistent with its existing portfolio, it is reasonable and appropriate to calculate the increased 

EE budget requirement based on the increased number of new customers.  

II. MCE’S CURRENT EE BUDGET IS INSUFFICIENT TO COVER PROGRAM 

COSTS 

In its Petition, MCE explained why its current EE budget is not sufficient to cover 

program costs. Despite the information MCE presented, the Intervenors requested that MCE 

provide additional evidence to support why the EE budget increase is necessary.
4
 Intervenors 

mistakenly conflate a circumstantial budget surplus from 2015 with a lack of need for an 

increase in EE budget. MCE now provides additional information related to the unique budget 

surplus from 2015 and the overall impact of increased program uptake on annual budget spend.  

MCE dramatically increased its EE program activities and spending in 2015. Table 1 

illustrates the increase in MCE’s EE spend relative to budget over the past several years. MCE 

experienced a surplus in its EE budget in 2013-2014 as the EE program ramped up. Each year of 

Program Administration, MCE has experienced a sharp increase in EE program participation, 

and thus costs have increased significantly since 2013. Consequently, MCE’s annual spend 

exceeded the annual budget in the Decision during 2015 by over $466,000.
5

  

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
4
 ORA Response, at p. 2–3; SCE Response, at p. 2; PG&E Response, at p. 2. 

5
 As discussed in Section III below, two factors resulted in an apparent budget surplus in 2015. 

MCE closed the Single Family On-Bill Repayment program and shifted funds from the loan loss 

reserve into the multifamily program approved in MCE Advice Letter 10-E, and (2) MCE 

received an increase in gas funding to accommodate greater participation in its multifamily 

program approved in PG&E Advice Letter 3642-G/4720-E. 



 

4 
 

Table 1: Annual EE Program Spending Compared to Annual EE Budget 

 

 Annualized 

Budget
6

 

Annual Spend Difference 

2013 $2,007,603 $684,730 $1,322,873 

2014 $2,007,603 $1,005,607 $1,001,996 

2015 $1,220,267 $1,686,505 ($466,238) 

 

In addition to its increased spending on its existing customer accounts, MCE’s service 

territory expanded in 2015 to include approximately 30% more customer accounts (i.e., 49,383 

more accounts).
7
 Most of these new customers were from communities that were not enrolled 

until the end of May 2015 and as a result most of the 2015 EE funds were spent on existing 

customers as opposed to these new customers. Thus, in light of both the increased spending 

related to uptake in programs among existing customers and the increased number of total 

customers, MCE reasonably expects that it will exceed its 2016 EE budget.
8

  

III. MCE’S UNSPENT FUNDS IN 2015 DO NOT HAVE ANY BEARING ON ITS 

REQUESTED INCREASE TO ITS EE BUDGET 

The Intervenors highlight that MCE reported $311,915 in unspent funds in 2015, and 

questions whether this money remains unspent and could be used to cover increased EE program 

costs.
9
 However, the unspent funds have no bearing on MCE’s requested increase to its EE 

budget for two reasons: (1) the Commission directs unspent CCA funds to reduce the budget 

transfers for the following year; and (2) the unspent funds were a result of one-time increases to 

the 2015 operating budget. Neither the unspent funds from 2015 nor the budget increases that 

occurred in 2015 have any impact on the approved budget for 2016. 

                                                 
6
 The annualized budgets for 2013 and 2014 are based on D.12-11-015. Ordering Paragraph 11 at 

p. 133. The annualized budget for 2015 is based on D.14-10-046. Figure 12 at p. 125.  
7
 MCE Petition for Modification, at 2. 

8

 The current 2016 budget is equal to the annualized budget from D.14-10-046, as that decision 

set funding levels through 2025. Ordering Paragraph 21 at p. 167 
9
 ORA Response, at 3; SCE Response, at 2; PG&E Response, at 2. 



 

5 
 

First, the Commission has determined that unspent electric funds from a CCA Program 

Administrator are used to offset the budget transfers in the following year.
10

 PG&E collects gas 

and electric funds for MCE’s EE program budget through rates and makes quarterly electric 

budget transfers to MCE.
11

 The Commission requires MCE to file an Advice Letter each year 

identifying the amount of unspent funds that will be used to reduce the electric budget transfers 

from PG&E.
12

 MCE filed Advice Letter 11-E-A identifying unspent funds available in 2015 

totaling $311,915.36.
13

 PG&E will use this figure to reduce the amount of electric funding they 

transfer to MCE for 2016 as shown in Table 2.  

Table 2: Impact of Unspent Funds on 2016 PG&E Budget Transfer  

MCE 2016 Electric Budget
14

 MCE Unspent Funds PG&E 2016 Budget Transfer 

$1,001,267 ($311,915) $689,352 

 

Second, the funds that were added to the 2015 budget represent a one-time occurrence 

and thus have no impact on the 2016 budget. The significant difference between the approved 

budget from the Decision and the annual spend for 2015 is primarily attributable to the 

Commission’s October 2015 disposition of MCE’s Advice Letter 10-E,
15

 closing MCE’s Single 

Family On-Bill Repayment Program (“SFOBR”) and the resulting fund shift of $499,500 of 

                                                 
10

 D.14-10-046 OP 24-25 at p. 167-68. 
11

 D.14-10-046 OP 21, 25 at p. 167-68. Gas funds handled differently and are transferred on an 

invoicing basis. 
12

 D.14-10-046 OP 24-25 at p. 167-68. 
13

 At p. 2. It is worth noting that only $127,380 of these unspent funds are from the 2015 budget; 

more than half of these unspent funds ($184,535) are from prior program years. All of these 

funds are electric funds as MCE spent all of its gas funding for 2015. 
14

 This figure excludes the $219,000 in gas funding because that is transferred to MCE on an 

invoicing basis as it is spent.  

15
 See MCE Advice Letter 10-E, available at: http://www.mcecleanenergy.org/wp-

content/uploads/2015/12/MCE-AL-10-E-Closing-SF-OBR.pdf. 

http://www.mcecleanenergy.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/MCE-AL-10-E-Closing-SF-OBR.pdf
http://www.mcecleanenergy.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/MCE-AL-10-E-Closing-SF-OBR.pdf


 

6 
 

previously committed funds into MCE’s electric budget near the end of 2015.
16

 Since these 

increases are not translated to or repeated for the 2016 budget, they have no bearing on MCE’s 

request for an increased 2016 budget. Further, MCE’s annual spend demonstrates that MCE 

actually spent more in 2015 than the approved 2016 budget.  

IV. PG&E INCORRECTLY ASSERTS THAT MCE MUST PROVE THAT ITS NEW 

CUSTOMERS ARE NOT ADEQUATELY SERVED BY OTHER PROGRAM 

ADMINISTRATORS 

PG&E argues that MCE was required to demonstrate that customers in its newly included 

communities are not adequately served by existing EE programs under other Program 

Administrators (i.e., PG&E).
17

 PG&E’s claim is not supported by any legal or regulatory 

authority. MCE has statutory authority to administer EE programs.
18

 The Commission has 

interpreted this authority to allow community choice aggregators (“CCAs”) to administer 

programs throughout their service territory to both CCA and non-CCA customers.
19

 Moreover, 

the Commission currently tolerates overlapping program administration and has expressly waited 

to develop policy in this area.
20

  

V. CONCLUSION 

MCE’s Petition seeks a modest and appropriate increase in MCE’s EE budget. To 

effectuate this increase, MCE filed a petition to modify D.14-10-046 at Energy Division’s 

request. As described in this reply, the Intervenors’ concerns regarding MCE’s proposed EE 

                                                 

16
 Additional gas funding from PG&E also increased the annual operating budget by $200,000.  

See PG&E Advice Letter 3642-G/4720-E, available at: 

http://www.pge.com/nots/rates/tariffs/tm2/pdf/GAS_3642-G.pdf. As noted in FN 13, MCE had 

no unspent gas funds in 2015. 
17

 PG&E Response, at p. 2. 
18

 Pub. Util. Code § 381.1(a)–(d). 
19

 See D.14-01-033, mimeo at 36. 
20

 See D.14-01-033, mimeo at 36. 

http://www.pge.com/nots/rates/tariffs/tm2/pdf/GAS_3642-G.pdf


 

7 
 

budget increase are unwarranted. Thus, for the reasons set forth above and in its Petition, MCE 

respectfully requests that the Commission grant MCE’s Petition. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

         /s/ Michael Callahan-Dudley         

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

March 7, 2016 

  

MICHAEL CALLAHAN-DUDLEY 

Regulatory Counsel  

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY  

1125 Tamalpais Ave.  

San Rafael, CA 94901  

Telephone: (415) 464-6045  

Facsimile: (415) 459-8095  

E-Mail: mcallahan-dudley@mceCleanEnergy.org 

 

 



 

 

MCE Advice Letter 15-E 

1 

 

March 17, 2016 

 

CA Public Utilities Commission 

Energy Division 

Attention: Energy Efficiency Branch  

505 Van Ness Avenue, 4
th

 Floor 

San Francisco, CA 94102-3298 

 

Advice Letter 15-E 

 

Re: Request for Approval to Shift Funds in Anticipation of 2016 Spending  

 

In compliance with the California Public Utilities Commission’s (“Commission”) Decision 

(“D.”) 09-09-047, Ordering Paragraph (“OP”) 43, filed September 24, 2009 and the Energy 

Efficiency Policy Manual,
1
 Marin Clean Energy (“MCE”) submits this filing to request a fund 

shift among MCE’s programs to accommodate anticipated spending for 2016. 

 

Effective Date: April 17, 2016 

 

Tier Designation:  Tier 2 

 

Pursuant to General Order 96-B, Energy Industry Rule 5.2 this advice letter is submitted with a 

Tier 2 designation. 

 

Purpose 

 

The purpose of this advice filing is to seek approval fund shift among MCE’s programs to 

accommodate anticipated spending for 2016. 

 

Background 

 

MCE’s energy efficiency programs have ramped up over the three years since the current 

program cycle was launched with D.12-11-015. Through this time, MCE made changes to its 

programs and requested fund shifting via advice letters as needed to ensure the appropriate 

apportionment of budget across the programs. As MCE is planning for 2016 program activity, 

some fund shifting within the budget is required to account for changes in program delivery. 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
1
 Version 5, July 2013, Section II.7 at p. 13, available at 

http://www.cpuc.ca.gov/NR/rdonlyres/7E3A4773-6D35-4D21-A7A2-

9895C1E04A01/0/EEPolicyManualV5forPDF.pdf.  

MCE 



 

 

MCE Advice Letter 15-E 

2 

 

Fund Shifting for MCE’s 2016 Budget 
  

Four primary factors are driving this request for fund shifting: (1) MCE closed its Single Family 

On-Bill Repayment option in the Financing Program;
2
 (2) MCE suspended the Home Utility 

Reports (“HURs”) component of the Single Family Program; (3) MCE adjusted incentive levels 

in the Small Commercial program to match Pacific Gas and Electric Company’s (“PG&E”) 

incentive realignment;
3
 and (4) MCE’s Multi-Family Program is gaining traction. The proposed 

fund shifts are included in Table 2 below. 

 

Table 2: Requested Fund Shifts in MCE’s 2016 Budget 

MCE Programs Approved 2016
4
 Fund Shifts Final 2016 

Single Family $264,402* ($31,352) $233,050 

Multi-Family $423,486 $61,029 $484,515 

Small Commercial $432,379 $43,292 $475,671 

Financing $100,000 ($72,969) $27,031 

Total $1,220,267 - $1,220,267 

*This figure was erroneously reported at $264,400 in MCE AL 8-E-A. 

 

MCE closed the Single Family On-Bill Repayment option within the Financing Program with 

MCE Advice Letter 10-E. This closure means the Financing Program requires a smaller budget. 

This reduced budget will be used to continue to support and drive enrollment in the Multi-Family 

and Small Commercial On-Bill Repayment option and in leveraging Property Accessed Clean 

Energy (“PACE”) programs for customers. 

 

The residential evaluation conducted by DNV-GL on MCE’s single family HURs found no 

savings associated with this activity.
5
 MCE has thus suspended the HURs component of the 

Single Family Program. MCE is currently working to analyze the results of the assessment and 

align program design with the report findings. However, MCE determined it would be prudent to 

suspend the program until the issues raised in the assessment are fully understood and addressed. 

Thus, funds associated with the HUR activity are proposed to be shifted out of the Single Family 

Program. The remaining Single Family Program budget will support the single family residential 

web tool, which currently has close to 2,000 registered users and is supporting the roll out of the 

Cool California challenge in MCE service territory. 

                                                 
2
 MCE AL 10-E. 

3
 In Q4 of 2015, PG&E notified MCE that it would be realigning incentives in the PG&E non-

residential portfolio. This decision impacted a small business direct install program jointly 

administered between PG&E and MCE.  
4
 MCE’s budget was approved in D.14-10-046, and subsequently updated in compliance filing 

MCE AL 8-E-A.  
5
 The residential behavioral programs assessment is in draft form as of the date of this advice 

letter: 

http://www.energydataweb.com/cpucFiles/pdaDocs/1445/Res3_4_MCE_HURS2014_FINALdra

ft_forPublicComments.pdf. 



 

 

MCE Advice Letter 15-E 

3 

 

MCE administers the Small Commercial Program jointly with PG&E. In late 2015, PG&E 

informed MCE of its decision to adjust incentive levels for the program based on a portfolio-

wide incentive realignment. After considering alternatives, MCE determined the best course of 

action to support small commercial customers would be to prevent confusion and increase 

MCE’s incentive levels to remain consistent with PG&E. These additional incentives require 

funds to be shifted into the Small Commercial Program. 

 

MCE’s Multi-Family Program has experienced tremendous growth since it was launched in 

2013. The program was oversubscribed in 2015 and MCE anticipates the Multi-Family Program 

activity to be similarly robust in 2016 based on the current program pipeline. Thus, MCE is 

requesting to shift funds into the Multi-Family Program budget. 

 

Notice 

 

Anyone wishing to protest this advice filing may do so by letter via U.S. Mail, facsimile, or 

electronically, any of which must be received no later than 20 days after the date of this advice 

filing. Protests should be mailed to: 

 

CPUC, Energy Division 

Attention: Tariff Unit 

505 Van Ness Avenue 

San Francisco, California 94102 

E-mail: EDTariffUnit@cpuc.ca.gov  

 

Copies should also be mailed to the attention of the Director, Energy Division, Room 4004 

(same address above). 

 

In addition, protests and all other correspondence regarding this advice letter should also be sent 

by letter and transmitted via facsimile or electronically to the attention of: 

 

Michael Callahan-Dudley 

Regulatory Counsel 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 

1125 Tamalpais Avenue  

San Rafael, CA  94901 

Phone:  (415) 464-6045 

Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 

E-mail: mcallahan-dudley@mceCleanEnergy.org 

 

and 

 

 

 

 

 

mailto:EDTariffUnit@cpuc.ca.gov
mailto:mcallahan-dudley@mceCleanEnergy.org


 

 

MCE Advice Letter 15-E 

4 

 

Beckie Menten 

Energy Efficiency Director 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 

1125 Tamalpais Avenue  

San Rafael, CA  94901 

Phone:  (415) 464-6034 

Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 

E-mail: bmenten@mceCleanEnergy.org 

 

There are no restrictions on who may file a protest, but the protest shall set forth specifically the 

grounds upon which it is based and shall be submitted expeditiously.  

 

MCE is serving copies of this advice filing to the relevant parties shown on the R.13-11-005 

service list. For changes to this service list, please contact the Commission’s Process Office at 

(415) 703-2021 or by electronic mail at Process_Office@cpuc.ca.gov. 

 

Correspondence 

 

For questions, please contact Michael Callahan-Dudley at (415) 464-6045 or by electronic mail 

at mcallahan-dudley@mceCleanEnergy.org. 

 

/s/ Michael Callahan-Dudley 

 

 

Michael Callahan-Dudley 

Regulatory Counsel 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 

 

cc: Service List R.13-11-005 

mailto:bmenten@mceCleanEnergy.org
../../../../AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/0JPECJM2/mcallahan-dudley@mceCleanEnergy.org


CALIFORNIA PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 
ADVICE LETTER FILING SUMMARY 

ENERGY UTILITY 
MUST BE COMPLETED BY LSE (Attach additional pages as needed) 

Marin Clean Energy  
Utility type:   Michael Callahan-Dudley  
 ELC  GAS         Phone #: 415-464-6045 
 PLC  HEAT  WATER E-mail: mcallahan-dudley@mceCleanEnergy.org 

EXPLANATION OF UTILITY TYPE 

ELC = Electric              GAS = Gas  
PLC = Pipeline              HEAT = Heat     WATER = Water 

(Date Filed/ Received Stamp by CPUC) 

Advice Letter (AL): 15-E  

Subject of AL: Request for Approval to Shift Funds in Anticipation of 2016 Spending  
Tier Designation:  1  2   3 
Keywords (choose from CPUC listing):  
AL filing type:  Monthly  Quarterly   Annual  One-Time   Other _____________________________ 
If AL filed in compliance with a Commission order, indicate relevant Decision/Resolution: N/A 
Does AL replace a withdrawn or rejected AL?  If so, identify the prior AL ____________________________ 
Summarize differences between the AL and the prior withdrawn or rejected AL1: ____________________ 
Resolution Required?  Yes  No   
Requested effective date: April 17, 2016 No. of tariff sheets:  
Estimated system annual revenue effect: (%):  
Estimated system average rate effect (%):  
When rates are affected by AL, include attachment in AL showing average rate effects on customer classes 
(residential, small commercial, large C/I, agricultural, lighting). 
Tariff schedules affected:  
Service affected and changes proposed1: 
Pending advice letters that revise the same tariff sheets:  

Protests and all other correspondence regarding this AL are due no later than 20 days after the date of this 
filing, unless otherwise authorized by the Commission, and shall be sent to: 
CPUC, Energy Division      Utility Info (including e-mail) 
Attention: Tariff Unit 
505 Van Ness Ave.,  
San Francisco, CA 94102 
EDTariffUnit@cpuc.ca.gov 

Marin Clean Energy 
Michael Callahan-Dudley, Regulatory Counsel 
(415) 464-6045 
mcallahan-dudley@mceCleanEnergy.org 

 

                                                           
1 Discuss in AL if more space is needed. 

mailto:EDTariffUnit@cpuc.ca.gov


 

 

 

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 

 

Order Instituting Rulemaking to Create a 

Consistent Regulatory Framework for the 

Guidance, Planning, and Evaluation of Integrated 

Distributed Energy Resources. 

 

 

 
Rulemaking 14-10-003 

  (Filed October 2, 2014) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

COMMENTS OF MARIN CLEAN ENERGY  

ON THE FEBRUARY 2, 2016 STATUS REPORT OF THE INTEGRATED 

DISTRIBUTED ENERGY RESOURCES WORKING GROUP 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

C.C. Song 

Regulatory Analyst 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 

1125 Tamalpais Avenue 

San Rafael, CA 94901 

Telephone: (415) 464-6018 

Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 

E-Mail: csong@mceCleanEnergy.org 

March 14, 2016



i 

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

 

I. Introduction ........................................................................................................................... 1 

II. MCE’s Responses to Working Group Recommendations ................................................. 2 

III. MCE’s Responses to Ruling Questions ............................................................................... 2 

A. The Report recommends that the avoided cost calculator data update process be 

prescriptive .............................................................................................................................. 2 

1. How often should the avoided cost calculator be updated? ............................... 2 
2. What inputs are missing or should be removed from Appendix B? .................. 2 
3. Should the list of inputs be updated when the avoided cost calculator is 

updated? Are there inputs that should only be updated if its change meets a 

certain threshold? ............................................................................................... 4 

B. Should the recommendation that a consistent methodology or formula used to 

determine cost and benefits apply to all the inputs? ................................................................ 4 
C. Should the Commission staff be authorized to expend up to $400,000 annually of 

reimbursable funds, for a maximum of three years, for consulting services to support further 

development of concepts, models, and proposals related to Phases 2, 3, and 4 of the Staff 

Proposal for Commission Consideration? ............................................................................... 6 

 

IV. Conclusion .............................................................................................................................. 6 

 

 

 

 



1 

MCE Comments on IDSR Ruling on Status Report 

 

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 

 

Order Instituting Rulemaking to Create a 

Consistent Regulatory Framework for the 

Guidance, Planning, and Evaluation of Integrated 

Distributed Energy Resources. 

 

 

 
Rulemaking 14-10-003 

  (Filed October 2, 2014) 

 

 

COMMENTS OF MARIN CLEAN ENERGY  

ON THE FEBRUARY 2, 2016 STATUS REPORT OF THE INTEGRATED 

DISTRIBUTED ENERGY RESOURCES WORKING GROUP 

 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Pursuant to the directions provided in Administrative Law Judge’s Ruling Directing 

Comments to be Filed on the February 2, 2016 Status Report of the Integrated Distributed 

Energy Resources Working Group, Marin Clean Energy (“MCE”) respectfully submits the 

following comments on issues raised in this Rulemaking. MCE does not respond to all questions 

presented, however these comments are organized generally to track the order of questions in the 

Ruling. 

MCE appreciates the efforts led by the Commission staff and the Working Group to 

produce the status report. Generally, MCE supports the recommendations listed in Table 6, 

especially the creation of a single avoided cost model that applies to all proceedings. In addition, 

MCE provides comments related to i) the avoided cost calculator data update process; ii) the 

methodology or formula used for determining cost and benefits to maintain consistency across 

Commission proceedings; and iii) the budget and process to support further development of 

concepts, models, and proposals related to later phases of this proceeding. 



2 

MCE Comments on IDSR Ruling on Status Report 

 

II. MCE’S RESPONSES TO WORKING GROUP RECOMMENDATIONS 

MCE agrees with all of the eight recommendations made by the Working Group, especially 

the last recommendation which states that there should only be a single avoided cost model that 

applies to all proceedings. A single avoided cost model can reduce implementation barriers for 

Program Administrators (“PAs”) and implementer a alike, and can empower PAs to develop 

strategies to effectively achieve the State’s goal to reduce carbon emissions. 

III. MCE’S RESPONSES TO RULING QUESTIONS 

A. The Report recommends that the avoided cost calculator data update process 

be prescriptive 

1. How often should the avoided cost calculator be updated? 

MCE suggests the avoided cost calculator be updated biennially with a process that 

allows the PAs to react to the changes in portfolio cost effectiveness based on calculator updates. 

This process should be built into the Rolling Portfolio, so the calculator updates can be timed in a 

manner such that PAs will know if they need to make changes well before the required annual 

budget filing. MCE proposes that the calculator updates should be made available before June 

during the year they are due, to allow sufficient time for PAs to learn about the updates and 

incorporate them accordingly. 

MCE does not think the calculator needs to be updated annually, as the frequency may 

have a significant impact on the PAs’ portfolio cost effectiveness. 

2. What inputs are missing or should be removed from Appendix B? 

For all sources, if specific CCA assumptions or values are available, CCAs should be 

able to apply those input values instead of using the values and assumptions of the Investor-

Owned Utilities (“IOUs”). For instance, none of the E3 calculators are CCA-specific, which is 



3 

MCE Comments on IDSR Ruling on Status Report 

 

challenging for MCE, as an Energy Efficiency (“EE”) PA, to accurately understand the costs and 

benefits specifically associated with its territory. Providing CCA-specific inputs would help 

current and future CCAs improve their programs to achieve meaningful carbon emissions 

reduction. 

MCE provides comments on specific inputs that should be added or further refined in 

Appendix B: 

 Renewable premium: MCE thinks that this input should be updated more 

frequently than annually. Annual updates would not be sufficient to reflect the 

variabilities of premiums in different locations because of nodal congestion 

considerations and seasons. Furthermore, pricing from a single year introduces 

short term volatility in what should be a long term benchmark given the 

persistence of EE upgrades. MCE recommends smoothing the premium 

calculation through a longer term leading average of some number of past 

transactions including adjustments for nodal price differences. 

 Flexible, system, and local capacity premiums: This input should either be added, 

or Commission staff should clarify if the same flexible capacity premium applies 

to both system and local capacity. MCE strongly believes that a separate input 

should be added to reflect the differences between local and system capacity 

premiums. 

 Locational energy premiums/discounts: This input should be further refined to 

provide greater granularity to reflect CCA-specific sub-LAP values as well as 

locational cost differences due to congestion. 

 



4 

MCE Comments on IDSR Ruling on Status Report 

 

3. Should the list of inputs be updated when the avoided cost calculator is 

updated? Are there inputs that should only be updated if its change 

meets a certain threshold? 

MCE supports updating the list of inputs when the avoided cost calculator is updated, as 

long as the input updates can be justified, and potential impacts can be demonstrated by applying 

sensitivity analysis. The Commission should implement the adoption of new inputs via 

Commission resolution, as proposed in the consensus recommendations. Prior to the issuance of 

resolutions, the staff and Working Group should provide rigorous justification and should 

perform a sensitivity analysis to demonstrate the potential impact of the new inputs on program 

results. Any recommended changes to inputs should also contain clearly documented sources. 

This process should be folded into the Working Group recommendation for the annual process 

for updating the avoided cost calculator.1 

B. Should the recommendation that a consistent methodology or formula used 

to determine cost and benefits apply to all the inputs? 

MCE supports the policy of applying one methodology consistently to all resources. 

MCE recommends shifting the entire methodology to be based on a single, unifying metric to 

simplify the calculation process. In this case, MCE believes that carbon emissions and the 

associated societal costs of carbon2 should be that unifying metric. By setting carbon emission 

reduction as the desired end effect, the abilities of varying resources to avoid carbon emissions 

could be measured to reflect their true societal and economic values. This would also ensure that 

proposed resources would be considered based on their contributions to the State’s climate 

policy goals.  

                                                 

1 Ruling at page 5. 
2 The societal cost of carbon in this case is meant to include costs associated with projected mitigation and 

adaptation as a result of a warmed climate.  



5 

MCE Comments on IDSR Ruling on Status Report 

 

While this carbon-centric methodology requires further exploration and refinement, the 

foundation for developing and applying such a model already exists. There are several integrated 

assessment models that evaluate the social cost of carbon (“SCC”) by taking into account 

alternative emissions scenarios, the projected physical impacts of climate change, and 

quantifying those impacts in economic terms.3 Different studies have produced varying SCC 

values,456 either due to uncertainties associated with mitigation policies and climate change 

impacts,7 or the absence of a process that would regularly update the values of SCC.8 Ultimately, 

research shows that it is possible to determine the societal costs of carbon, which considers the 

impact of climate change, as well as the benefits of mitigation policies. 

MCE recommends the Commission work with the California Energy Commission 

(“CEC”) and the California Air Resources Board (“CARB”) to develop a methodology for 

determining a SCC and for creating the standard assumptions to calculate the avoided emissions 

of different resources.  This cross-agency effort can incorporate information to reduce 

uncertainties documented by the researchers, such as the public health, environmental, and 

societal benefits data that were in the first AB 32 Scoping Plan.9 Using the data and analysis 

                                                 

3 Prizer, William, et. al. “Using and improving the social cost of carbon.” Environmental Economics, Science. 

Volume 346, Issue 6214. December 5, 2014. 
4 The Social Cost of Carbon, United States Environmental Protection Agency. Updated February 23, 2016. 

http://www3.epa.gov/climatechange/EPAactivities/economics/scc.html 
5 Nordhaus, William. “Estimates of the Social Cost of Carbon: Concepts and Results from the DICE-2013R Model 

and Alternative Approaches.” Journal of the Association of Environmental and Resource Economists, Vol. 1, No. 

1/2 (Spring/Summer 2014), pp. 273-312 
6 Moore, Frances and Delavane B. Diaz. “Temperature impacts on economic growth warrant stringent mitigation 

policy.” Nature Climate Change, Vol. 5, February 2015, pp. 127-131. 
7 Id. 
8 Prizer, William, et. al. “Using and improving the social cost of carbon.” Environmental Economics, Science. 

Volume 346, Issue 6214. December 5, 2014. 
9 Climate Change Scoping Plan: A Framework for Change. CARB, December 2008. 



6 

MCE Comments on IDSR Ruling on Status Report 

 

developed and updated by the CEC and CARB, the final methodology should allow stakeholders 

to understand how different resources contribute to the State’s climate policy goals. 

MCE acknowledges that this proposal represents a departure from previous 

methodologies for determining cost effectiveness. However, the approach taken to date by the 

Working Group, attempting to fit existing methodologies into one calculator to encompass all 

resource types, may result in complicated processes to determine the appropriate input value for 

each resource. Rather than attempt to meld methodologies created in the context of different 

proceedings and specific to different resource types, the Working Group should focus instead on 

a factor which unites each of these resources and their value to the ratepayers, i.e. the ability of 

these resources to contribute to achieving our climate goals.  

C. Should the Commission staff be authorized to expend up to $400,000 

annually of reimbursable funds, for a maximum of three years, for 

consulting services to support further development of concepts, models, and 

proposals related to Phases 2, 3, and 4 of the Staff Proposal for Commission 

Consideration? 

MCE supports the proposed expense authorization, as long as the consulting services are 

selected through the Commission’s standard Request for Proposal (“RFP”) procedures. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

MCE thanks Assigned Commissioner Florio and Assigned Administrative Law Judge 

Hymes for their thoughtful consideration and the opportunity to provide these comments on the 

Ruling. 

 

Respectfully submitted,  

 

/s/ C.C. Song 

 



7 

MCE Comments on IDSR Ruling on Status Report 

 

C.C. Song 

Regulatory Analyst  

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 

1125 Tamalpais Avenue 

San Rafael, CA 94901 

Telephone: (415) 464-6018 

Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 

E-Mail: csong@mceCleanEnergy.org 

March 14, 2016 



     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Kathrin Sears, Chair 
County of Marin 
 
Tom Butt, Vice Chair 
City of Richmond 
 
Bob McCaskill 
City of Belvedere 
 
Alan Schwartzman 
City of Benicia 
 
Sloan C. Bailey 
Town of Corte Madera 
 
Greg Lyman 
City of El Cerrito 
 
Barbara Coler 
Town of Fairfax 
 
Kevin Haroff 
City of Larkspur 
 
Garry Lion 
City of Mill Valley 
 
Brad Wagenknecht  
County of Napa 
 
Denise Athas  
City of Novato 
 
Carla Small 
Town of Ross 
 
Ford Greene 
Town of San Anselmo 
 
Genoveva Calloway 
City of San Pablo 
 
Andrew McCullough 
City of San Rafael 
 
Ray Withy 
City of Sausalito 
 
Emmett O’Donnell 
Town of Tiburon 
 
Marin Clean Energy 
1125 Tamalpais Avenue 
San Rafael, CA 94901  

1 (888) 632-3674 
mceCleanEnergy.org  

 

 

 
 
 

  
  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
March 7, 2016 
 
CPUC Energy Division 
Attention: Tariff Unit 
505 Van Ness Avenue, 4th Floor 
San Francisco, CA 94102-3298 
 
Re: Draft Resolution E-4771 to Approve Pacific Gas and Electric 
Company’s (“PG&E”) Advice Letter 4761-E seeking Approval of 
Forbearance Agreements between PG&E and Solar Partners II, LLC 
and Solar Partners VIII, LLC for Ivanpah Units #1 and #3 
 
Dear Energy Division: 
 

On January 15, 2016 Marin Clean Energy (“MCE”) provided a 
written protest to PG&E’s advice letter (“Advice Letter” or “AL”) 4761-E 
entitled Approval of Forbearance Agreements between PG&E and Solar 
Partners II, LLC and Solar Partners VIII, LLC for Ivanpah Units #1 and #3 
which was served on December 18, 2015. MCE protested this AL 
because it would not comply with California Public Utilities Code (“P.U. 
Code”) section 366.2(f)(2) and Commission Decision (“D.”) 04-12-046.1 
Though draft resolution E-4771 (“Draft Resolution”) circulated to parties on 
March 17, 2016 references MCE’s protest, it does not do so accurately. 
More importantly it results in legal error. 

The Commission would be committing legal error if it were to adopt 
the Draft Resolution as presented because it would violate both prior 
Commission Rule, per D.04-12-046, and the clear language of State Law, 
per California Public Utilities Code (“P.U. Code”) section 366.2(f)(2), by 
including avoidable costs within the Power Charge Indifference 
Adjustment (“PCIA”) rate applied to CCA departing load.2  

 
1  D.04-12-046 states that the PCIA “should not include costs that may 
have been avoidable or are not otherwise attributable to CCA’s customers” at 65. 
2  See California Public Utilities Code Section 366.2(f)(2) and D.04-12-046 
at 65. Both the statute and the Commission Decision clearly state the PCIA should 
only include unavoidable above market costs.    

MCE Clean Energy 
My community. My choice. 



Page 2 

 

Marin Clean Energy | 1125 Tamalpais Avenue | San Rafael, CA 94901 | 1 (888) 632-3674 | mceCleanEnergy.org 

 
 

The Draft Resolution Risks Committing Legal Error by Failing to Act on MCE's Request 
Regarding Revisions to the PCIA Treatment of Costs Associated With Ivanpah Facilities 

P.U. Code 366.2(f)(2) states:  
 
[CCA customers must pay] any additional costs of the electrical corporation 
recoverable in commission-approved rates, equal to the share of the electrical 
corporation's estimated net unavoidable electricity purchase contract costs 
attributable to the customer[…] (emphasis added) 
 
PG&E’s request for approval of the Forbearance Agreement, manifested within a formal 

document served to the Commission and requiring a formal vote by the Commission prior to 
approval, signifies a deliberate choice and action made by PG&E to retain generation from 
these underperforming resources. As such, the costs associated with the continued operations 
of the Ivanpah Units #1 and #3 (“Ivanpah Facilities”) are avoidable. Furthermore as part of its 
recent Bundled Procurement Plan (“BPP”) process that occurred within the 2014 Long-Term 
Procurement Planning proceeding, PG&E is now planning around and forecasting for departing 
load due to CCA formation and growth, per D.15-10-031. As such PG&E has clear knowledge of 
both previous and planned CCA load departures contemporaneously with its request for 
Commission approval for this Forbearance Agreement. 

 
The Draft Resolution fails to acknowledge the costs associated with these contracts are 

in fact avoidable and that PG&E is still seeking to continue to incur the costs associated with 
Ivanpah Facilities in light of both previously departed and presently forecasted load due to CCA 
formation and growth. Instead the Draft Resolution gets caught up in a trivial debate presented 
first by PG&E as to whether or not the requested Forbearance Agreement signifies a formal or 
informal amendment to the existing contracts associated with these facilities.3 MCE believes the 
logic presented within the Draft Resolution is fundamentally flawed, and the language is lacking 
with regards to the potential legal error identified by MCE.  

 
Instead of debating the formality of the requested changes to the contractual 

arrangements brought about by the Forbearance Agreement request, the Draft Resolution ought 
to focus its attentions towards how the costs associated with these contracts are avoidable and 
therefore must be excluded from PCIA stranded cost recovery for both existing and planned 
CCA departing load. Failure to consider these matters and address them squarely within the 
Draft Resolution would directly lead to a violation of P.U. Code 366.2(f)(2). At the very least the 
Draft Resolution must properly explain how the Commission would not be committing legal error 
if continues to not grant MCE’s recommended outcome.  

 
In order to avoid committing legal error by violating P.U. Code 366.2(f)(2) and D.04-12-

046, MCE recommends for the Commission to revise the Draft Resolution to adopt PG&E AL 
4761-E with an amendment to make clear that the cost recovery associated with the Ivanpah 
Facilities contracts will be limited to 2016 and later vintages of departing load via the PCIA. As 
such these changes to PG&E’s PCIA rates for departing load should be retroactively adjusted, 
effective as of January 1, 2016, when PG&E last adjusted its PCIA rates. 
 
 
3  The Draft Resolution states, “The Commission agrees with PG&E that the Forbearance 
Agreements considered in this resolution do not amend the amended Solar Partners PPAs, and therefore 
do not justify any change to the Commission’s earlier determination regarding cost responsibility” (at 10). 



Page 3 

 

Marin Clean Energy | 1125 Tamalpais Avenue | San Rafael, CA 94901 | 1 (888) 632-3674 | mceCleanEnergy.org 

 
 

Conclusion: 

MCE thanks the attention of the Commission and its Energy Division staff for considering 
MCE’s prior protest to PG&E’s Advice Letter 4761-E Approval of Forbearance Agreements 
between PG&E and Solar Partners II, LLC and Solar Partners VIII, LLC for Ivanpah Units #1 
and #3 and to these comments herein regarding the Draft Resolution E-4771 that would 
approve PG&E’s request without revisions. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
/s/ Jeremy Waen 
 
Jeremy Waen 
Senior Regulatory Analyst 
Marin Clean Energy 
 
 
CC: 
Service List R.15-02-020 
Ed Randolph, Energy Division Director, edward.randolph@cpuc.ca.gov 
Energy Division Tariff Unit, EDTariffUnit@cpuc.ca.gov 
Erik Jacobson, PG&E Director of Regulatory Relations, pgetariffs@pge.com  

mailto:edward.randolph@cpuc.ca.gov
mailto:EDTariffUnit@cpuc.ca.gov
mailto:pgetariffs@pge.com


1 

Marin Clean Energy Ex Parte Notice 

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 

 

In the Matter of the Application of Marin Clean 

Energy for Approval of the 2016 Energy Efficiency 

Business Plan. 

 

Application 15-10-014 

(Filed October 27, 2015) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY NOTICE OF EX PARTE COMMUNICATION  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Respectfully submitted,  

 

/s/ Martha Serianz 

 

Martha Serianz 

Regulatory Coordinator 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 

1125 Tamalpais Ave. 

San Rafael, CA 94901 

Telephone: (415) 464-6043 

Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 

E-Mail: mserinz@mceCleanEnergy.org 

 

March 10, 2016     

  



2 

Marin Clean Energy Ex Parte Notice 

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 

 

In the Matter of the Application of Marin Clean 

Energy for Approval of the 2016 Energy Efficiency 

Business Plan. 

 

Application 15-10-014 

(Filed October 27, 2015) 

 

 

 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY NOTICE OF EX PARTE COMMUNICATION  

 

 

Pursuant to Rule 8.4 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure, Marin Clean 

Energy (“MCE”) hereby gives notice of the following ex parte communication. The 

communication was held in-person on March 10, 2016 at the California Public Utilities 

Commission offices in San Francisco, CA at 3:00 PM and lasted approximately 20 minutes. The 

meeting was initiated by Marin Clean Energy and included Beckie Menten, MCE Director of 

Customer Programs, CC Song, MCE Regulatory Analyst, and David Gamson and Joanna 

Gubman, Advisors to Commissioner Peterman. The communication also contained an 

informational handout which included in Attachment A of this Notice. 

In the meeting, Ms. Menten explained MCE's official submission of its recent Energy 

Efficiency application filing and asked about the status of the proceeding schedule. Ms. Menten 

described MCE’s central focus on transforming the customer process and experience through a 

robust single point of contact (“SPOC”) that would lead to decline in necessary incentives. Ms. 

Menten also explained MCE's intention to become the default Program Administrator in order to 

meet the Total Resource Cost (“TRC”) cost-effectiveness. Ms. Menten then explained the 

content in the informational handout including the growth in savings resulting from MCE's 

multifamily program.  



3 

Marin Clean Energy Ex Parte Notice 

 

 

Respectfully submitted,  

 

/s/ Martha Serianz 

 

Martha Serianz 

Regulatory Coordinator 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 

1125 Tamalpais Ave. 

San Rafael, CA 94901 

Telephone: (415) 464-6043 

Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 

E-Mail: mserinz@mceCleanEnergy.org 

March 10, 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



4 

Marin Clean Energy Ex Parte Notice 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT A 



MCE has been implementing ratepayer funded energy efficiency programs as an 
independent Program Administrator since 2012. In October 2015, MCE submitted an 

application to the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) to be the “provider of 
choice” or “default administer” for customers within its service territory. 

MCE’s existing portfolio has innovated and succeeded in serving hard to reach market sectors. The plan 
articulated in MCE’s latest application would enable it to build a balanced, cost-effective portfolio with 
innovative and meaningful solutions for each customer sector.

KEY INNOVATIONS
MCE’s Energy Efficiency application represents a bold departure from the status quo of well-intentioned but often confusing 
and siloed offerings. Key innovations include:

MCE’s mission is to address climate change by reducing energy related greenhouse gas emissions through 
renewable energy supply and energy efficiency at stable and competitive rates for customers while providing 
local economic and workforce benefits. For more information about MCE, please visit mceCleanEnergy.org or 
call 1 (888) 632–3674.

ABOUT 
MCE

Energy Efficiency Application
MCE 2016 & BEYOND 

SINGLE POINT OF CONTACT (SPOC) 
streamlines access to diverse resource 
programs and provides superior 
customer service.

INTEGRATED PLATFORM promotes 
comprehensive and tailored solutions 
across resources (water, renewables, 
electric vehicles, storage, and energy 
efficiency).

SOPHISTICATED CUSTOMER 

RELATIONSHIP MANAGEMENT TOOL 
tracks interactions and provides a 
“menu of nudges” for follow up and 
continued opportunities.

DECLINING INCENTIVES MODEL, based on 
the success of the California Solar Initiative, 
whereby reductions in rebates are triggered 
by program participation benchmarks.

1% 5% 10% 25%

Participation Rate (as % of 10-Year Goal)

50% 75%

M
a
x
 R

e
b

a
te

 L
e
v
e
l

100%

80%

60%

40%

20%

MCE Clean Energy 
My community. My choice. 



A COMPETITIVE OPPORTUNITY 
FOR ENERGY EFFICIENCY
MCE’s energy efficiency programs have enabled 
more than 4,900 residents and businesses to 
collectively save energy equivalent to the annual 
electricity use of about 156 homes. Looking ahead, 
MCE plans to expand its energy efficiency programs, 
offering more ways to help customers reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions and save money. 

In just three years, MCE has achieved a seven-fold 
increase in electricity savings, while forging strong 
partnerships and developing sophisticated tools to 
take its offerings to the next level. 

COMMITMENT TO GREENHOUSE GAS REDUCTIONS
California’s changing climate requires a response that focuses on deep, rapid and widespread adoption of 

mitigation strategies. As a local government agency 
with strong community partnerships and a locally 
appointed Board of Directors, MCE is well-positioned 
to transform the energy efficiency landscape. 
Connections with other agencies (i.e. waste and water 
districts) provides a platform for seamless integration 
of conservation resources. Through MCE’s energy 
efficiency and renewable energy activities, 47,128 tons 

of CO2 have been avoided. Marin County met its Climate Action Plan goals eight years early. Energy efficiency 
is projected to represent nearly one-third of MCE’s carbon emission reductions.  

A BOLD PATH FORWARD
The application delivers a roadmap to utilize the maximum resources available to combat the growing threat 
of climate change, transform the landscape of resource conservation efforts, and achieve California’s ambitious 
goals. MCE anticipates a ruling from the CPUC on the status of its application in early 2016.

HOME PROGRAM

554 
customized 
Energy Action 
Plans created 

mceCleanEnergy.org/myEnergyTool

BUSINESS PROGRAM

1,274,660 
&

kWh saved

$237,107 in rebates
mceCleanEnergy.org/business-savings

MULTIFAMILY PROGRAM

315,814 kWh 

RESULTING IN $80,103 IN ENERGY BILL SAVINGS 

& 29,755 Therms saved

mceCleanEnergy.org/multifamily-savings

7,861,459 gallons of water saved
RESULTING IN $15,723 IN WATER BILL SAVINGS 

2015 MCE ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAM OUTCOMES 

In three years, MCE has tripled its 
portfolio of energy efficiency savings,  
while forging strong partnerships and 
sophisticated tools to take its offerings 
to the next level. 

A
n

n
u

a
l 
S

a
v
in

g
s 

(k
W

h
)

0

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000

5,000,000

6,000,000

7,000,000

8,000,000

20232022202120202019201820172016201520142013

SAVINGS OVER TIME

A Healthy 
Growth Rate



1 

Marin Clean Energy Ex Parte Notice 

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 

 

In the Matter of the Application of Marin Clean 

Energy for Approval of the 2016 Energy Efficiency 

Business Plan. 

 

Application 15-10-014 

(Filed October 27, 2015) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY NOTICE OF EX PARTE COMMUNICATION  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Martha Serianz 

Regulatory Coordinator 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 

1125 Tamalpais Ave. 

San Rafael, CA 94901 

Telephone: (415) 464-6043 

Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 

E-Mail: mserinz@mceCleanEnergy.org 

 

March 17, 2016     

  



2 

Marin Clean Energy Ex Parte Notice 

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 

 

In the Matter of the Application of Marin Clean 

Energy for Approval of the 2016 Energy Efficiency 

Business Plan. 

 

Application 15-10-014 

(Filed October 27, 2015) 

 

 

 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY NOTICE OF EX PARTE COMMUNICATION  

 

 

Pursuant to Rule 8.4 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure, Marin Clean 

Energy (“MCE”) hereby gives notice of the following ex parte communication. The 

communication was held in-person on March 17, 2016 at the California Public Utilities 

Commission offices in San Francisco, CA at 3:00 PM and lasted approximately 15 minutes. The 

meeting was initiated by Marin Clean Energy and included Beckie Menten, MCE Director of 

Customer Programs, and Matthew Tisdale, Advisor to Commissioner Florio. The communication 

also contained an informational handout which included in Attachment A of this Notice. 

In the meeting, Ms. Menten explained MCE's official submission of its recent Energy 

Efficiency application filing and asked about the status of the proceeding schedule and 

emphasized the need for clarity in the proceeding on timing. Ms. Menten described MCE’s 

central focus on transforming the customer process and experience through a robust single point 

of contact (“SPOC”) that would lead to decline in necessary incentives. Ms. Menten also 

explained MCE's intention to become the default Program Administrator in order to meet the 

Total Resource Cost (“TRC”) cost-effectiveness. Ms. Menten then explained the content in the 

informational handout including the growth in savings resulting from MCE's multifamily 

program.  She also discussed the Integrated Demand Energy Resources components of the 

proceeding and confirmed that MCE’s Energy Efficiency application included administrative 



3 

Marin Clean Energy Ex Parte Notice 

work to streamline access to funding streams for our customers, but clarified that MCE would be 

fund raising for incentives.  

 

Respectfully submitted,  

 

/s/ Martha Serianz 

 

Martha Serianz 

Regulatory Coordinator 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 

1125 Tamalpais Ave. 

San Rafael, CA 94901 

Telephone: (415) 464-6043 

Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 

E-Mail: mserinz@mceCleanEnergy.org 

March 17, 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



4 

Marin Clean Energy Ex Parte Notice 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT A 



MCE has been implementing ratepayer funded energy efficiency programs as an 
independent Program Administrator since 2012. In October 2015, MCE submitted an 

application to the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) to be the “provider of 
choice” or “default administer” for customers within its service territory. 

MCE’s existing portfolio has innovated and succeeded in serving hard to reach market sectors. The plan 
articulated in MCE’s latest application would enable it to build a balanced, cost-effective portfolio with 
innovative and meaningful solutions for each customer sector.

KEY INNOVATIONS
MCE’s Energy Efficiency application represents a bold departure from the status quo of well-intentioned but often confusing 
and siloed offerings. Key innovations include:

MCE’s mission is to address climate change by reducing energy related greenhouse gas emissions through 
renewable energy supply and energy efficiency at stable and competitive rates for customers while providing 
local economic and workforce benefits. For more information about MCE, please visit mceCleanEnergy.org or 
call 1 (888) 632–3674.

ABOUT 
MCE

Energy Efficiency Application
MCE 2016 & BEYOND 

SINGLE POINT OF CONTACT (SPOC) 
streamlines access to diverse resource 
programs and provides superior 
customer service.

INTEGRATED PLATFORM promotes 
comprehensive and tailored solutions 
across resources (water, renewables, 
electric vehicles, storage, and energy 
efficiency).

SOPHISTICATED CUSTOMER 

RELATIONSHIP MANAGEMENT TOOL 
tracks interactions and provides a 
“menu of nudges” for follow up and 
continued opportunities.

DECLINING INCENTIVES MODEL, based on 
the success of the California Solar Initiative, 
whereby reductions in rebates are triggered 
by program participation benchmarks.

1% 5% 10% 25%

Participation Rate (as % of 10-Year Goal)

50% 75%

M
a
x
 R

e
b

a
te

 L
e
v
e
l

100%

80%

60%

40%

20%

MCE Clean Energy 
My community. My choice. 



A COMPETITIVE OPPORTUNITY 
FOR ENERGY EFFICIENCY
MCE’s energy efficiency programs have enabled 
more than 4,900 residents and businesses to 
collectively save energy equivalent to the annual 
electricity use of about 156 homes. Looking ahead, 
MCE plans to expand its energy efficiency programs, 
offering more ways to help customers reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions and save money. 

In just three years, MCE has achieved a seven-fold 
increase in electricity savings, while forging strong 
partnerships and developing sophisticated tools to 
take its offerings to the next level. 

COMMITMENT TO GREENHOUSE GAS REDUCTIONS
California’s changing climate requires a response that focuses on deep, rapid and widespread adoption of 

mitigation strategies. As a local government agency 
with strong community partnerships and a locally 
appointed Board of Directors, MCE is well-positioned 
to transform the energy efficiency landscape. 
Connections with other agencies (i.e. waste and water 
districts) provides a platform for seamless integration 
of conservation resources. Through MCE’s energy 
efficiency and renewable energy activities, 47,128 tons 

of CO2 have been avoided. Marin County met its Climate Action Plan goals eight years early. Energy efficiency 
is projected to represent nearly one-third of MCE’s carbon emission reductions.  

A BOLD PATH FORWARD
The application delivers a roadmap to utilize the maximum resources available to combat the growing threat 
of climate change, transform the landscape of resource conservation efforts, and achieve California’s ambitious 
goals. MCE anticipates a ruling from the CPUC on the status of its application in early 2016.

HOME PROGRAM

554 
customized 
Energy Action 
Plans created 

mceCleanEnergy.org/myEnergyTool

BUSINESS PROGRAM

1,274,660 
&

kWh saved

$237,107 in rebates
mceCleanEnergy.org/business-savings

MULTIFAMILY PROGRAM

315,814 kWh 

RESULTING IN $80,103 IN ENERGY BILL SAVINGS 

& 29,755 Therms saved

mceCleanEnergy.org/multifamily-savings

7,861,459 gallons of water saved
RESULTING IN $15,723 IN WATER BILL SAVINGS 

2015 MCE ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAM OUTCOMES 

In three years, MCE has tripled its 
portfolio of energy efficiency savings,  
while forging strong partnerships and 
sophisticated tools to take its offerings 
to the next level. 

A
n

n
u

a
l 
S

a
v
in

g
s 

(k
W

h
)

0

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000

5,000,000

6,000,000

7,000,000

8,000,000

20232022202120202019201820172016201520142013

SAVINGS OVER TIME

A Healthy 
Growth Rate



1 
Marin Clean Energy Ex Parte Notice 

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 
 

In the Matter of the Application of Marin Clean 
Energy for Approval of the 2016 Energy Efficiency 
Business Plan. 

 
Application 15-10-014 

(Filed October 27, 2015) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY NOTICE OF EX PARTE COMMUNICATION  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Catalina Murphy 
Legal Assistant 
MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 
1125 Tamalpais Ave. 
San Rafael, CA 94901 
Telephone: (415) 464-6014 
Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 
E-Mail: cmurphy@mceCleanEnergy.org 

 
March 23, 2016     
  



2 
Marin Clean Energy Ex Parte Notice 

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 
 

In the Matter of the Application of Marin Clean 
Energy for Approval of the 2016 Energy Efficiency 
Business Plan. 

 
Application 15-10-014 

(Filed October 27, 2015) 
 

 
 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY NOTICE OF EX PARTE COMMUNICATION  
 

 
Pursuant to Rule 8.4 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure, Marin Clean 

Energy (“MCE”) hereby gives notice of the following ex parte communication. The 

communication was held in-person on March 23, 2016 at the California Public Utilities 

Commission offices in San Francisco, CA at 4:00 PM and lasted approximately 15 minutes. The 

meeting was initiated by Marin Clean Energy and included Beckie Menten, MCE Director of 

Customer Programs, Mike Callahan-Dudley, MCE Regulatory Counsel, and Sean Simon, Advisor 

to Commissioner Randolph. The communication also contained an informational handout which 

is included in Attachment A of this Notice. 

In the meeting, Ms. Menten explained MCE's official submission of its recent Energy 

Efficiency application filing and asked about the status of the proceeding schedule and emphasized 

the need for clarity in the proceeding on timing. Ms. Menten described MCE’s central focus on 

transforming the customer process and experience through a robust single point of contact 

(“SPOC”) that would lead to decline in necessary incentives. Ms. Menten also explained MCE's 

intention to become the default Program Administrator in order to meet the Total Resource Cost 

(“TRC”) cost-effectiveness. Ms. Menten then explained the content in the informational handout 

including the growth in savings resulting from MCE's multifamily program.  She also discussed 

the Integrated Demand Energy Resources components of the proceeding and confirmed that 



3 
Marin Clean Energy Ex Parte Notice 

MCE’s Energy Efficiency application included administrative work to streamline access to 

funding streams for our customers, but clarified that MCE would be fund raising for incentives.  

 
Respectfully submitted,  
 
/s/ Catalina Murphy 
 
Catalina Murphy 
Legal Assistant 
MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 
1125 Tamalpais Ave. 
San Rafael, CA 94901 
Telephone: (415) 464-6014 
Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 
E-Mail: cmurphy@mceCleanEnergy.org 

March 23, 2016 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



4 
Marin Clean Energy Ex Parte Notice 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT A 



MCE has been implementing ratepayer funded energy efficiency programs as an 
independent Program Administrator since 2012. In October 2015, MCE submitted an 

application to the California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) to be the “provider of 
choice” or “default administer” for customers within its service territory. 

MCE’s existing portfolio has innovated and succeeded in serving hard to reach market sectors. The plan 
articulated in MCE’s latest application would enable it to build a balanced, cost-effective portfolio with 
innovative and meaningful solutions for each customer sector.

KEY INNOVATIONS
MCE’s Energy Efficiency application represents a bold departure from the status quo of well-intentioned but often confusing 
and siloed offerings. Key innovations include:

MCE’s mission is to address climate change by reducing energy related greenhouse gas emissions through 
renewable energy supply and energy efficiency at stable and competitive rates for customers while providing 
local economic and workforce benefits. For more information about MCE, please visit mceCleanEnergy.org or 
call 1 (888) 632–3674.

ABOUT 
MCE

Energy Efficiency Application
MCE 2016 & BEYOND 

SINGLE POINT OF CONTACT (SPOC) 
streamlines access to diverse resource 
programs and provides superior 
customer service.

INTEGRATED PLATFORM promotes 
comprehensive and tailored solutions 
across resources (water, renewables, 
electric vehicles, storage, and energy 
efficiency).

SOPHISTICATED CUSTOMER 

RELATIONSHIP MANAGEMENT TOOL 
tracks interactions and provides a 
“menu of nudges” for follow up and 
continued opportunities.

DECLINING INCENTIVES MODEL, based on 
the success of the California Solar Initiative, 
whereby reductions in rebates are triggered 
by program participation benchmarks.

1% 5% 10% 25%

Participation Rate (as % of 10-Year Goal)

50% 75%

M
a
x
 R

e
b

a
te

 L
e
v
e
l

100%

80%

60%

40%

20%

MCE Clean Energy 
My community. My choice. 



A COMPETITIVE OPPORTUNITY 
FOR ENERGY EFFICIENCY
MCE’s energy efficiency programs have enabled 
more than 4,900 residents and businesses to 
collectively save energy equivalent to the annual 
electricity use of about 156 homes. Looking ahead, 
MCE plans to expand its energy efficiency programs, 
offering more ways to help customers reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions and save money. 

In just three years, MCE has achieved a seven-fold 
increase in electricity savings, while forging strong 
partnerships and developing sophisticated tools to 
take its offerings to the next level. 

COMMITMENT TO GREENHOUSE GAS REDUCTIONS
California’s changing climate requires a response that focuses on deep, rapid and widespread adoption of 

mitigation strategies. As a local government agency 
with strong community partnerships and a locally 
appointed Board of Directors, MCE is well-positioned 
to transform the energy efficiency landscape. 
Connections with other agencies (i.e. waste and water 
districts) provides a platform for seamless integration 
of conservation resources. Through MCE’s energy 
efficiency and renewable energy activities, 47,128 tons 

of CO2 have been avoided. Marin County met its Climate Action Plan goals eight years early. Energy efficiency 
is projected to represent nearly one-third of MCE’s carbon emission reductions.  

A BOLD PATH FORWARD
The application delivers a roadmap to utilize the maximum resources available to combat the growing threat 
of climate change, transform the landscape of resource conservation efforts, and achieve California’s ambitious 
goals. MCE anticipates a ruling from the CPUC on the status of its application in early 2016.

HOME PROGRAM

554 
customized 
Energy Action 
Plans created 

mceCleanEnergy.org/myEnergyTool

BUSINESS PROGRAM

1,274,660 
&

kWh saved

$237,107 in rebates
mceCleanEnergy.org/business-savings

MULTIFAMILY PROGRAM

315,814 kWh 

RESULTING IN $80,103 IN ENERGY BILL SAVINGS 

& 29,755 Therms saved

mceCleanEnergy.org/multifamily-savings

7,861,459 gallons of water saved
RESULTING IN $15,723 IN WATER BILL SAVINGS 

2015 MCE ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAM OUTCOMES 

In three years, MCE has tripled its 
portfolio of energy efficiency savings,  
while forging strong partnerships and 
sophisticated tools to take its offerings 
to the next level. 

A
n

n
u

a
l 
S

a
v
in

g
s 

(k
W

h
)

0

1,000,000

2,000,000

3,000,000

4,000,000

5,000,000

6,000,000

7,000,000

8,000,000

20232022202120202019201820172016201520142013

SAVINGS OVER TIME

A Healthy 
Growth Rate

,,,,,' 

I ... 

,,--------------------

,,,' 

,.II 



 

 

 
BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 

 

Order Instituting Rulemaking Concerning Energy 

Efficiency Rolling Portfolios, Policies, Programs, 

Evaluation, and Related Issues. 

 

Rulemaking 13-11-005 

(Filed November 14, 2013) 

 

 

 

 

 

LATE FILE THREE-DAY NOTICE OF EX PARTE COMMUNICATION 

OF MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Martha Serianz 

Regulatory Coordinator 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 

1125 Tamalpais Avenue 

San Rafael, CA 94901 

Telephone: (415) 464-6041 

Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 

E-Mail: lwatson@mceCleanEnergy.org 

 

March 14, 2016



 

 

 
 

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 

 

Order Instituting Rulemaking Concerning Energy 

Efficiency Rolling Portfolios, Policies, Programs, 

Evaluation, and Related Issues. 

 

Rulemaking 13-11-005 

(Filed November 14, 2013) 

 

 

 

LATE FILE THREE-DAY NOTICE OF EX PARTE COMMUNICATION 

OF MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 
 

Pursuant to Rule 8.3 of the Rules of Practice and Procedure of the California Public 

Utilities Commission (“Commission”), notice is hereby given that Commissioner Carla Peterman 

has granted the request of Marin Clean Energy (“MCE”) for an individual equal time ex parte 

meeting on March 16, 2016, at 2:30 PM, for approximately 30 minutes. This meeting will take 

place at the California Public Utilities Commission, located at 505 Van Ness Avenue, San 

Francisco, California. This Notice should have been filed and served on Sunday, March 13, 

2016. 

Rule 8.3(c)(2) of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure provides other 

parties a right to “individual meetings of a substantially equal period of time” with the 

abovementioned decision maker. 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

/s/ Martha Serianz 

 

Martha Serianz 

Regulatory Coordinator 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 

1125 Tamalpais Avenue 

San Rafael, CA 94901 

Telephone: (415) 464-6041 

Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 

E-Mail: lwatson@mceCleanEnergy.org 

March 14, 2016



 

 



 
 

 
BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
 
 

Order Instituting Rulemaking Concerning Energy 
Efficiency Rolling Portfolios, Policies, Programs, 
Evaluation, and Related Issues. 

 
Rulemaking 13-11-005 

(Filed November 14, 2013) 

 
 
 
 
 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY NOTICE OF EX PARTE COMMUNICATION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Catalina Murphy 
Legal Assistant 
MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 
1125 Tamalpais Avenue 
San Rafael, CA 94901 
Telephone: (415) 464-6014 
Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 
E-Mail: cmurphy@mceCleanEnergy.org 

March 21, 2016



1 
MCE Notice of Ex Parte Communication 

 
 

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 
 

Order Instituting Rulemaking Concerning Energy 
Efficiency Rolling Portfolios, Policies, Programs, 
Evaluation, and Related Issues. 

 
Rulemaking 13-11-005 

(Filed November 14, 2013) 

 
 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY NOTICE OF EX PARTE COMMUNICATION 
 

Pursuant to Rule 8.4 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure, Marin Clean 

Energy (“MCE”) hereby gives notice of the following written ex parte communication. The 

communication was initiated by MCE and occurred in person on March 17, 2016 at 3:00 PM at 

the California Public Utilities Commission (“CPUC”) offices in San Francisco, California. The 

meeting was between Beckie Menten, MCE Director of Customer Programs, and Matthew Tisdale, 

Advisor to Commissioner Florio, and lasted approximately 15 minutes. 

In the meeting, Ms. Menten touched upon MCE’s recently filed Petition for Modification 

that requested an increase to its annual budget to account for MCE's inclusion of new communities. 

The request indicated a formulaic approach to increasing Energy Efficiency (“EE”) funding due 

to expansion of Community Choice Aggregator (“CCA”) service territory. Ms. Menten also noted 

that MCE's service territory grew 30% in 2015 and will likely see similar growth in 2016. 

Ms. Menten outlined the reasoning behind its proposal for default administrator status of 

energy efficiency, citing the need to achieve cost effective programs and the challenges 

experienced in joint implementation thus far.  Ms. Menten also requested that guidance on the 

default administrator proposal be included in the forthcoming decision. 



2 
MCE Notice of Ex Parte Communication 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
/s/ Catalina Murphy 
 
Catalina Murphy 
Legal Assistant 
MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 
1125 Tamalpais Avenue 
San Rafael, CA 94901 
Telephone: (415) 464-6014 
Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 
E-Mail: cmurphy@mceCleanEnergy.org 

March 21, 2016



 
 

 
BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
 
 

Order Instituting Rulemaking Concerning Energy 
Efficiency Rolling Portfolios, Policies, Programs, 
Evaluation, and Related Issues. 

 
Rulemaking 13-11-005 

(Filed November 14, 2013) 

 
 
 
 
 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY NOTICE OF EX PARTE COMMUNICATION 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Catalina Murphy 
Legal Assistant 
MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 
1125 Tamalpais Avenue 
San Rafael, CA 94901 
Telephone: (415) 464-6014 
Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 
E-Mail: cmurphy@mceCleanEnergy.org 

March 21, 2016



1 
MCE Notice of Ex Parte Communication 

 
 

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 
 

Order Instituting Rulemaking Concerning Energy 
Efficiency Rolling Portfolios, Policies, Programs, 
Evaluation, and Related Issues. 

 
Rulemaking 13-11-005 

(Filed November 14, 2013) 

 
 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY NOTICE OF EX PARTE COMMUNICATION 
 

Pursuant to Rule 8.4 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure, Marin Clean 

Energy (“MCE”) hereby gives notice of the following written ex parte communication. The 

communication was initiated by MCE and occurred in person on March 16, 2016 at 2:30PM at the 

California Public Utilities Commission (“CPUC”) offices in San Francisco, California. The 

meeting was between Beckie Menten, MCE Director of Customer Programs, Shalini Swaroop, 

MCE Regulatory and Legislative Counsel, David Gamson, Chief of Staff to Commissioner 

Peterman, Joanna Gubman, Advisor to Commissioner Peterman, and Carla Peterman, 

Commissioner, and lasted approximately 30 minutes.   

In the meeting, Ms. Menten touched upon MCE’s recently filed Petition for Modification 

that requested an increase to its annual budget to account for MCE's inclusion of new communities. 

The request indicated a formulaic approach to increasing the Energy Efficiency (“EE”) funding 

due to expansion of Community Choice Aggregator (“CCA”) service territory. Ms. Menten also 

noted that MCE's service territory grew 30% in 2015 and will likely see similar growth in 2016. 

Ms. Menten also indicated that the EE Coordinating Committee is an impressive effort that 

merits a high level of engagement from all parties. Ms. Menten described the capacity challenges 

that are faced by small program administrators, such as CCAs, in full participation with the 



2 
MCE Notice of Ex Parte Communication 

process. Ms. Menten indicated that the staff of MCE may need to scale back engagement efforts 

with the EE Coordinating Committee because of capacity constraints. However, Ms. Menten did 

not believe this would cause concerns because as local government agencies, CCAs are already 

subject to a variety of rules related to transparency, such as the Brown Act, that provide local 

stakeholders an opportunity to review and engage with the portfolio development process. 

Ms. Menten noted that the ex ante system currently in place is overly complicated, difficult 

for new market entrants and new administrators to understand, and does not result in increased 

accuracy of savings estimates. Ms. Menten voiced concerns on the methodology of ex ante review 

and indicated an open and transparent forum for saving estimate review offered by the Technical 

Forum would be a welcome change. Ms. Menten further emphasized having CPUC engagement 

early on in the process will improve both savings estimates and stakeholder engagement. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
/s/ Catalina Murphy 
 
Catalina Murphy 
Legal Assistant 
MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 
1125 Tamalpais Avenue 
San Rafael, CA 94901 
Telephone: (415) 464-6014 
Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 
E-Mail: cmurphy@mceCleanEnergy.org 

March 21, 2016



 
 

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 
 

Application of Southern California Edison 
Company (U338E) for Approval of its Energy 
Savings Assistance and California Alternate Rates 
for Energy Programs and Budgets for Program 
Years 2015-2017. 

 
Application 14-11-007  

(Filed November 18, 2014) 
 

 
And Related Matters. 

 
Application 14-11-009 
Application 14-11-010 
Application 14-11-011 

 
 
 
 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY NOTICE OF EX PARTE COMMUNICATION  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Catalina Murphy 
Legal Assistant 
MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 
1125 Tamalpais Avenue 
San Rafael, CA 94901 
Telephone: (415) 464-6014 
Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 
E-Mail: cmurphy@mceCleanEnergy.org 

March 21, 2016



1 
MCE Notice of Ex Parte Communication 

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

 
 

Application of Southern California Edison 
Company (U338E) for Approval of its Energy 
Savings Assistance and California Alternate Rates 
for Energy Programs and Budgets for Program 
Years 2015-2017. 

 
Application 14-11-007  

(Filed November 18, 2014) 
 

 
And Related Matters. 

 
Application 14-11-009 
Application 14-11-010 
Application 14-11-011 

 
 
 
 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY NOTICE OF EX PARTE COMMUNICATION  
 
 

Pursuant to Rule 8.4 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure, Marin Clean 

Energy (“MCE”) hereby gives notice of the following ex parte communication. The 

communication was held in-person on March 17, 2016 at the California Public Utilities 

Commission offices in San Francisco, CA at 3:15 PM and lasted approximately 10 minutes. The 

meeting was initiated by Marin Clean Energy and included Beckie Menten, MCE Director of 

Customer Programs, and Matthew Tisdale, Advisor to Commissioner Florio. 

In the meeting Ms. Menten asked about procedural updates for the Low-Income Energy 

Efficiency proceeding. Ms. Menten explained that MCE had submitted a pilot application in 2015. 

Ms. Menten explained MCE's low-income multi-family program application, the advantages and 

need for streamlining low-income program funding, and energy efficiency program funding.  

 

  



2 
MCE Notice of Ex Parte Communication 

 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
/s/ Catalina Murphy 
 
Catalina Murphy 
Legal Assistant 
MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 
1125 Tamalpais Avenue 
San Rafael, CA 94901 
Telephone: (415) 464-6014 
Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 
E-Mail: cmurphy@mceCleanEnergy.org 

March 21, 2016



BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

Application of Southern California Edison 
Company (U338E) for Approval of its Energy 
Savings Assistance and California Alternate Rates 
for Energy Programs and Budgets for Program 
Years 2015-2017. 

Application 14-11-007  
(Filed November 18, 2014) 

And Related Matters. Application 14-11-009 
Application 14-11-010 
Application 14-11-011 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY NOTICE OF EX PARTE COMMUNICATION 

Catalina Murphy 
Legal Assistant 
MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 
1125 Tamalpais Avenue 
San Rafael, CA 94901 
Telephone: (415) 464-6014 
Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 
E-Mail: cmurphy@mceCleanEnergy.org

March 25, 2016



1 
MCE Notice of Ex Parte Communication 

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

Application of Southern California Edison 
Company (U338E) for Approval of its Energy 
Savings Assistance and California Alternate Rates 
for Energy Programs and Budgets for Program 
Years 2015-2017. 

Application 14-11-007  
(Filed November 18, 2014) 

And Related Matters. Application 14-11-009 
Application 14-11-010 
Application 14-11-011 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY NOTICE OF EX PARTE COMMUNICATION 

Pursuant to Rule 8.4 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure, Marin Clean 

Energy (“MCE”) hereby gives notice of the following ex parte communication. The 

communication was initiated by MCE and occurred in-person on March 23, 2016 at the 

California Public Utilities Commission offices in San Francisco, CA at 4:25 PM and lasted 

approximately 5 minutes. The meeting was between Beckie Menten, MCE Director of Customer 

Programs, Mike Callahan-Dudley, MCE Regulatory Counsel, and Sean Simon, Advisor to 

Commissioner Randolph. 

In the meeting Ms. Menten asked about procedural updates for the Low-Income Energy 

Efficiency proceeding. Ms. Menten explained that MCE had submitted a pilot application in 

2015. Ms. Menten explained MCE's low-income multi-family pilot application, the advantages 

and need for streamlining low-income program funding, and energy efficiency program funding.  



2 
MCE Notice of Ex Parte Communication 

Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Catalina Murphy 

Catalina Murphy 
Legal Assistant 
MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 
1125 Tamalpais Avenue 
San Rafael, CA 94901 
Telephone: (415) 464-6014 
Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 
E-Mail: cmurphy@mceCleanEnergy.org

March 25, 2016



BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

Order Instituting Rulemaking Concerning Energy 
Efficiency Rolling Portfolios, Policies, Programs, 
Evaluation, and Related Issues. 

Rulemaking 13-11-005 
(Filed November 14, 2013) 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY NOTICE OF EX PARTE COMMUNICATION 

Catalina Murphy 
Legal Assistant 
MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 
1125 Tamalpais Avenue 
San Rafael, CA 94901 
Telephone: (415) 464-6014 
Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 
E-Mail: cmurphy@mceCleanEnergy.org

March 25, 2016



1 
MCE Notice of Ex Parte Communication 

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION 
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

Order Instituting Rulemaking Concerning Energy 
Efficiency Rolling Portfolios, Policies, Programs, 
Evaluation, and Related Issues. 

Rulemaking 13-11-005 
(Filed November 14, 2013) 

MARIN CLEAN ENERGY NOTICE OF EX PARTE COMMUNICATION 

Pursuant to Rule 8.4 of the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure, Marin Clean 

Energy (“MCE”) hereby gives notice of the following written ex parte communication. The 

communication was initiated by MCE and occurred in-person on March 23, 2016 at 4:30 PM at 

the California Public Utilities Commission (“CPUC”) offices in San Francisco, California and 

lasted approximately 5 minutes. The meeting was between Beckie Menten, MCE Director of 

Customer Programs, Mike Callahan-Dudley, MCE Regulatory Counsel, and Sean Simon, 

Advisor to Commissioner Randolph. 

In the meeting, Ms. Menten touched upon MCE’s recently filed Petition for Modification 

that requested an increase to its annual budget to account for MCE's inclusion of new 

communities. The request indicated a formulaic approach to increasing Energy Efficiency (“EE”) 

funding due to expansion of Community Choice Aggregator (“CCA”) service territory. Ms. 

Menten also noted that MCE's service territory grew 30% in 2015 and will likely see similar 

growth in 2016.  



2 
MCE Notice of Ex Parte Communication 

Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Catalina Murphy 

Catalina Murphy 
Legal Assistant 
MARIN CLEAN ENERGY 
1125 Tamalpais Avenue 
San Rafael, CA 94901 
Telephone: (415) 464-6014 
Facsimile: (415) 459-8095 
E-Mail: cmurphy@mceCleanEnergy.org

March 25, 2016


	01 03-21-16  Joint CCA Comments on OIR (FINAL)
	I. Introduction
	II. background
	III. CCA PROGRAM Procurement Autonomy and Jurisdictional authority MUST BE PRESERVED AS A MATTER OF LAW
	A. SB 350’s Requirements for CCA Programs Should Not Be Confused With Requirements for Electrical Corporations
	B. CCA Program IRPs Should Be Considered Comprehensively for Other Purposes Beyond Integrated Resource Planning

	IV. OUtstanding Matters that SHOULD be Addressed
	A. IOU Forecasts of CCA Load Departures Affect Stranded Cost Recovery and Must Be Examined
	B. CCA Programs Should be Allowed to “Self-Provide” Resources to Meet Reliability Needs

	V. Categorization
	VI. Need for Hearings
	VII. CONCLUSION

	02 JtMotiontoAdoptSettlementAll 03-21-16
	JointMotiontoAdoptSettlementFinal
	Charge Smart and Save SettlementFinal

	03 03-07-16 MCE EE Reply to Responses to Pet for Mod
	04 MCE AL 15-E Fund Shifting for 2016
	MCE AL 15-E Fund Shifting for 2016
	MCE AL 15-E Summary Sheet

	05 03-14-2016 MCE Comments on the 2016 Status Report Ruling_final
	06 03-07-16 MCE Response to Draft Resolution re PG&E AL 4761-E
	07 03-10-16 MCE Notice of Ex Parte Commissioner Peterman
	03-10-16 MCE Notice of Ex Parte
	EE_1pager

	08 03-17-16 MCE Notice of Ex Parte Commissioner Florio
	03-17-16 MCE Notice of Ex Parte
	EE_1pager

	09 03-23-16 MCE Notice of Ex Parte Commissioner Randolph
	03-23-16 MCE Notice of Ex Parte
	EE_1pager

	10 03-14-16 MCE 3 Day Notice of Ex Parte
	11 03-21-16 MCE Notice of Ex Parte Commissioner Florio
	12 03-21-16 MCE Notice of Ex Parte Commissioner Peterman
	13 03-21-16 MCE Notice of Ex Parte Comissioner Florio
	14 03-25-16 MCE Notice of Ex Parte Commissioner Randolph (2)
	15 03-25-16 MCE Notice of Ex Parte Commissioner Randolph

